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OMB Number: 4040-0004
Expiration Date: 8/31/2016

Application for Federal Assistance SF-424

* 1. Type of Submission: * 2. Type of Application: * If Revision, select appropriate letter(s):
[ ] Preapplication X] New |
[X] Application [] Continuation * Other (Specify):

[ ] changed/Corrected Application | [ ] Revision | |

* 3. Date Received: 4. Applicant Identifier:
05/31/2016 | | |

5a. Federal Entity Identifier: 5b. Federal Award Identifier:
lus poE ||

State Use Only:

6. Date Received by State: |:| 7. State Application Identifier: | |

8. APPLICANT INFORMATION:

* a. Legal Name: |Massachusetts Departnent of Elenentary & Secondary Education |

* b. Employer/Taxpayer Identification Number (EIN/TIN): * ¢. Organizational DUNS:
046002284 | ||7995381780000

d. Address:

* Streetl: |75 Pl easant Street |

Street2: | |

* City: |Ma| den |
County/Parish: | |

* State: | MA: Massachusetts |

Province: | |

* Country: | USA: UNI TED STATES

* Zip / Postal Code: |02148- 4906 |

e. Organizational Unit:

Department Name: Division Name:

f. Name and contact information of person to be contacted on matters involving this application:

Prefix: | | *FirstName:  |[Joanna |

Middle Name: | |

* Last Name: |Laghet to |

Suffix: | |

Title: |Fi nance and Data Coordi nator

Organizational Affiliation:

* Telephone Number: _ Fax Number: |

PR/Award # U282A160013
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Application for Federal Assistance SF-424

* 9. Type of Applicant 1: Select Applicant Type:

A. State CGovernment |

Type of Applicant 2: Select Applicant Type:

Type of Applicant 3: Select Applicant Type:

* Other (specify):

*10. Name of Federal Agency:

|U. S. Departnent of Education

11. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number:

le4. 282

CFDA Title:

Charter School s

*12. Funding Opportunity Number:
ED- GRANTS- 042116- 001 |

* Title:

O fice of Innovation and I nprovenent (O 1): Charter Schools Program (CSP) Grants for State
Educati onal Agenci es (SEAs) CFDA Nunber 84.282A

13. Competition Identification Number:

84-282A2016-1

Title:

14. Areas Affected by Project (Cities, Counties, States, etc.):

MA 84. 282A 16_Ar easAf f ect edbyPr oj ect . pdf | ‘ Add Attachment | ’ Delete Attachment | ‘ View Attachment

*15. Descriptive Title of Applicant's Project:
Massachusetts Charter School Program Project 84.282. A

Attach supporting documents as specified in agency instructions.

Add Attachments | ‘ Delete Attachments | ‘ View Attachments

PR/Award # U282A160013
Page e4

Funding Opportunity Number:ED-GRANTS-042116-001 Received Date:May 31, 2016 04:52:55 PM EDT




Application for Federal Assistance SF-424

16. Congressional Districts Of:

* . Applicant * b. Program/Project

Attach an additional list of Program/Project Congressional Districts if needed.

| ‘ Add Attachment | ’ Delete Attachment H View Attachment |

17. Proposed Project:

*a. Start Date: |10/ 01/ 2016 *b. End Date: |09/ 30/ 2021

18. Estimated Funding ($):

* a, Federal | 23, 292, 921. 00|

*b. Applicant | 0. 00|

* c. State | 0. OO|

*d. Local | 0. 00|

* e. Other | 0. 00|

*f. Program Income | 0. OO|
|

*g. TOTAL 23, 292, 921. 00|

*19. Is Application Subject to Review By State Under Executive Order 12372 Process?

|:| a. This application was made available to the State under the Executive Order 12372 Process for review on |:|
|:| b. Program is subject to E.O. 12372 but has not been selected by the State for review.

|Z| c. Program is not covered by E.O. 12372.

* 20. Is the Applicant Delinquent On Any Federal Debt? (If "Yes," provide explanation in attachment.)

[]Yes X] No

If "Yes", provide explanation and attach

| | ‘ Add Attachment | ’ Delete Attachment | ‘ View Attachment

21. *By signing this application, | certify (1) to the statements contained in the list of certifications** and (2) that the statements
herein are true, complete and accurate to the best of my knowledge. | also provide the required assurances** and agree to
comply with any resulting terms if | accept an award. | am aware that any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statements or claims may
subject me to criminal, civil, or administrative penalties. (U.S. Code, Title 218, Section 1001)

X ** | AGREE

** The list of certifications and assurances, or an internet site where you may obtain this list, is contained in the announcement or agency
specific instructions.

Authorized Representative:

Prefix: |Dr . | * First Name: |M tchel | |

Middle Name: | |

* Last Name: |Chest er |

Suffix: | |

* Title: |Oom11' ssi oner of DESE |

* Telephone Number: _ | Fax Number: |781- 338-3770

* Signature of Authorized Representative: |Ju|ia Jou

* Date Signed: |05/31/2016 |

PR/Award # U282A160013
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OMB Number: 4040-0007
Expiration Date: 01/31/2019

ASSURANCES - NON-CONSTRUCTION PROGRAMS

Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 15 minutes per response, including time for reviewing
instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of
information. Send comments regarding the burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for
reducing this burden, to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (0348-0040), Washington, DC 20503.

PLEASE DO NOT RETURN YOUR COMPLETED FORM TO THE OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET. SEND
IT TO THE ADDRESS PROVIDED BY THE SPONSORING AGENCY.

NOTE:  Certain of these assurances may not be applicable to your project or program. If you have questions, please contact the
awarding agency. Further, certain Federal awarding agencies may require applicants to certify to additional assurances.
If such is the case, you will be notified.

As the duly authorized representative of the applicant, | certify that the applicant:

1. Has the legal authority to apply for Federal assistance Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. §794), which
and the institutional, managerial and financial capability prohibits discrimination on the basis of handicaps; (d)
(including funds sufficient to pay the non-Federal share the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 U.
of project cost) to ensure proper planning, management S.C. §86101-6107), which prohibits discrimination on
and completion of the project described in this the basis of age; (e) the Drug Abuse Office and
application. Treatment Act of 1972 (P.L. 92-255), as amended,
relating to nondiscrimination on the basis of drug
2. Wil give the awarding agency, the Comptroller General abuse; (f) the Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and
of the United States and, if appropriate, the State, Alcoholism Prevention, Treatment and Rehabilitation
through any authorized representative, access to and Act of 1970 (P.L. 91-616), as amended, relating to
the right to examine all records, books, papers, or nondiscrimination on the basis of alcohol abuse or
documents related to the award; and will establish a alcoholism; (g) 88523 and 527 of the Public Health
proper accounting system in accordance with generally Service Act of 1912 (42 U.S.C. §8290 dd-3 and 290
accepted accounting standards or agency directives. ee- 3), as amended, relating to confidentiality of alcohol
and drug abuse patient records; (h) Title VIII of the Civil
3. Will establish safeguards to prohibit employees from Rights Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. §83601 et seq.), as
using their positions for a purpose that constitutes or amended, relating to nondiscrimination in the sale,
presents the appearance of personal or organizational rental or financing of housing; (i) any other
conflict of interest, or personal gain. nondiscrimination provisions in the specific statute(s)
under which application for Federal assistance is being
4. Will initiate and complete the work within the applicable made_; ar_1d,. 0) _the requwements_ of any other
time frame after receipt of approval of the awarding nonQ|sc_r|m|nat|0n statute(s) which may apply to the
agency. application.
5.  Will comply with the Intergovernmeqtal Personngl Act of \r/gglu?roerpngzisogfh?;l:;ria:r)]/ dcﬁlmoghtﬁg’ L\jvrlntrotr:’?
1970 (42 U.S.C. ‘8‘.§4728'4763) relating to prescribed Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition
standards for merit systems for programs .f‘.*”d.ed under Policies Act of 1970 (P.L. 91-646) which provide for
Zne ;:é?xe :ifsg;ul\tﬁ: ggﬁg::gg?gf:ﬁgﬂeg Isntem of fair and equitable treatment of persons displaced or
ngsonnel Administration (5 C.F.R. 900 Subgart A whose property is acquired as a result of Federal or
T ’ ) federally-assisted programs. These requirements
. . . apply to all interests in real property acquired for
6. Will comply with all Federal statutes relating to

nondiscrimination. These include but are not limited to:
(a) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352)
which prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color
or national origin; (b) Title IX of the Education
Amendments of 1972, as amended (20 U.S.C.8§81681-
1683, and 1685-1686), which prohibits discrimination on
the basis of sex; (c) Section 504 of the Rehabilitation

Previous Edition Usable

Authorized for Local Reproduction

project purposes regardless of Federal participation in
purchases.

. Will comply, as applicable, with provisions of the

Hatch Act (5 U.S.C. §81501-1508 and 7324-7328)
which limit the political activities of employees whose
principal employment activities are funded in whole
or in part with Federal funds.

Standard Form 424B (Rev. 7-97)
Prescribed by OMB Circular A-102

PR/Award # U282A160013
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9. Will comply, as applicable, with the provisions of the Davis- 13. Will assist the awarding agency in assuring compliance
Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. 88276a to 276a-7), the Copeland Act with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation
(40 U.S.C. §276¢ and 18 U.S.C. §874), and the Contract Act of 1966, as amended (16 U.S.C. §470), EO 11593
Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. §8327- (identification and protection of historic properties), and
333), regarding labor standards for federally-assisted the Archaeological and Historic Preservation Act of
construction subagreements. 1974 (16 U.S.C. §8469a-1 et seq.).

10. Will comply, if applicable, with flood insurance purchase 14. Will comply with P.L. 93-348 regarding the protection of
requirements of Section 102(a) of the Flood Disaster human subjects involved in research, development, and
Protection Act of 1973 (P.L. 93-234) which requires related activities supported by this award of assistance.
recipients in a special flood hazard area to participate in the i . .
program and to purchase flood insurance if the total cost of 15. Will comply with the Laboratory Animal Welfare Act of
insurable construction and acquisition is $10,000 or more. 1966 (P.L. _89'544’ as amended, 7 U.S.C. 852131 et

seq.) pertaining to the care, handling, and treatment of

11. Will comply with environmental standards which may be warm blooded animals held for research, teaching, or
prescribed pursuant to the following: (a) institution of other activities supported by this award of assistance.
environmental quality control measures under the National ) . . o
Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (P.L. 91-190) and 16. Will comply with the Lead-Based Paint P0|son_|ng
Executive Order (EO) 11514; (b) notification of violating Prevention Act (42 U.S.C. 884801 et seq.) which
facilities pursuant to EO 11738; (c) protection of wetlands prohibits the use of lead-based paint in construction or
pursuant to EO 11990; (d) evaluation of flood hazards in rehabilitation of residence structures.
floqdplams n accorda_nce with EO 11988; (e) assurance of 17. Will cause to be performed the required financial and
project consistency with the approved State management compliance audits in accordance with the Single Audit
program developed under the Coastal Zone Manag_ement Act Amendments of 1996 and OMB Circular No. A-133,
Act of 1972_(16 U.S.C. 881451 et_seq.); v confo_rmlty of "Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Federal actions to State (Clean Air) Implementation Plans Organizations.”
under Section 176(c) of the Clean Air Act of 1955, as
amended (42 U.S.C. 887401 et seq.); (g) protection of 18. Will comply with all applicable requirements of all other
underground sources of drinking water under the Safe Federal laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies
Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended (P.L. 93-523); governing this program.
and, (h) protection of endangered species under the
Endangered Species Act of 1973, as amended (P.L. 93- 19. Will comply with the requirements of Section 106(g) of
205). the Trafficking Victims Protection Act (TVPA) of 2000, as

i . ) o amended (22 U.S.C. 7104) which prohibits grant award

12. Will comply with the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act of recipients or a sub-recipient from (1) Engaging in severe
1968 (16 U.S.C. 881271 et seq.) related to protecting forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time
components or potential components of the national that the award is in effect (2) Procuring a commercial
wild and scenic rivers system. sex act during the period of time that the award is in

effect or (3) Using forced labor in the performance of the
award or subawards under the award.
SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED CERTIFYING OFFICIAL TITLE

|Ju|ia Jou

|Oorrm' ssi oner of DESE |

APPLICANT ORGANIZATION

DATE SUBMITTED

|Massachusetts Departnent of Elenentary & Secondary Educati on|

los/ 31/ 2016 |

Standard Form 424B (Rev. 7-97) Back

PR/Award # U282A160013
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DISCLOSURE OF LOBBYING ACTIVITIES
Approved by OMB

Complete this form to disclose lobbying activities pursuant to 31 U.S.C.1352 0348-0046

1. * Type of Federal Action: 2. * Status of Federal Action: 3. * Report Type:
I:, a. contract I:, a. bid/offer/application IE a. initial filing
IX b. grant IE b. initial award D b. material change
I:, c. cooperative agreement I:, c. post-award

I:, d. loan

I:, e. loan guarantee
I:, f. loan insurance

4. Name and Address of Reporting Entity:

IZ Prime D SubAwardee

* Name .
|Massachusetts Departnment of Elenentary & Secondary Educat|on|
* Street 1 Street 2
|75 Pl easant Street | | |
* Cit State Zi|
¥ |Ma| den | |NA: Massachusetts | P | |

Congressional District, if known: |

5. If Reporting Entity in No.4 is Subawardee, Enter Name and Address of Prime:

6. * Federal Department/Agency: 7. * Federal Program Name/Description:
US Departrment of Education Charter Schools

CFDA Number, if applicable: |84. 282

8. Federal Action Number, if known: 9. Award Amount, if known:
84- 282A2016- 1 $ | |

10. a. Name and Address of Lobbying Registrant:

Prefix I:I * First Name [ | Middle Name | |
* Last Name Suffi
fw e B

* Street 1 | | Street 2 | |

* City | | State | | Zip | |

b. Individual Performing Services (including address if different from No. 10a)

Prefix I:I*FirstName A |Middle Name | |
o i m—

* Street 1 | | Street 2 | |

* City | | State | | Zip | |

11. Information requested through this form is authorized by title 31 U.S.C. section 1352. This disclosure of lobbying activities is a material representation of fact upon which
reliance was placed by the tier above when the transaction was made or entered into. This disclosure is required pursuant to 31 U.S.C. 1352. This information will be reported to
the Congress semi-annually and will be available for public inspection. Any person who fails to file the required disclosure shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than
$10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure.

* Signature: |Ju| ia Jou |

*Name: Prefix * First Name |M t chel I | Middle Name |

Title: |Conrri ssi oner | Telephone No.: |731. 338- 3110 |Date: |05/ 31/ 2016
Authorized for Local Reproduction
Standard Form - LLL (Rev. 7-97)
Page e9
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Tracking Number:GRANT12176366

NOTICE TO ALL APPLICANTS

The purpose of this enclosure is to inform you about a new
provision in the Department of Education's General
Education Provisions Act (GEPA) that applies to applicants
for new grant awards under Department programs. This
provision is Section 427 of GEPA, enacted as part of the
Improving America's Schools Act of 1994 (Public Law (P.L.)
103-382).

To Whom Does This Provision Apply?

Section 427 of GEPA affects applicants for new grant
awards under this program. ALL APPLICANTS FOR
NEW AWARDS MUST INCLUDE INFORMATION IN
THEIR APPLICATIONS TO ADDRESS THIS NEW
PROVISION IN ORDER TO RECEIVE FUNDING UNDER
THIS PROGRAM.

(If this program is a State-formula grant program, a State
needs to provide this description only for projects or
activities that it carries out with funds reserved for State-level
uses. In addition, local school districts or other eligible
applicants that apply to the State for funding need to provide
this description in their applications to the State for funding.
The State would be responsible for ensuring that the school
district or other local entity has submitted a sufficient

section 427 statement as described below.)

What Does This Provision Require?

Section 427 requires each applicant for funds (other than an
individual person) to include in its application a description of
the steps the applicant proposes to take to ensure equitable
access to, and participation in, its Federally-assisted program
for students, teachers, and other program beneficiaries with
special needs. This provision allows applicants discretion in
developing the required description. The statute highlights
six types of barriers that can impede equitable access or
participation: gender, race, national origin, color, disability, or
age. Based on local circumstances, you should determine
whether these or other barriers may prevent your students,
teachers, etc. from such access or participation in, the
Federally-funded project or activity. The description in your
application of steps to be taken to overcome these barriers
need not be lengthy; you may provide a clear and succinct
description of how you plan to address those barriers that are
applicable to your circumstances. In addition, the information
may be provided in a single narrative, or, if appropriate, may

OMB Number: 1894-0005
Expiration Date: 03/31/2017

be discussed in connection with related topics in the
application.

Section 427 is not intended to duplicate the requirements of
civil rights statutes, but rather to ensure that, in designing
their projects, applicants for Federal funds address equity
concerns that may affect the ability of certain potential
beneficiaries to fully participate in the project and to achieve
to high standards. Consistent with program requirements and
its approved application, an applicant may use the Federal
funds awarded to it to eliminate barriers it identifies.

What are Examples of How an Applicant Might Satisfy the
Requirement of This Provision?

The following examples may help illustrate how an applicant
may comply with Section 427.

(1) An applicant that proposes to carry out an adult literacy
project serving, among others, adults with limited English
proficiency, might describe in its application how it intends
to distribute a brochure about the proposed project to such
potential participants in their native language.

(2) An applicant that proposes to develop instructional
materials for classroom use might describe how it will
make the materials available on audio tape or in braille for
students who are blind.

(3) An applicant that proposes to carry out a model
science program for secondary students and is
concerned that girls may be less likely than boys to enroll
in the course, might indicate how it intends to conduct
"outreach" efforts to girls, to encourage their enroliment.

(4) An applicant that proposes a project to increase
school safety might describe the special efforts it will take
to address concern of leshian, gay, bisexual, and
transgender students, and efforts to reach out to and
involve the families of LGBT students.

We recognize that many applicants may already be
implementing effective steps to ensure equity of access and
participation in their grant programs, and we appreciate your
cooperation in responding to the requirements of this
provision.

Estimated Burden Statement for GEPA Requirements

According to the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995, no persons are required to respond to a collection of information unless such
collection displays a valid OMB control number. Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average
1.5 hours per response, including time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the
data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. The obligation to respond to this collection is required to
obtain or retain benefit (Public Law 103-382). Send comments regarding the burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection
of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to the U.S. Department of Education, 400 Maryland Ave., SW,
Washington, DC 20210-4537 or email ICDocketMgr@ed.gov and reference the OMB Control Number 1894-0005.

Optional - You may attach 1 file to this page.

MADESE_84. 282A FY16_App_GEPAS427Narr at i ve_| ‘ Add Attachment | ‘ Delete Attachment | ‘ View Attachment

PR/Award # U282A160013
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Massachusetts Department of Education
FY2016 Application for Grants Under the Charter School Program
(CFDA Number: 84.282A)
GEPA Section 427 Statement

Section 427 requires each applicant for funds (other than an individual person) to include in its application
a description of the steps the applicant proposes to take to ensure equitable access to, and participation
in, its Federally-assisted program for students, teachers, and other program beneficiaries with special
needs. This provision allows applicants discretion in developing the required description. The statute
highlights six types of barriers that can impede equitable access or participation: gender, race, national
origin, color, disability, or age. Based on local circumstances, you should determine whether these or
other barriers may prevent your students, teachers, etc. from such access or participation in, the
Federally-funded project or activity. The description in your application of steps to be taken to overcome
these barriers need not be lengthy; you may provide a clear and succinct description of how you plan to
address those barriers that are applicable to your circumstances. In addition, the information may be
provided in a single narrative, or, if appropriate, may be discussed in connection with related topics in the
application.

Free and open admission to charter schools is one of the hallmarks of the Massachusetts charter

law:

Charter schools shall be open to all students, on a space available basis, and shall
not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, creed, sex, gender
identity, ethnicity, sexual orientation, mental or physical disability, age, ancestry,
athletic performance, special need, or proficiency in the English language or a
foreign language or academic achievement. Charter schools may limit enrollment
to specific grade levels and may structure curriculum around particular areas of
focus such as mathematics, science or the arts. There shall be no application fee
for admission to a charter school. There shall be no tuition charge for students
attending charter schools. (Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 71, Section

89(m)).

PR/Award # U282A160013
Page ell



All schools that conduct project activities funded under this grant program must adhere to these
legal requirements. The CSP grant project is designed to increase access to high-quality
educational opportunities for all students, particularly those who are educationally

disadvantaged.

The Massachusetts Office of Charter School and School Redesign will hold Charter School
Program (CSP) subgrant trainings and information sessions at the Department of Elementary and
Secondary Education (DESE) building but recognizes that due to disabilities or other reasons,
not all of the subgrant applicants and recipients will be able to attend. Therefore, all information
disseminated by this project will be made available in a variety of formats for participants
including, but not limited to, webinars, e-mail notifications, posting on the DESE website,

mailings and conference calls.

To ensure that any person with hearing loss who has or will apply for CSP funds has access to all
materials and information, the DESE website provides a text telephone (TTY) phone number.
This allows people with impaired hearing or speech to call an operator who receives the caller’s
typed messages. The operator phones the DESE, relays the messages orally and types the

response to the hearing impaired caller.

PR/Award # U282A160013
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

Certification for Contracts, Grants, Loans, and Cooperative Agreements

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

(1) No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member of
Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with
the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the
entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.

(2) If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an
officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal
contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard
Form-LLL, "Disclosure of Lobbying Activities," in accordance with its instructions.

(3) The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award documents
for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and
cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. This certification
is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or
entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction
imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be
subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure.

Statement for Loan Guarantees and Loan Insurance

The undersigned states, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

If any funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer
or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of
a Member of Congress in connection with this commitment providing for the United States to insure or
guarantee a loan, the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure of Lobbying
Activities," in accordance with its instructions. Submission of this statement is a prerequisite for making or
entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the
required statement shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000
for each such failure.
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Abstract Narrative

The Massachusetts Education Reform Act of 1993 initiated the creation of independently
operated charter schools to provide a high-quality public school choice for students and families
throughout Massachusetts. An Act Relative to the Achievement Gap of 2010 accelerated the
expansion of high-quality charter schools, particularly those serving educationally disadvantaged
students, and created new authorities and incentives for districts to leverage charter schools and
other forms of autonomous schools as a strategy for significantly improving student
achievement. In particular, charter school operators have played a direct role in restarting and
operating schools in coordination with district leadership, including through the creation of
Horace Mann charter schools. By the fall of 2015, 96 charter schools were operating in the state,
more than three-quarters in urban areas, serving more than 40,000 students.

The Massachusetts Charter Schools Program (CSP) Project 2016-2021 seeks to authorize up
to an additional 25 high-quality charter schools or substantial expansions, yielding approximately
17,500 new high-quality school seats, especially for educationally disadvantaged students. In
addition, the CSP project will accelerate and strengthen the collaboration between charter and
public school districts to rapidly improve student outcomes. The three CSP project objectives
are:

1. Increase the number of high-quality school seats in Massachusetts, especially for
educationally disadvantaged students.

2. Promote the dissemination of Massachusetts charter school best practices to other public
schools and collaborative district-charter partnerships, particularly in Gateway Cities and
Boston, to improve student outcomes in partner schools and districts.

3. Improve student outcomes in Massachusetts charter schools, and across the state,
especially for educationally disadvantaged students.

Over the next five years, the CSP project will provide critical planning and
implementation start-up funds to all newly-authorized or substantially expanding charter schools
approved by the Massachusetts Board of Elementary and Secondary Education, the state’s sole
public authorizer. Increased funding is available to schools that satisfy access and equity and
immediate high-impact priorities. Successful high-quality charter schools may also compete for
funds to support robust dissemination of their innovative best practices to other public schools.
All of these activities serve to support Massachusetts’ goal of preparing all students for success
after high school.
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Important Note:

Under Massachusetts’ charter school statute (M.G.L. ¢. 71, § 89) (App. 1) and charter school regulations (603
CMR 1.00), (App. 2) the Massachusetts Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE) is the sole
public charter authorizer in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. BESE acts through its administrative arm,
the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (ESE), led by its commissioner,
Mitchell D. Chester, Ed.D. (Commissioner),who is assisted by ESE’s Office of Charter Schools and School
Redesign (OCSSR) for all delegable authorization and oversight responsibilities for charter schools.
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ABSOLUTE PRIORITIES

Absolute Priority 1: Periodic Review and Evaluation

The Massachusetts charter school statute M.G.L. c. 71, §89 and the Massachusetts charter

school regulations (App. ' 1 and 2) authorizes the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education

(BESE) to issue charters for a term of 5 years, with a high-stakes renewal decision required
every 5 years, unless poor academic performance or lack of operational viability dictate an
earlier decision. For a description of Massachusetts comprehensive periodic review and
evaluation system for charter schools, including all state statutory, regulatory, and administrative

requirements, see Selection Criteria (f)(2)(ii).

Absolute Priority 2: Charter School Oversight

() (1) Operates under a legally binding charter or performance contract. State law (App. 1)
outlines the rights and responsibilities of charter schools and the public chartering agency, as
well as describing performance expectations and the material terms of a school's charter. A
founding group’s final application, serves as the basis for BESE’s granting a charter, and
establishes the material terms of the charter. This charter operates as a legally binding agreement
that the school enters into with the SEA-authorizer. The specific material terms of each school's
charter include the school name, mission, location, leadership and governance structure, districts
served, maximum enrollment, and grades served. Other key policy document serve as material
terms of the charter and legally obligate each school as well: Accountability Plan-includes clear
performance expectations;? bylaws; enrollment policy; expulsion policy; schedule (length of
school year, week, and day); board of trustees” membership roster; management contracts (if
applicable); and Memoranda of Understanding (for Horace Mann charter schools).

(2) Conducts annual, timely, and independent audits of financial statements.

L «App.” followed by a number will be used to indicate a document that is included in the Appendix to this application.

2 The Accountability Plan is a performance contract, outlining a school’s objectives and measures for demonstrating achievement
of its mission and key design elements, and the school’s commitment to meet the Charter School Performance Criteria as further
described in Competitive Preference Priority 1(a)(1 & 2).
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Massachusetts’ charter school statute (App. 1) requires each charter school to have an
independent audit of its accounts conducted annually, consistent with auditing standards

generally accepted in the United States, and consistent with Massachusetts Charter School Audit

Guide * (App. 3), issued by the Department of Elementary and Secondary (ESE). In addition to
outlining comprehensive requirements for auditing the school’s accounts, the Audit Guide details
requirements for a specific Agreed Upon Procedures (AUP) engagement for any charter school
receiving a Charter School Program grant (CSP) funds to ensure dedicated monitoring of CSP
subgrants. If a charter school received $750,000 or more in federal funds, requiring an A-133
audit, the CSP grant will be monitored as a separate program fulfilling the criteria in the AUP.
Audits must be filed annually on or before November 1% with ESE and the Office of the State
Auditor of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
(3) Demonstrates improved student academic achievement. All Massachusetts charter

schools must demonstrate improved academic achievement for all students, as explicitly outlined

in the Charter School Statute, M.G.L. c. 71, 89(dd) (App. 1), the Charter School Performance

Criteria* (Criteria) (App. 4), and the Considerations for Charter School Renewal® (App. 5),

described in further detail in Selection Criteria (“Sel. Crit.”) f (2)(iii).

(b) Increases in student academic achievement as one of most important factors.

BESE (as sole charter authorizer) uses increases in student academic achievement for all
subgroups of students described in section 1111(b)(2)(C)(v) of the No Child left Behind Act of
2001 as one of the most important factors when determining whether to renew or revoke a

school’s charter. This assurance is outlined in the Commissioner’s memorandum, Considerations

for Charter School Renewal and more fully described in Sel. Crit. f (2) (iii).

% http://vww.doe.mass.edu/charter/finance/auditing/
4 http://ww.doe.mass.edu/charter/acct.html?section=criteria
® http://ww.doe.mass.edu/news/news.aspx?id=7802
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COMPETITIVE PREFERENCE PRIORITIES

Competitive Preference Priority 1: High-Quality Authorizing and Monitoring Processes

(a) Multi-tiered clearance or review of a charter school.

Based upon the parameters of state law, ESE has established a rigorous annual process for
the evaluation of charter applications that incorporates clear published criteria used by both
applicants and evaluators and employs a multi-tiered review. The process and criteria for charter
application review is described in the Application for a Massachusetts Charter School, (App. 6),
which is updated and published annually in advance of every application cycle (see also Sel.
Crit. f (1)(i).

In summary, Massachusetts’ charter school application establishes the necessary evidence
to identify applicants who are prepared to be successful in the three areas of accountability: (1)
faithfulness to charter, (2) academic success, and (3) organizational viability. Each section of the
charter application contains specific criteria designed to identify whether applicants have (1)
demonstrated alignment of their proposed charter school with the needs of the targeted
community and its residents, (2) developed a cohesive and comprehensive design for a high-
quality charter school which will recruit, enroll, and serve the Commonwealth’s educationally
disadvantaged student populations, and (3) shown the expertise and capacity to successfully open
and operate the proposed school. All application requirements are aligned to state law and the
charter school performance Criteria.

The charter application process includes two stages for new operators. New operators
submit a preliminary application, called a prospectus, which provides an opportunity to articulate
the basic elements of their proposed school design and implementation plan and to receive
targeted feedback prior to the submission of a final application. Charter applicants who do not
demonstrate the capacity to open and operate a high-quality charter school at the prospectus
stage are invited to resubmit their prospectus in a future cycle after further revision and

consultation with ESE staff. Applicants who demonstrate capacity and a strong likelihood of
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establishing a high-quality charter school are invited to submit a full final application.

ESE develops a detailed analysis of the evidence provided in the prospectus, which is
provided to all applicants to clearly identify the areas requiring additional evidence. ESE uses a
panel of trained reviewers, both ESE staff and peer experts in the field, to assess each applicant’s
response to criteria and identify where further development is required. ESE staff has established
a cadre of over 100 qualified reviewers, but continues to perform year-round outreach to experts
in the field to ensure that each application benefits from a review team typically comprised of at
least four external experts and at least three ESE staff at each stage of the review process.

During the second stage of review, applicants submit an application that addresses
concerns raised by ESE at the prospectus stage, provides additional information on the targeted
community’s demand for the proposed charter school, and its five-year implementation plan,
including the recruitment and retention of educationally disadvantaged students. ESE then
institutes a public comment period for all stakeholders, including a public hearing held in
community where the school proposes to locate. This hearing provides an opportunity for
community members to demonstrate support of the proposed charter school to ESE and BESE.
ESE also performs a capacity interview of the applicant group to augment information provided
in the final application and gather additional evidence of the applicant group’s ability to open
and operate a high-quality charter school as envisioned in its application.

The body of evidence gathered by ESE during the charter application process results in a
multi-page report presented to the Commissioner and BESE as well as the applicant group. The
report highlights the areas of the criteria and the degree to which they have been addressed by
the applicant group. The Commissioner of ESE (Commissioner) makes a recommendation to
BESE regarding the applicant groups with the strongest likelihood of establishing a high-quality
charter school based upon capacity and the application criteria. BESE reviews the body of
evidence prior to making a decision to grant a charter.

After a charter has been awarded, the charter school undergoes a comprehensive opening

procedures process, outlined in the annually published Opening Procedures Handbook (App. 8).
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A new charter school must complete requirements in the handbook in order to open. An ESE
staff member participates in an initial board meeting to train trustees and school leadership on
opening procedures and to provide an overview of Massachusetts’ accountability processes. The
successful completion of the opening procedures ensures that the charter school has addressed
critical elements of the infrastructure required for public school operation. Failure to demonstrate
preparedness prior to the school’s opening can have serious consequences, including delayed
opening, probation, or revocation of the charter.

During the months prior to opening, Massachusetts’ has instituted a number of safeguards
to identify readiness to open and to ensure schools stay on track for a successful first year of
operation. New schools are required to demonstrate organizational viability through sufficient
student enrollment, financial resources, and human capital, as well as compliance with state and
federal laws and regulations. ESE provides technical assistance and provides many resources to
support a school’s effectiveness in meeting these requirements, including policy checklists and
guidance to ensure equitable enrollment practices; appropriate fiscal policies and procedures;
policies and procedures to appropriately serve educationally disadvantaged student populations,
including students with disabilities and English language learners; and equitable student
discipline policies and procedures.

(b) Differentiated review of charter petitions.

Massachusetts charter school law establishes a number of priorities for authorizing, including
applicants who have a track record of prior success, or who seek to establish schools in the
state’s lowest performing districts. Based upon these priorities, ESE performs a differentiated
review of charter applications for current charter school operators (boards of trustees) and groups
seeking to establish high-quality charter schools in the lowest performing districts in the
Commonwealth. In all review processes, the gathering and development of evidence regarding
the likelihood of success for establishing a high-quality charter school is the underlying and
primary focus of the charter application review.

The primary focus of the differentiated review for new and current operators is to
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distinguish between the capacity required to open and operate one high-quality charter school
versus the capacity required to open and operate a network of high-quality charter schools. ESE
has established two different versions of the charter application to permit a two-stage process of
review for new operators and a one-stage process for current boards of trustees applying for
additional charter(s). In order for current boards of trustees to participate in the application
process, they must have established a track record of success in the operation of at least one
high-quality charter school, as determined by: at least one successful charter renewal; the
absence of conditions or probation; identification in the Commonwealth’s accountability system
as a successful school; and compliance with federal and state laws and regulations. Charter
schools that do not meet all of these parameters (i.e., alternative education programs) may
consult with ESE regarding their unique circumstances, including the consideration of other
potential measures of academic success, to establish eligibility for additional charters.

Both new and existing operators may pursue a new charter school in one of the 29 lowest
performing Massachusetts school districts where charter school growth is favored by meeting
certain regulatory requirements (App. 2). Eligible operators must demonstrate a track record of
success serving an educationally disadvantaged population, including establishing performance
similar to statewide averages for all students and one or more student subgroups, such as students
with disabilities, English language learners, or economically disadvantaged, in comparable
grades over at least a three-year period. New operators may meet these requirements through a
partnership with organizations or individuals who have achieved the requisite track record.

(c) Clear and Specific Standards and Benchmarks for Authorizer Performance.

As sole authorizer, BESE and its administrative arm, ESE, work diligently to monitor and
evaluate its authorization activities with a commitment to continuous improvement. As National
Association of Charter School Authorizers (NACSA) recognizes in its letter of support, “Mass
ESE and its portfolio of charter schools are achieving strong outcomes for students and the
public interest, making the department a national exemplar of charter school authorizing

practices.” Monitoring and assessment efforts include:
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1. Leqislative reporting. Massachusetts charter school law requires an annual report to

the legislature from BESE. In 2016, this report included required charter school enroliment data,
but also analysis demonstrating Massachusetts’ commitment to charter school access and equity
in five key areas: enrollment, demographic comparability of charter school to district school
enrollment, attrition, backfilling, and waitlists.

2. Outside evaluation. ESE periodically hires outside experts to monitor and evaluate

the Office of Charter Schools and School Redesign’s (OCSSR) charter school authorizing
activities. If successful, Massachusetts intends to use a small share of its CSP grant to fund an
evaluation to assess the effectiveness of ESE’s access and equity initiatives.

3. Benchmarks in ESE’s Delivery Plan. OCSSR’s charter school work is incorporated

in and monitored as part of ESE’s strategic delivery plan, which includes annual goals and
objectives. The Commissioner meets with the OCCSR team and delivery analysts regularly to
take stock of the OCCSR’s progress toward year-end goals.

4. Public Reporting on Charter School Performance. Fundamentally, ESE gauges the

quality of its authorizing by the performance of its portfolio of charter schools. Charter school
performance data is broadly disseminated. Each charter school is required to submit an Annual
Report to ESE and to their local school committee. These reports, which also must be posted on
school websites, include each school’s demographic data, academic data, and a self-assessment
of performance on charter school performance Criteria. In addition, charter school performance
data is available as part of its statewide academic “report cards” published on ESE’s website,
where the public will also find accountability data for charter school progress toward closing
achievement gaps. Finally, ESE has created charter-school-specific tools that allow public access
to charter school financial performance and demographic data (the latter in comparison to similar

grades in traditional district schools). The performance of Massachusetts charter schools has also
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been extensively reported in a number of research studies.®

Competitive Preference Priority 2: One Authorized Public Chartering Agency Other than

a Local Educational Agency (LEA), or an Appeals Process.

The Massachusetts Charter School Statute (M.G.L. c. 71, § 89) (App.1) establishes the
Massachusetts Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE) as the sole public charter
authorizing entity in Massachusetts. Massachusetts has one authorizer as part of its mission to
strengthen the Commonwealth's public education system in a consistent, responsible, and
transparent manner. As a single authorizer, BESE ensures reliable oversight and employs
comprehensive practices as part of a state-wide strategy to close all proficiency gaps so that
every student is prepared to succeed in postsecondary education, compete in the global economy,
and understand the rights and responsibilities of American citizens. Local Education Agencies
(LEASs) cannot authorize charter schools in Massachusetts.

INVITATIONAL PRIORITY
ESE reports on the student demographics of each charter school in the state on an annual

basis. Under the "statewide reports" section of its website (www.doe.mass.edu), ESE publishes

demographic enrollment data for each individual charter school as well as for each public school
and school district in the state, as follows:

» Enrollment by Selected Population (First language not English, English language
learners, Students with disabilities, Educationally Disadvantaged, and Economically
disadvantaged)

» Enrollment by Race/Gender (African American, Asian, Hispanic, White, Native
American, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, Multi-race/Non-Hispanic, Male, Female

» Enrollment by Grade (PK through Grade 12)

66 See, for example, http://seii.mit.edu/research/school-reform/, http://credo.stanford.edu/research-reports.html, and
http://scholar.harvard.edu/files/cohodes/files/informingthedebate final.pdf.
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» Enrollment by Kindergarten (Part-time, Full-time, Tuitioned and Total)

Figure 1. Sample Report: Enrollment by Selected Populations (School Level)
2015-16 Selected Populations Report (School) & @ 4
RegorTyoe: [Schodl v [z015-35 v |

This repartincludes the enrallment of selectad populations for all students in public schools and charter schools in the state. The information is as of Octaber 15t of the school year selected
Acount of zero indicates that the school or district does not hawve any students enrolled in that population. The state total for Special Education data includes all students atthe district level.

The schoal-level repart only includes those students enralled in public schools. More about the data
SCHOOL First Language Not English Language Students With Disabilities High Needs Economically
English Learner Disadvantaged

E4 H 3 ) # % # ] # i}

Abby Kelley Foster Charter Public (District) - Abkr a7 264 107 7.5 147 10.3 706 49.5 473 33.2

Kelley Foster Charter Public Sthool

Ahington - Ahington High 18 35 B 1.3 49 10.9 135 29.9 92 20.4

Abington - Beaver Brook Elementary School 45 71 il 41 a0 128 203 321 131 07

Ahington - Center Elementary School 18 49 8] 4.4 34 187 B3 346 29 159

Ahington - Frolio Middle Schoal 14 42 4 1.2 EE] 9.9 98 29.3 59 17.7

Ahington - Woodsdale Elementary School 1 33 4 1.2 38 1.4 105 3.4 63 0.7

Acaderny Ofthe Pacific Rim Charter Public (District) - B3 130 35 6.7 120 229 263 402, 148 30.2]

Acaderny Ofthe Pacific Ri Charter Public School

Acton-Boxborough - Acton-Boxborough Regional 2 142 20 11 248 124 337 177 a8 4

High
http://profiles.doe.mass.edu/state_report/selectedpopulations.aspx?mode=school&year=2016&Continue.x=9&Continue.y=5

Figure 2. Sample Report: Enrollment by Selected Populations (District Level)
2015-16 Selected Populations Report (District) & ,;n_,
e o (B v |[GotEa5 V]

Thig report includes the enroliment of selected populations for all students in public schools and charter schoals in the state. The information is as of October 1st ofthe school year selected.
Acount of zero indicates that the school or district does not have any students enrolled in that population. The state total for Special Education data includes all students at the district level

The school-level report only includes those students enrolled in public schools. More about the data..
DISTRICT First Language Not English L With Di iliti High Needs Economically
English Learner Disadvant d
# ] # ] # % # % # ]
Abby Kelley Foster Charter Public (District 37T 26.4 107 75 147 103 708 49.5 473 33.2]
Ahington 104] 5.4 48 25 259 13.2] 629 321 380 19.6]
Acaderny Ofthe Pacific Rim Charter Public (Districty 68 130 35 67 120 228 263 50.2 158 30.2
Actan-Boxborough a78 156 229 41 968 16.9] 1,418 248 304 5.4
Acushnet " 11 [ 0.8 174 17 6 325 aze 182 19.8]
Adams-Cheshire 7 05 7 05 303 22.2 703 516 550 40.4]
Adwanced Math and Science Academy Charter 174 176 1 01 44 4.4 101 10.2 56 57
Distric]
Anavwar 205 75 173 4.4 651 16.3] 1,526 382 993 25.2]
Alma del Mar Charter School (District) a0 178 26 9.2 41 14.4 196 69.0 156 54.9)
Amesbury 59 28 27 12 a7 20.8] a22 358 466 20.5]
Amherst 303 256 196 16.6 215 18.2 665 47.8 332 281

http://profiles.doe.mass.edu/state_report/selectedpopulations.aspx?mode=district&year=2016&Continue.x=6&Continue.y=6

For a discussion and screenshots of CHART, a unique reporting charter school demographic data
compared to similarly situated district schools, see Sel. Crit. f (1)(iii), p. 39.

SELECTION CRITERIA
Selection Criteria (a): Educationally Disadvantaged Students.

1(a) Educationally Disadvantaged Students. The CSP project directly contributes to
ensuring that educationally disadvantaged students meet or exceed Massachusetts academic
achievement standards by supporting the creation and expansion of high-quality charter schools
in areas with the highest concentrations of academically disadvantaged students, as well as

supporting new and expanding charter schools to create effective infrastructure to meet strenuous
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performance criteria for diverse learners (see Sel. Crit. f In Massachusetts, charter

public schools serve a higher
percentage of racial and ethnic

(1)(1)), p. 33. ESE will continue to prioritize educationally minority students and free and
reduced-price lunch students than
disadvantaged students for high-quality charter school traditional public schools, showing

that charters are serving those
students who most need a better

opportunities, including through targeted CSP subgrant

public school option.

incentives (See Sel C”t d (1)(”))1 p 23 Massachusetts also has a relatively

high percentage of special-focus

schools, showing that charters are

Overall, as demonstrated in Figure 3, Massachusetts providing a diverse array of options
for students and educators.

charter schools enroll a significantly higher percentage of

educationally disadvantaged students than non-charter

National Alliance of Public Charter Schools 2016 ranking of state
charter laws.

schools. Massachusetts’ high-quality charter schools
continually perform better than other public schools in all areas and therefore play a major role in

the reduction of achievement gaps for educationally disadvantaged students.

Figure 3. 2015-2016 Demographics: Charter Schools vs. State

2015-16 Demographics Charter % State (non-charter) %
Educationally Disadvantaged 511 42.6
Economically Disadvantaged 35.5 27.0
Students With Disabilities 14.3 16.4
First Language Not English 25.3 18.7
English Language Learner 111 8.9

These relatively high enrollment rates are in part attributable to multiple provisions in the
state’s charter school statute require that access to charter school options be prioritized for
educationally disadvantaged students (App. 1 and 2). BESE’s charter authorizing practices serve
this legislative priority; of the 96 charter school campuses currently operating in Massachusetts,
more than three-quarters are located in urban areas, serving a majority of students who would
have attended schools in districts that are not meeting state academic standards.

Prominent charter sector advocates and researchers confirm that Massachusetts prioritizes

and benefits educationally disadvantaged students. In its March 2016 report, The Health of the
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Charter School Movement: A State-by-State Analysis,” the National Alliance of Public Charter
Schools (Alliance) highlighted that Massachusetts charter schools are serving the students who
most need a better public school option and provide a diverse array of educational options for
students (see sidebar excerpt from report). The Alliance’s 2016 Measuring Up to the Model: A
Ranking of State Charter School Laws,® placed Massachusetts’ laws among the highest for Clear
Identification of Special Education Responsibilities.

Academic studies by researchers at Harvard, MIT, and Stanford demonstrate the strong
comparative advantage in academic achievement and attainment of Massachusetts charter school
students versus their peers in other public schools. MIT researcher Elizabeth Setren released a
December 2015 study titled, Special Education and English Language Learner Students in
Boston Charter Schools: Impact and Classification? , which uses admission lottery results to
measure the impact of attending a Boston charter school for students with disabilities and
English language learners (ELLs). The study found that the Boston charter schools produced
substantial gains for students with disabilities and ELLs on state math and reading assessments
and helped narrow the achievement gap for students with disabilities and ELLs. The report also
indicates that students with disabilities and ELLs were proportionally represented in the Boston
charter lotteries, and that the Boston charter schools tended to move applicants with disabilities
to more inclusive settings at higher rates than traditional public schools (see Figures 4 and 5,

below).

" http://www.publiccharters.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/032316-Health-of-the-Movement 13 final.pdf
8 http://www.publiccharters.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Model-Law-Final 2016.pdf
® http://economics.mit.edu/files/11208
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Figure 4. 2013-14 MCAS Math. Figure 5. 2013-14 MCAS English.
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Statewide data confirms Setren’s findings. As evidenced by Figures 6 & 7 below, for
each of the past five years, all charter schools’ educationally disadvantaged students have
outperformed statewide averages as measured by the Composite Performance Index (CP1),%°
Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS) and PARCC Student Growth
Percentile (SGP) rates, a measure of how a group of students’ achievement has grown or changed over time."
The results for the educationally disadvantaged students in charter schools are further remarkable

for the magnitude of the difference in performance measures.
Figure 6. CPI for Educationally Disadvantaged Students.

CPI% Educationally Disadvantaged Students

ELA Math
FY1l  FY12  FY13  FYl4  FYIS FY1l  FY12  FY13  FYl4  FYI5
Charter 8297 8272 8438 846 8325 75.15 74 83 777 7754 7639
-chart
(non-c St::i 77.36 76.86 77.08 775 76.63 67.7 67.63 69.05 68.93 68.35

10 The CPI measures progress towards the goal of narrowing proficiency gaps. The CPI assigns 100, 75, 50, 25, or 0 points to
each student participating in state assessments based how close they came to scoring Proficient or Advanced. The CPI is
calculated by dividing the total number of points by the number of students in the group. The result is a number between 0 and
100. A CPI of 100 means that all students in a group are proficient.
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Figure 7. SGP for Educationally Disadvantaged Students.

Median SGP Educationally Disadvantaged Students

Charter 52 54 57 55 55 57 54 58 55 58
ch
(non-charter) 46 47 48 47 46 46 46 48 46
State

As evidenced by Figure 8, the average 4-year and 5-year graduation rates for charter
schools have far exceeded the statewide average over the past five years, for all students and for

educationally disadvantaged students when comparing all schools and urban schools.™

Figure 8. 4- and 5-year Graduation Rates for Educationally Disadvantaged Students.

All Students Educationally Disadvantaged Students
5-year Graduation Rates 5-year Graduation Rates
Charter % State (non-charter) % Charter % State (non-charter) %
FY11 88.5 83.8 FY11 B88.8 78.3
FY12 91.7 85.0 FY12 91.2 80.1
FY13 93.0 85.5 FY13 a1.F 811
An FY14 91.9 86.0 FY14 a1s 81.9
3
S 4-year Graduation Rates d-year Graduation Rates
2 Charter % State (non-charter) % Charter % State (non-charter) %
< fFynn 82.3 80.9
FY12 84.8 823 FY12 825 76.3
FY13 88.1 82.5 FY13 85.6 77.0
FY14 85.1 83.4 FY14 834 78.7
FY15 86.2 823.5 FY15 85.5 78.7
All Students Educationally Disadvantaged Students
A-year Graduation Rates 4-year Graduation Rates
Charter % State (non-charter) % Charter % State (non-charter) %
FY11 79.0 59.8
FY12 82.3 62.1 FY12 8l.6 60.6
% FY13 85.9 61.4 FY13 854 60.3
_g FY14 85.7 63.2 FY14 84.9 62.0
8 FY15 87.0 65.6 FY15 85.5 64.5
®
2 5-year Graduation Rates 5-year Graduation Rates
2 Charter % State (non-charter) % Charter % State (non-charter) %
FY11 86.9 65.4 FY11 86.6 64.4
FY12 90.4 67.6 FY12 90.7 66.4
FY13 91.5 67.8 FY13 o1.0 66.7
FY14 93.6 68.5 FY14 53.3 67.6

Educationally disadvantaged graduation rates for FY1l are not available because this data was not collected until FY12. 5-year
graduation rates for educationally disadvantaged was retroactively calculated for FY11

1 For purposes of these comparisons, urban public schools are defined as the 25 traditional public school districts
with the highest poverty and highest population. Charter schools defined as “Urban” here are located in one of these
districts. Of Charter Schools in Massachusetts, 77.8% are considered “Urban”, making a comparison to Urban non-
charter schools material and appropriate. Also, alternative schools are routinely excluded from statewide graduation
data, and are therefore not included in any of these comparisons.
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Aspects of Massachusetts” CSP project targeting the needs of educationally
disadvantaged students during the next five-year grant period are specifically described in

Program Design, Sel. Crit. d (1)(ii), p. 23.

Selection Criteria (b): Vision for Growth and Accountability.

Massachusetts’ growth and accountability system has fostered some of the most high-
performing, gap-narrowing charter schools in the country.
(1) Plan to support the creation of high-quality charter schools; reasonable growth estimates

Massachusetts’ five-year estimate for charter-school growth results from a careful
balance of meeting the overwhelming unserved demand from families (almost 32,646 unique
students waiting for a charter school seat for 2016-2017) with the responsibility to ensure that
every charter school that opens in Massachusetts has the capacity to meet rigorous standards of
excellence for all of its students, particularly those who are educationally disadvantaged.
Massachusetts’ plan for growth of high-quality charter schools incorporates 1) clear and well
articulated criteria for excellence in all aspects of charter school performance that must be

addressed by all charter applicants (see Sel. Crit. f (2)(i)), p. 38; 2) outreach to strong and proven

charter school developers, especially those with proven track records for success with

educationally disadvantaged students, to encourage replication (see Sel. Crit. f (2)(i)), p. 38; and

3) continuous support for new charter school developers throughout the life cycle of a charter
school, starting from successful applications, to school opening procedures that ensure a
foundation for high-quality education from the first cohort of students served, to technical
assistance that facilitates effective and faithful implementation.
Massachusetts is confident that the CSP grant we will be able to achieve and ensure the
following growth of high-quality schools within a five-year period:*?
e 25 high-quality charter schools and/or substantial expansions will be approved

serving a vast majority of educationally disadvantaged students (Figure 9);

12 Massachusetts has applied for a waiver of CSP requirements to allow it to deploy grant funds over a five-year
period. See Waiver Request 1.
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e 17,500 new students will be attending charter schools as a result of the 25 new
schools and expansions in existing schools (Figure 10).

ESE believes that these ambitious estimates are well supported by the historical trends of growth,
the variety and multitude of partners providing support for the establishment of high-quality
educational options for educationally disadvantaged students, and the continued demand for new
seats at new and existing high-quality charter schools. The first 15 charter schools in
Massachusetts enrolled 2,613 students in 1995. That number has grown to 40,200 students today.
Massachusetts’ growth estimate would create 25% more seats than exist today in the next five
years, which is reasonable based on our accumulated experience supporting creation of high-
quality schools, but still ambitious given that growth will be accelerated compared to prior years.

Figure 9. Growth in the number of high-quality charter schools over time.

“1 High-Quality New Charter Schools
120 - or Substantial Expansions
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Figure 10. Growth in high-quality charter school enrollment.
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In support of these growth projections, in addition to ESE’s robust internal charter school
infrastructure, ESE has developed and maintained strong relationships with philanthropic,
nonprofit and other community leaders and gatekeepers®® to leverage additional resources that
support the growth of high-performing charter school models in Massachusetts, extending their
reach to more families and communities. ESE received letters of intent for the FY16 charter
application that provide a clear indication of the continuing interest in establishing high-quality
charter schools in some of our highest-needs districts as well as areas that are not currently
served by a high-quality charter school option. Applicants sought to establish schools in our
largest districts, Boston and Springfield, as well as in other low-performing urban districts.

In addition, given its strong partnership with the Massachusetts Charter Public School
Association (MCPSA) on matters of concern to charter schools, ESE has welcomed and
encouraged MCPSA’s expanded role in enhancing the pipeline of high-quality prospective
applicant groups, encouraging replication and substantial expansion of existing high-quality

operators, and increasing availability of local philanthropic funds. MCPSA provides technical

13 |_etters of support have been received by the following organizations submitted letters of support: Boston Foundation, The
National Center for Time and Learning, Building Excellent Schools and Strategic Grant Partners.
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assistance and support to charter applicants at earlier stages of the charter development process
before a charter is granted, including providing review and evaluation of written applications
prior to submission to ESE as well as preparing applicants for their capacity interviews with
ESE. In addition, MCPSA has developed a strategic plan to encourage and support high-quality
charter growth in the highest needs areas to serve the most educationally disadvantaged students.
Finally, with vigorous activity surrounding a charter school ballot initiative that would
provide a mechanism to approve significantly more charter schools than currently authorized,
ESE is ready to step up its outreach efforts to prospective developers by adding to its existing
information sessions (9 yearly) to meet anticipated increased interest.
(2) Supporting Closure of Academically Poor-Performing Charter Schools.
Massachusetts’ plan to support closure of academically poor-performing charter schools

is founded in its rigorous enforcement of its accountability system (see Sel. Crit. f (2)(ii), p. 39),

which rests firmly on clear Criteria that consider poor academic performance a bellwether for

conditions, probation and closure (see Competitive Preference Priority (“Comp. Pref. Pr.””) 1 (a),

p. 3). While ESE continues to institute an application process and school opening procedures that
are designed to allow only those developers with the demonstrated capacity to establish high-
quality charter schools, Massachusetts will continue vigilance through its accountability process
to sanction and, where necessary, close any charter school that persistently fails to meet its
promise of academic success for all students (see Sel. Crit. ¢ (2), p. 19).

Massachusetts’ charter school concept is based on a trade-off: greater autonomy for
increased accountably. When this bargain is not met, ESE closes academically and operationally
poor performing charter schools. Since 1994, there have been 17 charter school closures in
Massachusetts due to poor academic performance. When closure is required, ESE works closely
with schools to ensure students and families are able to transition to other schools and that public
funds are professionally managed mindful of both stewardship and the duty of care required.
Over the years, ESE has developed a closing procedures checklist that helps schools to affect

closure, including required communications to families, employees, and contractual partners; a
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transition plan for school and student records; a plan to dispose of assets; and a collection of

month-to-month financials and minutes from meetings of the board of trustees.

Selection Criteria (c): Past Performance.

1) Increase in high-quality charter schools. The number of high-quality charter
schools in Massachusetts has increased from 60 schools in 2010-2011 to 96 schools/campuses
that will be operating in 2016-2017 (see Figure 9, above). Part of this growth can be attributed to
high-quality charter school boards of trustees that chose to replicate or substantially expand
existing schools.* For example, Excel Academy Charter School added a high school and two
additional middle schools, which consistently rank among the top schools in the state for student
achievement and serve high concentrations of educationally disadvantaged students. Similarly,
Match Charter Public School, a nationally recognized high-performing charter school, opened a
PK-8 school focusing on serving English language learner students with 700 additional seats.
Nationally recognized for top academic achievement, the Brooke Charter Schools have just been
awarded an amendment to open a high school with an additional 660 seats. Figure 10, above,
shows growth in high-quality charter school student enrollment over the past five years (10,266)
and projected for the next five years (17,532).

As shown in Figure 11, below, for each of the past five years all charters schools students
have outperformed statewide averages in the aggregate as measured by the Composite
Performance Index (CP1),*> Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS) and
PARCC Student Growth Percentile rates.*® The aggregate result is noteworthy since charter
schools are heavily concentrated in the state’s urban districts, and have a higher distribution of

educationally disadvantaged students compared to the state as a whole.

4 As used here, “substantial expansions™ are defined as adding at least 50% new enrollment or 2 grades. See
Waiver 4.
1> The CPI measures progress towards the goal of narrowing proficiency gaps. The CPI assigns 100, 75, 50, 25, or 0
points to each student participating in state assessments based how close they came to scoring Proficient or
Advanced. The CPI is calculated by dividing the total number of points by the number of students in the group. The
result is a number between 0 and 100. A CPI of 100 means that all students in a group are proficient.
16" A student growth percentile (abbreviated SGP) measures how much a student's performance has improved from
one year to the next relative to his or her academic peers.
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Figure 11. Students in Massachusetts charter school outperform their peers statewide.

CPI% All Students

ELA Math
FY1l  FY12 FY13 FYl4  FYIS FY1l  FYl12  FY13  FYl4  FYI5
Charter 8826*  87.95%*  §8.79%*  §8.78**  8§.63** §1.14 3093  S275%*  £221%*  $2.65%*
(on-charter) oo 09 5733 $730 8728 8726 §0.79  80.80 8157  SL13 8138

State

Median SGP All Students
Charter  352%* 4% 7% S6%* g5%% 7% e 57Hs 57%% 7%
(nm{ha;:a? 50 50 51 50 50 50 “ 51 50 50
ate bl

** indicates a sipnificant difference of p < 001 between charter schools and non-charter schools throughout the state.
* indicates a significant difference of p < .03 between charter schools and non-charter schools throughout the state.
No astericks indicates no sipnficant difference between charter schools and non-charter schools throughout the state.

(2) Reduction of academically poor-performing charter schools

ESE considers an academically poor performing charter school to be one that is 1)
designated as Level 3 by the state (lowest 20% of similarly situated schools statewide based on
state performance indicators) absent extenuating circumstances (such as a school that is
specifically designed to serve students at risk of not graduating) or 2) on probation for reasons of
academic performance, or both. These criteria are more rigorous than the federal definition of
academically poor-performing, which is only the lowest 5% of schools in the state.

When a charter school is considered to be academically poor performing, Massachusetts
mandates one or more of the following consequences depending on the nature of the
performance issues: 1) BESE places the school on conditions or probation, 2) revokes its
charter, 3) does not renew its charter, or 4) accepts the school’s decision to voluntarily turn in its
charter. In a majority of these instances to date, failure to demonstrate academic success was a
key factor in the closure decision (17 schools have closed since 1995, and 4 did not open due to
shortfalls in developer capacity to deliver a strong academic program).

Since Massachusetts’ CSP application in 2011, five academically poor-performing
schools have been closed in keeping with BESE’s historical track record of enforcing high
standards and willingness to revoke or refuse renewal of charters in cases of underperformance.

Sel. Crit. f (2)(i), on page 38 describes thorough process that ESE uses to review and approve

only high-quality charter school applications. The primary goal of the application process is to
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open only those schools whose developers show the capacity to establish the highest-quality
schools from their opening day. Massachusetts is proud of the number of high-quality schools in
its portfolio as well as the fact that so few have had to be closed for academic poor performance
since charter schools were authorized in 1993, in large part due to the strenuous application
process and monitoring system. See attached letter of support from the National Association of
Charter School Authorizers (NACSA), which notes that Massachusetts is one of only ten
authorizers nationwide to meet NACSA’s rigorous authorizer outcomes, including “a strong
record of closing poorly performing schools.”

Selection Criteria (d): Project Design.

1) Process for awarding subgrants.

i) Subgrant Application and Peer Review Process. CSP Subgrants for new schools.

ESE has a demanding process for ensuring that subgrants are awarded to eligible applicants who
demonstrate the capacity to create high-quality charter schools and improve student academic
achievement (Figure 12), which is integrated with ESE’s charter application and results in every
new charter school receiving a subgrant. ESE has taken this approach in order to ensure that
every qualified developer authorized by BESE to open and operate a charter school is provided
the necessary support to kickstart implementation of approved, high-quality designs. All charter
applicant groups must establish sufficient evidence of their capacity through the submitted
charter application, the capacity interview with ESE staff, and the public comment period and
public hearing process. Based on our track record of authorizing some of the highest quality
charter schools in the country, we are confident that our integrated process for charter
applications and subgrants results in increasing new charter schools that will improve academic
achievement.

ESE has instituted differentiated charter application processes that allow a determination
of capacity prior to the submission of a full charter application. For a detailed description, please

see Comp. Pref. Pr. 1 (a), p. 3. New operators are required to submit a preliminary application,
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called a prospectus. If a new operator is targeting one of the lowest performing districts in the
Commonwealth, additional evidence of capacity to serve an educationally disadvantaged student
population is also required by Massachusetts’ charter school statute. (M.G.L. ¢.71, 889(i)(3),
App. 1). ESE assesses the track record of the developer independently of the assessment of the
charter application to determine if the developer is eligible as a proven provider. If the developer
does not sufficiently establish the capacity to create a high-quality charter school based upon a
current or former management role at a high-quality school, the developer is not invited to
submit a full charter application. The proven provider determination is aligned with the
determination of a high-quality charter school, including prior performance comparable to
statewide averages on the state assessment test and graduation rates for all students and one or
more educationally disadvantaged student populations.

Existing Massachusetts charter school boards of trustees undergo a similar preliminary
review prior to the submission of a full charter application. While these boards do not submit a
prospectus, ESE does review their current track record of performance prior to submission of a
full application. In order for current boards/operators to participate in the application process,
they must have established a track record of success in their prior charter school operations by
meeting academic and operational standards set by statute. (M.G.L. c.71, 889(i)(3), App. 1).

In addition to establishing a threshold for prior success in establishing a high-quality
charter school, the charter application contains numerous criteria that identify developers who
are focused on educationally disadvantaged students and their needs. In both the preliminary and
full charter application, developers must provide evidence that their educational program and its
associated practices will produce high academic achievement and the attainment of the
knowledge, skills, and experiences that ensures college and career readiness for all of their
students, including educationally disadvantaged students, as well a recruitment and retention
plan to ensure educationally disadvantaged students have access to high-quality schools and

support once enrolled. These required application elements further establish the strength of our
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process for awarding subgrants to developers with capacity to address our state’s priorities for
improving student academic achievement in our highest need communities.

CSP grants for substantial expansions. In addition to charter applicants, ESE proposes to

award subgrants to existing charter schools who seek to substantially expand current operations.
Qualifying schools would request the addition of 2 or more grades or at least 50% increase in
student enrollment. ESE has instituted a process similar to that for charter applications for all
charter schools requesting this magnitude of growth, including an application, capacity
interview, and public comment period. ESE has developed targeted criteria to elicit evidence that
an existing charter schools has the capacity to both maintain current levels of performance and
grow grade span and/or enrollment. Similar to the charter application process, if the existing
operator intends to grow in one of the state’s 29 lowest performing districts, ESE must determine
the applicant to qualify as a proven provider.

Figure 12. Timeline: Charter School Program Application and Peer Review Process.

Applicant
/ Group

Letter of Intent Submitted to the Department
June

Prospectus Submitted to the Department
August

Prospectus Submitted to Superintendents
August

¥

Evaluation of Prospectus and
Proven Provider Status (Interview)
August

Commissioner Invites Selected Applicants to Subsmit
Final Application and Notifies Applicants of
Proven Provider Status
September

Technical Support and Training

Final Application submitted to the Department
November

Final Applications submitted to Superintendents
November

Panel Review of Final School District Public Hearings on
Applications Review of Applications Final Applications
Nov.— Dec. Nov. —Dec. Nov. — Dec.

[ ]
Interview with Applicant
Groups/ Proposed Boards of Trustees
January
Commissioner Makes Recommendations
to Board of Elementary & Secondary Education
February
{
Board of Elementary & Secondary Education
Votes to Grant Charters
February
\ B S
Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education — Project Narrative — June 2016 Page 22

FY2016 Application for Grants Under the Charter Schools Program (CFDA Number: 84.282A)
PR/Award # U282A160013
Page e39



(i) Year-by -Year Estimates.

Figure 13. CSP Subgrant Estimates by Year.

Projected

Average Award No. of Description
Subgrant SUbgrantS

2016- Planning and $618,750* 3, butif | Planning and Implementation
2017 Implementation waiver Subgrants: Massachusetts’ project
allowed | design includes 4 types of subgrants, two
8** baseline awards and two increments for

targeted designs and policies. New
schools or substantial expansions would
receive a baseline grant of up to $500,000,
and replications of existing high-quality
schools would receive up to $300,000
(expansions and replication grants are
contingent on allowance of Waiver
Dissemination $582,350 4 Request 4). There are also two possible
increments to the baseline: an Access &
Equity increment of up to $175,000 and
an Immediate High-Impact increment of
$125,000, designed as incentives to
expand opportunities for educationally

2017- | Planning and $618,750 5
2018 Implementation

2818 }IDrLa[;]Ir;mgnig?ion $618,750 5 disadvantaged students to attend high-
quality charter schools. The average
award is based on projected historical and
actual data re: opening schools and
expansions of high-quality schools (see

2019- Planning and $618,750 5 Figure 10).

2020 Implementation Dissemination Subgrants: Massachusetts
plans to conduct a single competition in
2016-2017 for dissemination grants of up
to $650,000 for projects running from

2020- | Planning and $618,750 5 2017-2018 through

2021 Implementation 2018-2019. Based on past dissemination

grant competitions, Massachusetts
anticipates making 4 dissemination
subgrants to high-quality charter schools.

* Note that this figure represents a subgrant that may be used for up to 36-months (if Waiver Request No. 2 is
granted).

** Massachusetts has requested a waiver to allow funding for planning and/or implementation grants for 2 new
schools chartered in 2016 and 5 substantially expanding schools, which did not receive any planning or
implementation funds from the last CSP grant. If allowed, this waiver will add $4.3M to 2016-2017 awards.

Anticipating that its waiver will granted allowing Massachusetts to award subgrants to

substantially expanding schools (adding 50% or more students or 2 or more consecutive grades
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at high-quality schools), Massachusetts differentiates baseline planning and implementation
grants as follows:

Baseline Planning and Implementation Grants: New Schools and Substantial
Expansions. Massachusetts will award CSP subgrants to each new charter school or substantial

expansion of an existing charter school (as described in Waiver Request 4) approved by BESE

after the conclusion of ESE’s comprehensive new school or expansion review process, which is

integrates the CSP subgrant process as described in Sel. Crit. d (1)(i), p. 20. Each new charter

school or substantial expansion that adds grades or a new school in a new community would
receive a base-level grant of up to $500,000. A replication of an existing model serving the same
grades in the same community would receive a base-level grant of up to $300,000, because
curriculum and the educational model have already been successfully developed.

Targeted Incremental Grants: ESE will incentivize the development of high-quality
charter schools that are designed to provide access to and better meet the needs of educationally
disadvantaged students by awarding significantly increased start-up funds (in addition to base
level grants discuss above) for certain design priorities. ESE would provide incremental start-up
funding to charters schools that meet one or both of two types of incentive priorities:

1. Access and Equity. ESE will provide up to 35% (or $175,000) additional CSP grant
funding to those charter schools that either:

a. Commit to backfilling all vacancies through grade 10 in alignment with current

backfilling procedures.’

b. Adopt an explicit mission and educational program designed to:

I. Specifically serve English language learners, or
ii. Specially serve students who are disconnected, over-age and under-credited, or
off-track in their education preparing them for high school graduation;

2. Immediate High Impact. ESE will provide up to 25% (or $125,000) in additional CSP

7 Currently, Massachusetts charter schools are only required to backfill half of the grades that they serve, and high
schools are only required to backfill in grade 9.
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grant funding to those charter schools that quickly provide new, high-quality educational seats to
communities by opening with at least 250 seats in the first year of operation.

Further, ESE expects that both Access & Equity and Immediate High-Impact subgrants
will be highly feasible for most new charter schools in the design phase, and, with the incentive
that the incremental amounts provide, one or both will likely be awarded to most new or
replication schools.

Past CSP grant funds have been key to the successful development and implementation
of high-quality educational options for all students. Notably, the cohort of charter schools
receiving a CSP subgrant from Massachusetts” FY'11-14 award showed significantly better
progress toward achieving proficiency and closing the achievement gap in both English language
arts and mathematics in FY15 than their primary sending districts (Figure 14).

Figure 14. Comparing Progress Toward Proficiency: CSP Recipients vs. Primary Sending

Districts.
CPI"®-ELA
CSP Sending
Subgrantees Districts Avg. difference
Average CPI 86.1 74.0 12.0
CPI - Math
CSP Sending
Subgrantees Districts Avg. difference
Average CPI 82.9 67.9 15.0

Note: N=16. A small number (6) of charter schools that consolidated, were too small to report data anonymously
or were newly opened were not included, even if they received a CSP grant.

Dissemination Grants. In general, dissemination projects that Massachusetts funded in
its last subgrant competition share the following characteristics: strong, deliberately cultivated
partnerships; thoughtful reflection on the applicant school’s best practices to address the needs in
surrounding communities; strategically designed knowledge transfer to sustain impact beyond

the funding period; and ample capacity to carry out the project. Massachusetts has found that

18 Composite Performance Index (CPI) is a metric of school and district performance that demonstrates student
progress toward proficiency. Schools/districts where all students score proficient or advanced receive a score of 100.
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investment and tangible results were more significant when dissemination grants of a larger
dollar amount (and fewer grants), which allowed dedicated resources to be used by our highest
quality and most mature schools for targeted partnerships and collaborations. Therefore, future
dissemination subgrants will follow similar criteria. Two examples of ongoing dissemination
subgrants: Conservatory Lab Charter School has partnered with three Boston schools to
disseminate early literacy integrated units and teaching strategies; and Salem Academy Charter
School has partnered with Salem Public School district to provide professional development to
district school leaders on standards-based instruction. Outcome measures for these subgrant
projects are still in process.
(2) Process for monitoring CSP subgrantees.

ESE’s monitoring of CSP subgrantees is holistically integrated with the comprehensive

charter school accountability process detailed in Comp. Pref. Pr. 1, p. 3. ESE employs a team of

10 professionals covering the areas of accountability, finance and data oversight, access and
equity, and new school/expansion review— most of whom are state funded, to review potential
charter schools, monitor all charter schools, support dissemination of best practices (see Sel. Crit.
e, p. 27), and provide and coordinate the training required for all schools prior to opening and
during initial implementation. Beyond the criteria found in the charter school application,
subgrantees must meet a host of initial benchmarks in order to open as a charter school. (See

Comp. Pref. Pr. 1, p. 3). These criteria, requirements, and training, are all in service to the

school’s planning, designing, and successful realization of a high-quality charter school.

Financially, along with the required financial audit, subgrantees are required to submit a
supplemental Agreed Upon Procedures (AUP) report. Massachusetts continues to enhance the
supplemental AUP. For example, as a result of the most recent 2014 WestEd CSP monitoring
visit, a testing requirement for subgrantees’ inventory tagging system will be added to the AUP.
ESE also conducts standard subgrant-specific monitoring of budgets, expenditures, and

compliance, and requires corrective action as appropriate.
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Selection Criteria (e): Dissemination of Information and Best Practices

(1) ESE as state leader for dissemination and research.

ESE is uniquely-positioned as a reform-oriented state agency with oversight of the K-
12 public education system and deep partnerships with the field and key nonprofit technical
assistance, philanthropic, and research partners™ to serve as a dissemination leader. Those
involved in the efforts say the various reforms represent a promising “third way” in education, a
path that can harness the best practices of charter schools and put them to work at the scale
achieved by district systems and with the community input of locally-run schools.?’ ESE’s
dissemination plan outlined below leverages ESE’s recent reorganization, designed to strengthen
intra-agency collaboration between units, to maximize resources and capacity to identify and
disseminate information on successful charter schools practices, which is also a statutory
mandate of the Commissioner.

Identification of Practices for Dissemination

o ESE has the resources and access to data that will support a comprehensive review
and analysis of both quantitative and qualitative school performance data to identify strong
candidates for dissemination. Our plan includes an annual review of all school and student
performance metrics collected by the agency to identify charter schools disseminators who
exhibit clear indicators of success.?!

o To further identify schools which excel in specific areas of performance described in
our Criteria, ESE will develop a comprehensive rubric to establish clear parameters and
standards of performance to help target charter schools for potential dissemination
partnerships, including those charter schools with the following characteristics: non-existent or

insignificant achievement gaps; strong academic growth in the English language arts,

19 Examples of existing partnerships include: National Center for Time and Learning, Empower Schools, Gates Foundation,
Strategic Grant Partners, MIT’s School Effectiveness and Inequality Initiative and Harvard’s Center for Education Policy
Research.

2 http://commonwealthmagazine.org/back-story/the-third-way-in-education/

2 Currently: (1) at least one successful charter renewal, (2) no conditions or probationary status in the past three years, and (3)
demonstration of overall success within the state’s accountability system.
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mathematics, or science; low attrition rates; high graduation rates and/or program completion;
high persistence rates at post-secondary programs and high college graduation rates; student
demographics reflective of their sending districts; low rates of suspension and rates of
suspensions that reflect no disproportionate trends related to students with disabilities, and
English language learners; and/or high levels of faculty retention and satisfaction.

o Using the annual data reported by charter schools, ESE will augment the identification
of potential disseminators with the qualitative data provided in annual reports, site visit reprts,
and renewal documentation.

o ESE has and will continue to build capacity to perform and support research to identify
promising practices by evaluating the impact of specific practices on student achievement. ESE
will leverage existing research partnerships, and will also establish a specific project partnership
with a third party through a request for proposal process to identify significant relationships
between a school’s results and practices.

o ESE is committed to employing a 0.25 FTE staff member for the purposes of managing
the identification of practices, the dissemination of practices, and the assessment of the
dissemination’s impact on school leaders, educators, and ultimately students.

Dissemination Strateqgies

Massachusetts law and ESE’s structure and practices provide for a number of unique
vehicles that establish incentives for public schools districts to incorporate best practices into
their educational programs. ESE’s dissemination plan will focus on the following strategies:

e Integration of Charter School Best Practices into ESE’s Strategic Priorities:
District and School Turnaround: ESE will continue to leverage the agency’s unique role in
identifying and employing ‘receivers’ to turnaround the lowest performing schools and school
districts. ESE has used its position to good effect; lessons learned in our successful charter
schools have substantially informed ESE’s turnaround work in the lowest-performing schools,
strengthened by partnership between OCSSR and the Office of District and School Turnaround.

Several hallmark best practices first established and honed by the Massachusetts charter school
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sector (e.g. expanded learning time and school-level autonomy over staffing and budget) have
become part of the “DNA” of the state’s approach to school turnaround and are required
elements of state-approved turnaround plans. Successful charter schools identified as
dissemination partners through the processes described above are ideal participants, as either
receivers or development providers, to support the state’s efforts to improve the quality of
education provided to our highest need communities. In receivership situations, ESE looks for
operators who can execute a plan for the academic success of the underperforming school or
district and can establish a positive school climate where effective student discipline takes place.
Educator Effectiveness: ESE will also strengthen collaboration between OCSSR and the Office
of Educator Effectiveness, “* which serves a key function in reviewing and supporting educator
preparation programs and has also developed a number of resources and tools for educators and
local professional development leaders that are accessible via the Department’s website. As part
of our dissemination plan, ESE will publish high-quality professional development case studies
from successful charter schools on the ESE website, with at least one charter school video case
study with ancillary support materials developed per year. In order to provide the broadest
outreach to public schools in Massachusetts, we will also partner with several ESE offices,
including the Office of Digital Learning, to facilitate online and in-person professional
development opportunities based upon the best practices of charter school dissemination
partners, with a priority focus on school climate and student discipline practices.
Social, Emotional and Health Needs of Students: See Sel. Crit. e (2), below.

e Prioritize Dissemination for Charter Schools: To further establish the importance of
dissemination for the charter school sector, ESE will host a regular event to showcase the best
practices of high quality schools working in the design/redesign space, including charter schools,

innovation schools, expanded learning time schools, and turnaround schools. This year’s event is

22 For example, the full year field-based experience at City on a Hill Charter Public School and supervisor training of the Match
Teacher Residency program (a dissemination effort of Match Charter Public School) are highlighted as commendation spotlights
as part of the 2014-2105 ESE Educator Preparation Formal Review Cycle Culmination Report, which is designed to share best
practices to inform the field of educator preparation in Massachusetts. See page 10,
http://www.doe.mass.edu/edprep/resources/2014-15FormalReviewReport.pdf.
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organized around a varied format including information booths, a poster gallery, short
presentations, and thematic panel presentations. Content for the event will be informed by results
from an ESE survey from potential participants. ESE offices focused on supporting public
school districts serving educationally disadvantaged populations, District and School
Turnaround, will be integral participants in the planning and implementation of the event to
ensure the event addresses the needs of their client schools and districts. ESE will also include
charter school developers to support their efforts to develop high quality charter applications in
all areas of the Criteria, and to identify potential partners to support their success.
e Conduct a High-Impact Dissemination Subgrant Competition

ESE proposes to use up to 10 percent of its total CSP grant award to administer another
round of its current high impact charter school dissemination subgrant competition as described
in Sel. Crit. d(ii), p. 23. To maximize impact on student achievement at partner schools, ESE is

requesting two waivers (described in Application Requirement (viii), p. 58) to extend the project

period to 3 years and to allow the state’s highest-performing charter schools to receive a second
dissemination subgrant. ESE’s current process was informed by experience running multiple
previous competitions, and a qualitative, retrospective analysis of the effectiveness and impact of
prior dissemination subgrants awarded in FY2008 through FY2011, conducted by the UMass
Donahue Institute. Key features of the dissemination subgrant process include competitive
preference priorities that align with strategic objectives (such as a focus on practices related to
school climate and student discipline); stringent eligibility criteria (as described above);
extensive outreach to the state’s highest-performing eligible charter schools; and longer and
larger awards (from July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2020 and $500,000 or more to ensure meaningful
dissemination that substantively and sustainably changes educator practice). ESE will conduct
evaluations of funded dissemination projects and student outcomes impacts during the 5th year
of the CSP grant period, resources permitting.

e Increase Access to Information: ESE’s plan for dissemination includes increasing

access to resources on best practices through the ESE website, social media, virtual events, and
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in-person events for public schools and charter school developers. Areas for further development
include:

o Enhancing information available on the charter school website, including profiles of
charter schools that have made dissemination of their best practices an effective and successful
component of their operation. Examples of successful Massachusetts charter schools that have
become almost as well known for their dissemination and partnership efforts as for their success
with students include Match Charter Public School, Neighborhood House Charter School, and
Francis W. Parker Essential Charter School.?

o ESE will include best practices ‘snapshots’ in ESE newsletters that align with the
Criteria and other rubrics for school performance, such as the Turnaround Practices®* used by
ESE’s Office of School and District Turnaround. Snapshots will provide a brief overview of an
identified best practice and its impact on student outcomes with contact information for
exemplary schools for the identified practice. ESE will facilitate quarterly webinars for a more
in-depth explanation and discussion of the ‘snapshot’ practices.

o As described earlier, ESE will host a regular event to showcase the best practices of
high quality schools working in the design/redesign space, including charter schools.

o ESE will integrate dissemination information into our social media strategy, including
the use of the ESE Twitter (@MAschoolsK12) and Teachers Top Three (a biweekly newsletter
sent directly to teachers), to heighten the awareness about best practices and the availablity of
resources.

Assessment of Dissemination Impact

We understand firsthand the challenges of facilitating change in public education. Our
plan provides a number of vehicles to support access to information about best or promising

practices, hard data validating the connection between practices and outcomes, and scaffolding

2 See hitp://www.matcheducation.org/, http://www:.thenhcs.org/our-school/leadership-in-the-field/, and
http://imww.theparkerschool.org/pages/Francis_W__Parker_Charter_Esse/Sizer_Teachers_Center/Sizer_Teacher_Center

2% See http://www.mass.gov/edu/government/departments-and-boards/ese/programs/accountability/support-for-level-3-4-and-5-
districts-and-schools/school-and-district-turnaround/turnaround-in-massachusetts/turnaround-and-emerging-practices-
reports.html
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for educators who wish to take on the hard work of improving public education for their
communities. As stated earlier, ESE will establish a partnership with a third party to identify best
practices of successful charter schools and assess the effectiveness of our dissemination
strategies on the schools and districts who engage with and adopt new practices as a result of
dissemination. In addition, we intend to deploy surveys to dissemination partners, participants in
dissemination events, as well as those that use tools and resources on the ESE website to provide
an immediate assessment of the likelihood for implementation as well as perceived obstacles. In
our assessment of our success, we will continue to ask the field about the obstacles to student
success for their schools and districts and develop dissemination strategies and partnerships that
address those unique challenges.

(2) Plan for disseminating about student discipline and school climate.

ESE has prioritized the identification of charter schools which excel at supporting student
success through positive school climate and effective student discipline. ESE’s plans to identify
charter schools that have a clearly articulated approach to establishing a positive and healthy
school climate, and that limit the use of exclusionary discipline practices through the use of other
intentional strategies designed to promote student reflection and ownership for behavior.
The ability of ESE to disseminate information and research on best or promising practices in
charter schools related to student discipline and school climate is significantly strengthened by a
recent ESE reorganization that sites OCCSR within a newly-created Center for Educational
Options, alongside the agency’s Office of Student and Family Support, which is charged with
supporting the creation of safe and supportive learning environments and the implementation of
the state’s new discipline law.?®> One key goal of the reorganization was to better position ESE
resources to deliver on the overall strategic goal of supporting the social, emotional, and health
needs of students and families. The best practices of charter schools in student discipline and

school climate will be a key component of this strategic work, with additional incentive for

% The Center for Educational Options is led by Senior Associate Commissioner Cliff Chuang, who will leverage deep and
longstanding strong relationships with charter school leaders and district superintendents to facilitate this cross-sector sharing.
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thoughtful consideration of such practices in the context of new expectations established by the
state’s new discipline law. Additionally, ESE is continuing its long-standing research partnership
with MIT’s School Effectiveness and Inequality Initiative, which will be focusing on discipline
practices and their impact on outcomes in the next phase of research.

ESE has already performed a differential and comparative analysis of student discipline
data to identify several charter schools with promising discipline practices due to legal changes
in 2014 to the state’s expectations for discipline practices and required discipline reporting. ESE
will integrate its current technical assistance efforts related to student discipline into the broader
dissemination plan.

Selection Criteria (f): Oversight of Public Chartering Agencies.

1) Quality of Plan for Oversight. Important Note: As noted previously, in Massachusetts, the
SEA (BESE and its administrative arm, ESE) itself is the sole public chartering agency in
Massachusetts. Accordingly, the “SEA’s plan to monitor, evaluate, assist, and hold accountable
public chartering agencies” and “the quality of the SEA’s plan to provide oversight to authorized
public chartering agencies” required for this Selection Criteria is directly predicated on the actions of

ESE/BESE as an authorizer itself and self-oversight/monitoring/evaluation practices, as described in

Comp. Pref. Pr.1, p. 3. The responses to this Selection Criteria are therefore focused on the
nationally-recognized, high-quality authorizing practices and policies of ESE/BESE, and may cross-
reference previous portions of this application where these have already been discussed.

(i) Design Elements. ESE’s plan to ensure that charter schools are founded on evidence-
based school models and practices that meet the needs of racially diverse and educationally
disadvantaged students is found in both the application process and the accountability system,
both derived from Massachusetts charter school statute and regulations (App. 1 and 2).
Developers applying to open a charter school are required to anticipate the population of students
the school will serve and to include explicit research citations in their application to demonstrate
that the proposed educational program will result in high academic achievement for those

students. See, Application for a Massachusetts Public Charter School: Proposed
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Commonwealth or Horace Mann Charter School By New Operator 2016-2017 (App. 6).

Developers applying to open a charter school are also required to submit a recruitment and
retention policy that includes deliberate, specific strategies the school will use to attract, enroll,
and retain a student population that is demographically comparable to similar grades in districts
from which the charter school enrolls students. Demographic groups that must be included in all
recruitment and retention plans include: limited English proficient, special education, free lunch,

26

and reduced-price lunch students“"~, as well as those who are sub-proficient on the MCAS, at risk

of dropping out of school, have dropped out of school, or other at-risk students who should be

targeted to eliminate achievement gaps.

The second element of ESE’s plan for ensuring fidelity to its chosen evidence-based
programming is its accountability system. The components of Massachusetts charter school

accountability are more fully described in Sel. Crit.f (2)(ii), p. 39. Evidence of faithful

implementation of the evidence-based academic program proposed in the charter application, as
well as recruitment and retention plans, are critical to decisions to renew (or not to renew)
charters or to place schools on probation or conditions, as well as to take interim formal
measures for schools that are substantially out of compliance during the term of their charters.
All charter schools on conditions or probation are published on ESE’s website with the
justification for their status until corrected.

Finally, ESE, as the Board’s administrative arm for charter schools, is subject to public
audit for adherence to laws, regulations and policies and by statute must submit a report annually
to the Massachusetts Legislature on students enrolled in charter schools:

The commissioner shall collect data on the racial, ethnic and socio-economic

make-up of the student enrollment of each charter school in the commonwealth.

The commissioner shall also collect data on the number of students enrolled in

each charter school who have individual education plans pursuant to chapter 71B

% please note: The Department has a new metric, called Economically Disadvantaged. Please see here for information:
http://www.doe.mass.edu/infoservices/data/ed.html
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and those requiring English language learners programs under chapter 71A. The

commissioner shall file said data annually with the clerks of the house and senate

and the joint committee on education not later than December 1.

Mass. Gen. Laws, ch. 71, 8 89(kk) (App. 1).

(i) Establishing Measureable Performance Expectations. ESE’s accountability system
is guided by protocols, systems, and structures all designed to hold all Massachusetts charter
schools to the highest standards of performance. There are rigorous expectations for charter
school performance in the three guiding areas of charter school accountability: academic
program success, organizational viability, and faithfulness to charter.

Expectations for academic program success for each charter school are set by specific
objectives that are aligned to the Massachusetts school and district accountability and assistance
system, which has been in place since 2012 when Massachusetts received a waiver of certain No
Child Left Behind requirements. The accountability system measures each school’s and district’s
progress toward reducing proficiency gaps by half between the 2010-11 and 2016-17 school
years for all students and up to eleven subgroups, including educationally disadvantaged
students.?” All schools are assigned one of five accountability and assistance levels:

Figure 15. Massachusetts Accountability and Assistance Levels.

Commendation High-achieving, high-growth, gap narrowing schools (Subset of Level 1)

Level 1 Meeting gap narrowing goals (for all and educationally disadvantaged students)

Level 2 Not meeting gap narrowing goals (for all and/or educationally disadvantaged students)
Level 3 Lowest performing 20% of schools (Including lowest performing subgroups)

Level 4 Lowest performing schools (subset of Level 3)

Level 5 Chronically underperforming schools (subset of Level 4)

Accountability Plans: Additionally, in order to track a school’s progress toward meeting

its unigue mission, each charter school must submit an Accountability Plan prior to the start of

its second year of operation that is clear, rigorous, and measurable. Using ESE’s Accountability

%" The educationally disadvantaged category is defined as an unduplicated count of all students in a school or district belonging to
at least one of the following individual subgroups: students with disabilities, English language learners (ELL) and former ELL
students, or low income students, mirroring the federal definition of educationally disadvantaged.
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Plan Guidelines, (App. 9), each charter school develops objectives and measures for
demonstrating achievement of its mission and key design elements. The plan must receive ESE
approval, and progress toward the plan’s objectives must be included in its annual report.

Alternative Charter Schools Performance Expectations: Massachusetts has 5 charter high
schools that serve alternative populations that are at risk for dropping out or not graduating high
school or for which standard metrics do not present a complete measure of success. The
alternative schools are expected to adhere to the Accountability Plan guidance to create draft
measures in academic areas and must work with the ESE to ensure that measures are valid,
reliable, and the best fit for the school’s unique program. Both the ESE and the charter school are
guided by NACSA’s report, Anecdotes Aren s Enough,?®about articulating high-quality measures
for schools serving alternative populations.

Note: Massachusetts does not have pre-school or virtual charter schools.

(iii) Providing Annual Public Performance Reports. ESE provides annual reporting for each
charter school, summarizing the school’s academic performance and identifying areas that need
improvement through publicly available annual report cards provided on ESE’s website (see

App. 10 for a sample report card). As described above, ESE has aligned its criteria for student
performance for charter schools with the statewide accountability system, which also reports on
federal ESEA-required statistics, including: student enrollment and teacher qualifications, absolute
student achievement, academic growth, graduation rates, dropout rates, and each school’s progress
toward narrowing proficiency gaps for various subgroups of students.

In addition to these reporting tools, the OCCSR has developed tools specifically designed
to deliver charter performance data in timely, public and easily accessible visual formats. These
two reporting tools provide the public with key information, updated annually:

1. Financial Dashboard,?which comprehensively reports financial performance data

using readily accessible, color-coded ratings on key indicators of financial health.

2 http://www.qualitycharters.org/2013/10/anecdotes-arent-enough/. Cliff Chuang and Alison Bagg of the OCSSR contributed to
this paper.
2 http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/finance/dashboard/
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2. Charter Analysis Review Tool (CHART).® This innovative tool, available on ESE’s

website, provides multi-school, multi-year demographic comparison data in three

categories:
1. Enrollment percentages by subgroup.

2. Attrition percentages by grade level and subgroup.

3. Student indicator statistics, including suspensions.
CHART comprehensively displays this data through charter-to-traditional public school
comparisons (Figure 16), assisting charter schools to monitor progress with their recruitment and
retention plans — specific strategies to attract, enroll, and retain a student population
demographically comparable to schools from which the charter school draws students. Charter
school data is graphed against comparable schools in its region, including the median and first
quartile of comparison schools and the state average. For enroliment demographic indicators,
where possible, a statistically-derived "Comparison Index" is also graphed to account for the
charter school’s size and fluctuations in student populations, along with a "Gap Narrowing
Target," which provides a reference point for progress in closing achievement gaps over time.

Figure 16. Sample CHART Graph: English Language Learners

Bridge Boston Charter School - Boston - Est. 2011 (Max Grade Span - PK-8)

ENROLLMENT - ELL

English Language Learners
% Enrolled

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Charter Schoal 113 17.8 233 33.7 36.9
Statewide Average 7.3 7.7 7.9 8.5 9.0
Boston (District) 30.6 30.7 29.9 23.8 30.3
Grades served per yesr PK-K PK-1 PK-2 PK-3 P-4

Percent %

Median 28.0 27.2 27.0 26.6 26.6
First Quartile 16.4 15.5 16.6 17.1 17.0
Comparison Index 221 2.7 26.9 23.3 26.4
Gap Narrowing Target (GNT) 113 12.6 13.8 15.1 16.3

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

w— Charter School Statewide Avg == District Median First Quartile = Comparison Index GNT  sessComp. Charter Schools Comp. District Schools

(iv) Supporting Charter School Autonomy. Massachusetts received the highest score
possible in the area of “Fiscally and Legally Autonomous Schools with Independent Public

Charter School Boards” in the most recent report by The National Alliance of Public Charter

%0 http:/Aww.doe.mass.edu/charter/finance/chart/
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Schools.** The entire statutory scheme creating charter schools (App. 1) is premised upon
granting autonomy in exchange for increased accountability. Massachusetts charter schools
have the freedom to organize around a core mission, curriculum, theme, and/or teaching method
or educational program, as well as to control their own budgets, grade configurations, and size,
rules of governance, facilities, transportation, and staffing. (For more on autonomies and
flexibilities, see Sel. Crit. g (1), p. 45). In return for these freedoms, charter schools must
demonstrate success by meeting the terms of their charters or performance contracts or face
probation, conditions, or possible revocation or nonrenewal of their charters. (see discussion of

accountability system, Sel. Crit. f (2)(ii), p. 39).

(2)(i) Seeking and Approving High-Quality Charter Schools. Massachusetts’ strategies to
recruit and approve applications from developers that have the capacity to create high-quality
charter schools, especially those serving educationally disadvantaged students:

1) Targeted recruitment of successful charter school operators. ESE encourages charter
school operators with a track record of success to consider applying to replicate in the state’s
lowest performing school districts.

2) Supporting and training of new charter developers. ESE performs nine information
sessions annually for prospective operators. At least half of the sessions each year take place in
the state’s highest need districts, where charter growth will increase access for educationally
disadvantaged students.

3) Increasing capacity of charter developers through high-quality partnerships. ESE
maintains close relationships with numerous national organizations with a record of operating or
supporting high-quality schools. ESE supports partnerships between these organizations and
novice charter applicant groups to facilitate development of the capacity of motivated, new
operators to establish high-quality charter schools.

4) Ensuring developer capacity through rigorous application process. As described in

31 http://www.publiccharters.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Model-Law-Final 2016.pdf
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Comp. Pref. Pr. 1, p. 3, all applicant groups must establish sufficient evidence of their capacity to
found a high-quality school through their charter application, a capacity interview with ESE
staff, and the public comment period and hearing.

5) Proven provider status required for applicant groups intending to serve
educationally disadvantaged students. Each applicant group or its identified partner
organization seeking to establish a charter school in one of the 29 lowest performing districts is
required to demonstrate sufficient prior experience establishing a successful school serving a
similar student population. ESE requires at least three years of academic results showing that all
students and one or more educationally disadvantaged student subgroups met or exceeded
statewide averages based on statewide achievement tests. Annual student attendance, retention
rates, graduation rates, student attrition and discipline practices are also considered. In addition,
ESE examines the school’s success in enrolling and retaining a student population similar to its

sending districts.

(it) Monitoring and Conducting In-depth Reviews. ESE monitors charter schools on an
annual basis and conducts in-depth review of each charter school at least once every five years.
The parameters for each are articulated in Massachusetts” Guide to Charter School
Accountability (App 13). The Charter School Performance Criteria (App. 4), found in Figure 17,
are at the center of the Massachusetts charter school accountability system; they set rigorous
expectations for charter school performance in the three guiding areas of accountability:
academic program success, organizational viability, and faithfulness to charter. First developed
in 2005, with subsequent major revisions in 2010, 2013, and 2015, the Criteria:

e describe the expectations for all aspects of charter school accountability, from the

application process to the renewal process;

e provide charter schools with clear guidance about how BESE, ESE and the
Commissioner define their success and on what basis each will be evaluated; and,
e clarify the connections between Massachusetts charter school accountability and

additional state and federal accountability standards.
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ESE regularly evaluates each school against the Criteria using quantitative and/or

qualitative data and affirmative evidence compiled over the course of the school's charter term.

Figure 17. Massachusetts Charter School Performance Criteria.

Massachusetts Charter School Performance Criteria

Rating

1. Mission and Key Design Elements: The school is faithful to its mission, implements the
- key design elements outlined in its charter, and substantially meets its accountability plan
£ goals.
=
© | 2. Access and Equity: The school ensures program access and equity for all students
p eligible to attend the school.
(5]
= | 3. Compliance: The school compiles a record of compliance with the terms of its charter
£ and applicable state and federal laws and regulations.
©
Y | 4. Dissemination: The school provides innovative models for replication and best practices
to other public schools in the district where the charter school is located.

5. Student Performance: The school consistently meets state student performance
standards for academic growth, proficiency, and college and career readiness.

2 Curriculum

g

=] N

© | 6. Program Delivery: The school delivers an academic Instruction

g program that provides improved academic outcomes and Assessment and

£ educational success for all students. Program Evaluation
é Supports for Diverse
g Learners

2 - -

7. Culture and Family Engagement: The school supports Social, Emotional and
students’ social and emotional health in a safe and Health Needs
respectful learning environment that engages families. Family Engagement

School Leadership

> 8. Capacity: The school sustains a well-functioning Professional Climate
= organizational structure and creates a professional C |
8 working climate for all staff. ontractua
> Relationships (If
§ applicable)
§ 9. Governance: Members of the board of trustees act as public agents authorized by the
§ state and provide competent and appropriate governance to ensure the success and
5 sustainability of the school.

10. Finance: The school maintains a sound and stable financial condition and operates in a

financially sound and publicly accountable manner.

charter school’s performance against the Criteria in Figure 17, including the detailed key

indicators (App. 7). Additional details regarding how this scale is used are outlined in in the
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Charter School Site Visit Protocol (App. 14), the Charter School Renewal Inspection Protocol

(App. 15), and the Guide to Charter School Accountability (App. 13).

Figure 18: Rating Scale Facilitates Clear Communication About Charter School
Performance.

Rating Description

Exceeds The school fully and consistently meets the criterion and is a potential exemplar in this area.

Meets The school generally meets the criterion and/or minor concern(s) are noted.
Partially .
v The school meets some aspects of the criterion but not others and/or moderate concern(s) are noted.
eets
Falls Far L o
- The school falls far below the criterion and/or significant concern(s) are noted.
elow

ESE annually monitors the academic performance, financial health, faithfulness to charter (the
promises and obligations of each charter school), and the adherence to access and equity policies
using the following tools and practices:

1) Monitoring Financial Performance. Charter schools are required to undergo an annual
independent financial audit and to submit the results to ESE along with an end-of-year financial
report that provides specific details of their expenses. ESE uses this data to monitor each charter
school’s overall financial health and areas of potential risk, and annually reports each charter
school’s financial performance in a public, comprehensive Financial Dashboard (App. 11).

2) Monitoring Faithfulness to Charter. The charter accountability process considers
evidence of each school’s progress toward attaining its Accountability Plan objectives and

measures. An overview of the Accountability Plan is found in Sel. Crit. f (1)(ii), p. 35.

3) Monitoring Access and Equity. OCSSR annually posts the Charter Analysis and Review
Tool (CHART) (Sel. Crit. f (1)(iii), p. 36), which provides multi-school, multi-year demographic

comparisons for each charter school in three categories: enrollment percentages by subgroup;
attrition percentages by grade level and subgroup; and student indicator statistics, including
suspensions.

4) Site Visits to Corroborate Progress. ESE has a rigorous, systematic, and differentiated
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process for conducting regular on-site reviews of charter schools depending on their age and
level of performance. Each new school receives an ESE site visit during the first, second, and
fifth year of its charter term and sometimes during the third and/or fourth years as well. In
subsequent charter terms, if performance expectations are met, the frequency of visits is reduced,
with each school receiving at least one visit sometime during years two, three, or four and an in-
depth renewal site visit in the fifth year of its charter term. Site visit teams are comprised of
individuals with educational expertise and are in most instances led by an ESE staff member.
The primary purpose of site visits is to corroborate and augment the information contained in a
school’s most recent annual report, especially its stated progress relative to the school’s
accountability plan performance objectives, and to gather evidence about school performance
relative to the standards articulated in the performance Criteria. Of ESE’s current portfolio of 96
school campuses, ESE performed site visits at over 50% during the 2015-16 school year.

5) Charter Renewal Process. Every charter school undergoes a renewal process during the
final year of its charter term to determine whether or not the school should continue to operate.
This in-depth review is outlined in ESE’s Application for Renewal of a Public School Charter
(App. 16) and the Charter School Renewal Inspection Protocol (App. 15). The renewal process
includes the school’s submission of a renewal application, a renewal inspection visit, and
consideration of all evidence related to the charter school's performance collected through ESE’s
charter school accountability process both at the time of renewal and during the five years of the
charter (see, the Commissioner’s memorandum, Considerations for Charter School Renewal,
App. 5). The Criteria provide the lens of inquiry for the charter renewal process and set the
standards for a successful renewal. The resulting analysis is captured in a summary of review,
which contains ratings (Falls Far Below, Partially Meets, Meets, or Exceeds) of the school’s
performance against each of the ten Criteria, along with objective evidence to support each of
the ratings, such as: a determination of whether or not the school has met the measures contained
in its Accountability Plan; an assessment of the school’s compliance with applicable State and

Federal laws; a summary of the school’s academic performance over the charter term; and a
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financial dashboard summarizing fiscal viability. The Commissioner’s recommendation
regarding renewal is presented to BESE. The charter of the school is then either renewed,
renewed with conditions, or not renewed for another five-year term.

(iii) Using Data for Renewal and Revocation Decisions. Increases in student academic
achievement are one of the most important factors in renewal decisions. Massachusetts General
Law c. 71, § 89(dd), states that "when deciding on charter renewal, the board [of Elementary and
Secondary Education] shall consider progress made in student academic achievement..." As noted
in the Commissioner’s memorandum, Considerations for Charter School Renewal (App.

5), ESE and the Commissioner use "increases in student academic achievement for all groups of
students described in Section 1111(b)(2)(C)(v) of the ESEA as the most important factor when
determining to renew or revoke a school'’s charter."

As described above, ESE’s renewal decisions are made by assessing all evidence of a
school’s performance over the charter term in light of the material terms of its charter, Charter
School Performance Criteria (Criteria), and the school’s Accountability Plan. Every charter
school undergoes a renewal process during the fifth and final year of its charter term, as outlined
in ESE’s Application for Renewal of a Public School Charter (App. 16) and in the Charter
School Renewal Inspection Protocol (App. 15).

Because renewal is a summative decision determining a school’s continued existence,
ESE endeavors to clearly communicate concerns to schools prior to renewal, including those
related to academic success. As noted above, ESE provides feedback to schools through the
regular accountability process, including the review of annual data and site visits. When
concerns rise to a level requiring more serious and direct oversight, ESE, the Commissioner, and
BESE consider imposing conditions or probation on a charter school, which unequivocally
identify those areas that must improve.

As the sole authorizer, ESE has revoked, non-renewed, or encouraged the voluntary
termination of charters held by academically poor-performing charter schools. Massachusetts’

charter school statute and regulations (App. 1 and 2) set clear criteria for revoking a charter or
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instituting conditions or probation:

The board may revoke a school’s charter if the school has not fulfilled any

conditions imposed by the board in connection with the grant of the charter or the

school has violated any provision of its charter. The board may place conditions

on a charter or may place a charter school on a probationary status to allow the

implementation of a remedial plan after which, if said plan is unsuccessful, the

charter may be summarily revoked.

M.G.L. c. 71, 8 89(ee) (App. 1).

By law, BESE may suspend or revoke a charter for cause including, but not limited to:
(1) lack of evidence of academic success;(2) failure to comply substantially with the terms of the
charter, with any of the applicable provisions of [the charter school statute], or with any other
applicable law or regulation; (3) a material misrepresentation in the application for approval or
renewal of the charter; (4) financial insolvency; (5) misappropriation, conversion,
mismanagement, or illegal withholding of funds or refusal to pay any funds that belong to any
person otherwise entitled thereto and that have been entrusted to the charter school or its
administrators in their fiduciary capacities; (6) fraud or gross mismanagement on the part of
charter school administrators or board of trustees, including but not limited to, mismanagement
of the educational program and failure to provide a healthy and safe environment for students;
(7) criminal convictions on the part of the charter school administration or members of its board
of trustees; or (8) failure to fulfill any conditions imposed by the Board in connection with the
grant or renewal of a charter (603 CMR 1.12, App. 2).

Short of revocation or nonrenewal, BESE or the Commissioner may impose conditions
on a school's charter for violations of law, failure to make progress with student achievement,
failure to adhere to and enhance its recruitment and retention plan, failure to comply with the
terms of its charter, or failure to remain fiscally or operationally viable (603 CMR 1.12(1), App.
2). If a school fails to address conditions adequately, or if the imposition of a condition alone

would be insufficient to remediate the problem, the Commissioner may recommend that BESE
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place a school on probation. For particularly serious or egregious circumstances, such as criminal
violations, fraud, an unsafe environment, or organizational instability, BESE has the power to
close a school immediately or revoke a school's charter prior to the end of its term on an
emergency basis. ESE sets out a clear process for conducting a closure in its Charter School
Closing Procedures (App. 17).%

(iv) Ensuring the continued accountability of charter schools during statewide
transitions. ESE will ensure accountability during the transition to the new statewide assessment
system by defining concordance between current and future assessments to allow for meaningful
comparison of results. Massachusetts is in the process of moving from its current statewide
achievement test, the Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS) to MCAS 2.0.
The accountability of charter schools will not be affected by this transition because the state’s
charter statute and regulations mandate that charter school accountability decisions must
continue, and ESE will continue to use the totality of the evidence available to support such
decisions. ESE will also continue to offer professional learning opportunities and technical
assistance sessions to facilitate a successful shift to MCAS 2.0 for all schools, including charter
schools. These sessions will be targeted toward both ESE staff and to all school leaders, teachers,
and instructional staff throughout the state and always include charter schools.

Selection Criteria (a): Policy Context for Charter Schools.
(1) The degree of flexibility afforded to charter schools under the state law.

Charter school boards of trustees are granted ““all of the powers necessary or desirable for
carrying out its charter program.” Mass. Gen. Laws, ch. 71, 889(k) (App. 1). Confirming that
Massachusetts charters fully exercise these statutory autonomies, the National Alliance for
Public Charter Schools in its 2015 report, Measuring up to the Model: A Ranking of State
Charter School Laws * shows that Massachusetts is one of the leading states for fiscally and

legally autonomous schools with independent public charter boards.

32 http://mww.doe. mass.edu/charter/acct.html?section=closing
3 http://www.publiccharters.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/model law 2015.pdf
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Importantly, Massachusetts law ensures that charter school boards of trustees are afforded
complete autonomy to control their funds. ESE respects the fiscal autonomy of charter schools,
having no involvement in the regular day-to-day management of funds, but monitors a charter
school’s overall fiscal health annually by collecting independently audited financial reports.

Massachusetts charter schools also have the legal and business powers necessary to
operate independently: they can acquire or lease real estate to be used as school facilities;
contract for services, equipment, and supplies, as well as borrow money. They are also exempt
from public procurement laws and granted protections in certain lawsuits. A commonwealth
charter school’s teachers are not subject to union contracts for the district in which the school
resides, leaving charter schools free to negotiate their own staff contracts.*

Finally, charter schools are given both the space and the encouragement to innovate. As
independent LEAs, they are expressly freed of restrictions that shape operations and educational
programs at traditional district public schools. Charter schools have the freedom to organize
around a core mission, curriculum, theme, and/or teaching method or educational program,® as
well as to control the school’s budget, grade configuration and size, rules of governance,
facilities, transportation, and staffing. In return for these freedoms, charter schools are held to a
higher degree of accountability than their traditional district counterparts and must demonstrate

success or face adverse consequences at the end of their five-year charter. Along with these

* Horace Mann charter schools are an exception to contractual autonomy described here. In Massachusetts, a
developer may elect at its discretion a Horace Mann charter school model, which operates in-district, and therefore
must obtain local school committee approval and BESE authorization of its charter. In some cases Horace Mann
charter schools must receive approval from the local collective bargaining unit, although this requirement is optional
for new Horace Mann charter schools. While a Horace Mann’s teachers remain part of the local collective
bargaining unit and must receive at least the same salary and benefits as teachers in other district schools, the law
expressly allows Horace Mann charter schools a process to modify collective bargaining provisions that inhibit
operational flexibility. With the exception of contractual autonomy and some differences in how a Horace Mann
charter school receives its funds, it is operated by an independent board of trustees and is granted all other
autonomies described above. Of the 96 charter schools operating in 2015-2016, only 10 are Horace Mann charter
schools.
¥ Massachusetts charter schools have taken full advantage of these freedoms to organize around myriad missions,
including: Montessori methods, rigorous college preparation, expanded learning schedules, arts-infused curriculum,
Chinese immersion curriculum, intensive math and science curriculum, and alternative pathways to high-school
graduation, among many others, forwarding the statutory objective for charter schools to “stimulate the development
of innovative programs within public education.” M.G.L. c. 71, 8 89 (b) App. 1).
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autonomies, as both public and educational institutions, charter schools remain answerable to the
state for essentials of good governance and compliance with all laws governing educational
quality and safety.

(2) Annual information about federal funds and commensurate share.

As outlined below, ESE has specific protocols and support structures in program units
and throughout the agency to ensure that annually, each charter in Massachusetts is informed
about and receives its commensurate share of Federal funds. Additionally, OCSSR provides
support to other program offices and coordination with each charter school to ensure timely
disbursement of the appropriate funds. Specific support structures are:

1. Central Grant Resource. ESE’s Grants Management webpage®® provides all relevant
information about accessing federal funds, including how to submit proposals, allocation
amounts, and all program guidelines for obtaining and administering grant funds. Charter school
leaders are updated regularly when new grant information is posted to this webpage.

2. Technical Assistance to Charter Schools Highlights Federal Grant Opportunities. To
ensure that each charter school is informed of the full array of federal funds and programs
available to them, OCSSR conducts a full-day orientation for charter school administrators each
fall intended for personnel new to a charter school (even if the charter school itself has been in
operation for many years) with a strand for finance personnel, and provides specific finance
trainings as part of opening procedures for new charter schools.

3. OCSSR as Liaison for Federal Grant Contacts. On an ongoing basis, OCSSR’s
Coordinator of Finance and Data (who also serves as the CSP Project Director) along with the
Access and Equity team serve as a resource for schools with questions about accessing and
administering federal funds allocated by ESE. OCSSR routinely links charter school leaders with
program officers within ESE to ensure that charter school leaders are receiving necessary

information to access state and federal programs and funding. The CSP Project Director also

% http://www.doe.mass.edu/Grants/
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uses OCSSR’s website and a charter leader/business manager listserv as tools to update schools
about deadlines and submission requirements for ESE-administered federal programs.

4. OCSSR Facilitates Timely Disbursement of Federal Grant Funds to Charter Schools.
To ensure that all new and significantly expanding charter schools receive their commensurate
share of federal funds in a timely manner, OCSSR coordinates program units within ESE.
OCSSR provides enrollment projection data for charter schools, including those anticipating
significant expansions, to the appropriate program units within ESE so that charter school
allocations for the next school year will be based on projected current-year figures as required by
federal regulations. These projections are adjusted once actual enrollment figures are available
the following fall/winter. The OCSSR has also ensured that ESE grant program units have
procedures for new or significantly expanding charter schools to allow these schools to receive
their commensurate share of IDEA entitlement funds in the year of opening or expansion.

In addition to receiving all federal entitlement funds, such as Title I, IDEA special
education grants, federal nutrition and Medicaid reimbursements, charter schools in
Massachusetts have successfully competed for federal discretionary grants administered by ESE.
For example, 43 charter schools participated in the Race to the Top initiative.

(3) Compliance with IDEA and civil rights laws.

All charter schools in Massachusetts are LEAs and are required to comply with IDEA
and all other federal civil rights laws (M.G.L., c. 71, 889 (m,s), App. 1). Massachusetts has built
numerous checks into its chartering and monitoring structure to hold charter school accountable
for full compliance. Charter school application criteria require each applicant to include a
complete description of the processes and procedures that the proposed school will employ to
identify, assess, and serve students who are English language learners and/or in need of special
education services, which becomes part of the school’s charter if the application is successful.
Charter school developers must also sign assurances as part of their applications that bind each to
compliance with all laws, federal and state, pertaining to students who are English language

learners and students with disabilities (specifically listing the Individuals with Disabilities
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Education Act, section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1974, and Title Il of the Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and the Equal Educational
Opportunities Act of 1974), as well as the federal Age Discrimination Act and Title 1X of the
Education Amendments of 1972 (see, Application for a Massachusetts Public Charter School:
Proposed Commonwealth or Horace Mann Charter School by a New Operator: 2016-2017
(App. 6)). All successful charter applicants then must submit extensive policies and procedures
plans for both English language learners and students with disabilities that are compliant with
state and federal law and regulations prior to opening. Once opened, charter schools submit
annual reports to the OCSSR that include deliberate, specific strategies used by the school to
recruit and retain limited English proficient students and students receiving special education,
among other subgroups of students identified by law. Charter school performance with respect to
recruitment and retention is part of the evidence forming the basis of subsequent charter renewal
decisions.

ESE’s OCSSR also has a dedicated Access and Equity (A&E) team, whose members
have specialized knowledge about civil rights laws, special education, and English language
learners (see, e.g., OCSSR’s Massachusetts Primer on Special Education and Charter Schools,*’

http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/sped/primer_sl.pdf, with an entire section on federal law).

A&E staff members are deeply involved in the review of charter applications to ensure that
charter school developers have the expertise and capacity necessary to serve a diverse student
body effectively in compliance with federal IDEA and civil rights laws. Once a school is
chartered, A&E staff provide required trainings on state and federal compliance through the
Opening Procedures process, as well as during its first year of operation to check on initial
implementation and to perform student records reviews to provide formative feedback. A&E
team members participate in all charter school accountability site visits, as well, gathering

evidence on implementation of plans for identification and serving students with diverse learning

37 http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/sped/primer_sl.pdf
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needs, which becomes part of the body of evidence for charter renewal decisions.

In addition to OCSSR’s oversight, as LEAs, charter schools are monitored for
compliance with federal and state laws by ESE’s Program Quality Assurance (PQA) unit on a 6-
year cycle, like all other school districts, though the comprehensive Coordinated Program
Review (CPR)® process beginning in the charter school’s second year. During the CPR, a PQA
team conducts a comprehensive review of special education policies, procedures, and staff, and
results in mandatory corrective action for any deficiency. Massachusetts’ authorizing practices in
the area of special education and civil rights are frequently referenced as a model nationally at
both national conferences and in print media,*® and ESE is a founding member of the National
Center for Special Education in Charter Schools Equity Coalition.

APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS

Application Requirement (i): Disseminating best practices

Please see Sel. Crit. e for the response to this requirement.

Application Requirement (ii): Federal funds

Please see Sel. Crit. g (2) for the response to this requirement.

Application Requirement (iii): IDEA Compliance

Please see Sel. Crit. g (3) for the response to this requirement.

Application Requirement (iv): Logic model

The theory of action of the Massachusetts CSP Project is based on the seamless
integration of ESE’s overall state strategy, incorporating a rigorous charter school authorization
processes with stable and dependable federal CSP funding to support creation of high-quality
school seats and collaboration with districts to yield improved student outcomes for students in

charter schools and throughout the state.

%8 http://www.doe.mass.edu/pga/review/cpr/

%9 http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2014/12/05/mystery-parents-test-charters-enrollment-of-spec.html and
http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/charterschoice/2015/10/charter_school_enrollment_policies fuel discussion_debate_at_national
authorizer _meeting.html
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Figure 19: Logic model
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climate/culture, including - : p Y €ach project.
effective famil ’en agement high-quality performance
strateqies Yy engag for all charter schools and all
gles. students, especially new,
4. Award dissemination expanding and replicating

subgrants.

charter schools.
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Application Requirement (v): Lottery and enrollment preferences

Massachusetts comprehensively regulates enrollment procedures,*® which shall not
discriminate as defined by state and federal law, and requires neutral, transparent lotteries. ESE
assures that it will require each applicant for a CSP subgrant to include, in its application,
descriptions of its recruitment and admissions policies and practices, since all charter schools
applicants’ enrollment policies are evaluated by ESE as part of the charter application review.
Once approved, these policies may only be amended with approval of ESE’s Commissioner. The
regulations recognize limited lottery preferences: 1) In the case of Commonwealth charters — for
siblings of existing charter school students and for students residing in the community that the
charter school serves; and 2) for Horace Mann charters — additional preferences are given in the
school’s initial lottery to students attending the school that was subsequently converted and their
siblings, as well as students attending school in the Horace Mann charter’s district.

Application Requirement (vi): Objectives

This section should be read in tandem with the Logic Model, Application Requirement (iv).

The following project-specific performance objectives are designed to help reach the CSP
objectives and performance measures by increasing the number of high-quality charter school
seats and schools, as well as insuring sufficient capacity to reach high levels of performance for
all students, including proficiency on statewide mathematics and ELA achievement tests.

Project Objective 1: Increase the number of high-quality school seats in Massachusetts,

especially for educationally disadvantaged students.

Because charter schools are part of an overall state strategy to improve educational
outcomes for students, the focus of the Massachusetts CSP project is on the creation of high-
quality school seats, which can be achieved 1) through the launch of new charter school as well
as 2) the replication or expansion of currently operating high-performing charter schools.

Massachusetts will achieve this objective through the following activities:

40 http://www.doe.mass.edu/lawsregs/603cmrl.html?section=05
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Activity 1: Quickly award post-charter planning and implementation grants to all newly
authorized or substantially expanding charter schools in Massachusetts.

Federal CSP grant funds are key to the successful development and implementation of
new, high-quality educational options. Massachusetts will provide CSP start-up subgrants to
each new charter school or substantial expansion of an existing charter school (as described in

Waiver Request 4) approved by BESE upon the successful conclusion of ESE’s comprehensive

new-school or expansion review process, which is integrated with the CSP subgrant process as
described in Sel. Crit. d (1)).

Activity 2: Provide significantly increased post-charter planning and implementation grant
awards for applicants that meet specific design priorities related to educationally
disadvantaged students

ESE will incentivize the development of high-quality charter schools that are designed to

provide access to and better meet the needs of educationally disadvantaged students by awarding
significantly increased start-up funds (in addition to base-level grants discuss above) for charters
that meet specific design priorities. ESE currently anticipates providing incremental start-up
funding to charters schools that meet two types of incentive priorities:
Access and Equity. ESE will provide up to 35% (or $175,000) additional CSP grant funding
to those charter schools that either:

a. Commit to backfilling all vacancies through grade 10 in alignment with current

backfilling procedures.

b. Are developed with an explicit mission and educational program designed to:
Specifically serve English language learners, or specially serve students who are
disconnected, over-age and under-credited, or off-track in their education
preparing them for high school graduation;

3. Immediate High Impact. ESE will provide up to 25% (or $125,000) additional CSP
grant funding to those charter schools that quickly provide new, high-quality educational seats to

communities by opening with at least 250 seats in the first year of operation.
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Activity 3: Actively communicate to districts, educators, families, non-profits, communities and
charter developers and entrepreneurs about charter schools best practices and the availability
of CSP grant funding support for dissemination, planning and implementation.

See Sel. Crit. e (2) for details.
Activity 4: Ensure the ongoing high-quality of all existing Massachusetts charter schools
through a rigorous accountability review process.

ESE will increase the number of high-quality charter schools through maintenance of the

state’s rigorous accountability and renewal process outlined in Comp. Pref. Pr. 1 (a), and by

ensuring that academically poor-performing charter schools currently on conditions or probation
either (1) make sufficient progress toward meeting the high-quality standard, or (2) are closed.
Project Objective 2: Promote the dissemination of Massachusetts charter school best practices
to other public schools and collaborative district-charter partnerships to improve student
achievement outcomes in partner schools and districts.

Activities supporting this objective are described in Sel. Crit. e.
Project Objective 3: Improve student outcomes in Massachusetts charter schools, especially
for educationally disadvantaged students.

The final project objective reflects the overall goal of the Massachusetts CSP Project. As

outlined in the logic model, ESE believes that the activities of Project Objective (1) and Project

Objective (3) will improve student outcomes in charter schools, which will in turn yield
improved student outcomes for all students in the state through dissemination of best practices in
all aspects of student growth and achievement.

Figure 20: Massachusetts 20162021 CSP Project Performance Measures

Project Objective 1: Increase the number of high-quality school seats in Massachusetts, especially for
educationally disadvantaged students.

Performance Measure Baseline Data Performance Target and why this is
ambitious yet achievable

1A: By June 30, 2021, ESE will authorize In FY16, there will be Growth of 1,800 to 4,695 high-quality
an additional 17,500 high- quality school approximately 35,349 | seats annually (17,500 total over five

seats. high-quality charter years) is ambitious yet achievable as
school seats in described in Sel. Crit. b (1) and (c)(1).
Massachusetts.
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1B: Each year, 90% of the portfolio of
existing charter schools that are renewed
will meet the definition of a high-quality
charter school used in this application;

those that do not will be required to improve

within a specified time through specific
conditions or probation, or will be closed.

FY16: 78%

It is reasonable to expect 90% of
renewal schools will qualify as high-
quality because of Massachusetts’
rigorous accountability system
including the rigorous renewal
process.

Project Objective 2: Promote the dissemination of Massachusetts charter school best practices to other
public schools and collaborative district-charter partnerships to improve student achievement outcomes in
partner schools and districts.

Performance Measure

Baseline Data

Performance Target and why this is
ambitious yet achievable

2A: By the end of each
dissemination subgrant

project, student outcomes will
improve as outlined by each

project.

This performance measure is
new to the FY17 CSP grant.
Baseline data will be established
as part of each subgrant project.

An end-of-grant improvement in
measurable student outcomes is
ambitious, since this represents tangible
change for students, rather than just
process/input shifts for adults.** It is
achievable given the significant
investment being made by the charter
school dissemination subgrantee.

2B: By June 30, 2017,

establish a concrete action

plan for district-charter

This performance measure is
new to the FY17 CSP grant, so
baseline data will be generated
over the term of the grant.

This action plan target is ambitious since
such collaboration is unprecedented in

Massachusetts. It is achievable given the
promising collaborative groundwork laid

collaboration on projects of
mutual interest through a joint
steering committee of urban
district superintendents and
charter school leaders
representing urban areas in
the state.

by ESE and district and charter leaders.

Project Objective 3: Improve student outcomes in Massachusetts charter schools, especially for
educationally disadvantaged students.

Performance Target;
why this is ambitious
yet achievable

Performance Measure | Baseline Data™

3A1 —3A12: Each year | 2015 Charter School Data
charter school CPI

A year-over-year increase
in proficiency is

students” CP1 will ambitious since charter
i i Educationally schools alread
";(;rre?'éepgzr)n the prior Grade Subject All Disadvantaged outperform theystate
y ' 4| ELA 78.97 72.13 overall in many
4 | Math 76.84 70.97 categories. This target is
reasonable since
8 ELA 94.56 90.91 narrowing achievement
8 | Math 83.33 76.56 gaps is a primary goal of
10 | ELA 08.82 9754 the state’s charter

schools.

* Annual targets for this measure may not be realistic, given that in ESE’s experience, the first year of dissemination projects
often must focus on culture-building among adults in order to set the stage for later success with students.

“2 please note that baseline data provide here are approximations based on aggregate available data, but figures based on precise
methodology and student-level data when applicable will be used for formal ED524B reporting as required by USED.
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\ 10 \ MATH \ 94.45 \

89.94

3B1-3B12: Each year
the median student
growth percentile

2015 Charter School and Statewide Data

A year-over-year target to
exceed the state median
SGP (usually 50) is

(SGP) on state Median SGP Charter State (non-charter) ambitious since the sector
examinations of charter : Educationally Educationally | | Wil need to improve
school students in the Grade | Subject | Al Disadvantaged Al Disadvantaged | | achievement faster than
following categories p ELa e Al 1 m the rest o_f thg state, since
; ; the baseline is below 50
(listed under baseline h . . .
data) will exceed the 4 Mat 42 36 50 44 in several categories. This
state median 8 ELA | 52 52 50 49 targe_t is rgasonable given
' 3 Math | 58 o1 50 18 the historical SGP trends
of charter schools.
10 ELA 62 61.5 51 47
10 Math 60 59 50 47
3C1-3C4: Each year 2015 Data A year-over-year increase

high school graduation
rates (both 4- and 5-
year) for charter
school students will
increase for all
students and
educationally
disadvantaged students

4-year, All students: 86.2
4-year, Educationally Disadvantaged: 85.5
2014 Data
5-year, All students: 91.9
5-year, Educationally Disadvantaged: 91.5

3D1-3D2: Each year
college enrollment
rates for charter school
students will increase
for all students and
educationally
disadvantaged
students.

2014 Data*
All students: 80.2
High-Needs: 69.5

in graduation and college
enrollment rates is
ambitious since these
metrics currently lag
behind overall state rates
and because charter
schools serve a higher
proportion of
educationally
disadvantaged students.
This target is achievable
due to the college-for-all
focus of many charter
schools, the
corresponding intensive
support they provide, and
the technical assistance
provided by ESE.

*2014 is the most recent data available for this metric.

(4) Steps to inform teachers, parents, and communities of the CSP subgrant

ESE has a coordinated strategy to proactively inform teachers, parents, and communities about

the opportunity for charter schools to create high-quality educational options, and the availability

of CSP subgrant funds to support this entrepreneurial work. As part of these efforts, ESE will

continue to provide information using a variety of platforms to all parties interested in founding a

charter school, charter school best practices, and CSP subgrants. As discussed in Competitive

Preference Priority 1, ESE consistently targets its outreach with a particular focus on
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communities where there is an identified need for high-quality educational alternatives. ESE
aims to increase the effectiveness of its marketing activities, as described below.

o ESE will continue its extensive communication campaign describing the charter
application process and the related start-up CSP grant, on its website and through the widely
distributed Commissioner’s Weekly Update emails. ESE will also employ new forms of
outreach: Teachers’ Top 3 that is distributed directly to teachers, ESE’s twitter feed, and will
target groups of schools, districts, charter support organizations, and other non-profit
organizations.

o ESE conducts nine yearly information sessions in various communities around the state
with a particular focus on communities where there is an identified need for high-quality
educational alternatives. Attendance at information sessions continues to increase.

o As a public sector leader and highly regarded state educational agency, ESE has been
well positioned to cultivate alliances and expand strategic relationships in a robust ecosystem of
community partners, including philanthropic and nonprofit organizations that support the growth
of new school models in communities in need (see letters of support). As part of its outreach
strategy, ESE will continue to nurture these partnerships and relationships with organizations
such as the Massachusetts Association of School Superintendents and its Urban Superintendents
Network to share information with potential founding groups interested in developing charter
schools. There is also robust parent organizing and advocacy by groups such as MCPSA,
Democrats for Education Reform, Stand for Children, and Families for Excellent Schools that
empower parent communities with information about charter schools as alternative educational
options. ESE will connect with these groups to ensure information about the availability of CSP
funding is broadly communicated. ESE works especially closely with MCPSA to ensure that the
appropriate information about the charter application process and the CSP grant program is

communicated to potential charter developers, teachers, parents, and community organizations.
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Application Requirement (vii): Revolving loan fund
ESE will not establish a revolving loan fund under this program.
Application Requirement (viii): Waivers
In order to facilitate the successful implementation of its project design, Massachusetts
respectfully requests that the Secretary grant waivers of four requirements:
Waiver Request 1: Extension of CSP Grant from 3 to 5 Years

Massachusetts requests a waiver of Section 5202(c)(1) of the Elementary and Secondary
Education Act of 1965 (ESEA), as amended by the reauthorization known as the No Child Left
Behind Act (NCLB), which circumscribes the award period for state education agencies (SEAS)
to three years. Massachusetts seeks an extension, allowing it to receive a CSP grant for a period
of 5 years. This extension will provide greater certainty of critical start-up funding for expected
growth in newly chartered schools and expanding high-quality schools, providing an incentive
for prospective founding groups at the initial planning stages for new charters, and ensuring that
current successful charter school applicants and operators will be strongly supported in
establishing high-quality schools and substantial expansions from the day their doors first open
and new seats are available.
Waiver Request 2: Extension of Subgrant Award Period from 2 to 3 Years

Massachusetts requests a waiver of Section 5202(c)(2)( C) of ESEA to allow subgrantees
3 years rather than 2 years to use their subgrants for dissemination work. Based on our
experience with redesigned schools -- turnaround, charter conversions, expanded learning time,
and other innovative models, Massachusetts believes that meaningful dissemination requires
longer than 2 years of partnership between the disseminating subgrantee and the learning group,

both to create and measure gains in student outcomes.
Waiver Request 3: Allowing Established High-Quality and Certain Early Implementing
Charter Schools to Receive a Second Subgrant

Additionally, Massachusetts requests a waiver of Section 5202(d)(2) of ESEA, which limits
grants to one per charter school, to allow a second award to particularly successful charter
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schools with proven ability to disseminate key practices effectively that have received and
successfully used a subgrant in the past.

Allowing the state’s very best charter schools (some that have been operating for 15-20
years) to compete for a second opportunity to disseminate in the context of a different district
relationship or with emphasis on new best practices will expand the scope and influence of their
success where most needed. The single subgrant restriction unnecessarily limits options for
awarding monies to the most effective charter schools, particularly given the priorities and

structure of the dissemination subgrant competition described in Sel. Crit. d (1)(ii)** Notably,

ESSA has loosened this restriction to allow multiple subgrants in a 5-year period for charter

schools demonstrating success. ESSA at Section 4303 (e)(2). Finally, to the extent prohibited by
law or guidance, Massachusetts requests waiver of any provision that prevents a subgrant award
for planning and implementation based solely on the fact that a charter was awarded prior to this

CSP grant cycle.

Waiver Request 4: Allowing Established High-Quality Charters to Receive Additional
Planning and Implementation Subgrants for Substantial Expansions

Massachusetts requests a waiver of Section 5202(d)(1) to allow additional subgrants for high-
quality charter schools (as defined herein) if they substantially expand. For purposes of this
waiver request, we would define “substantial expansion” as: (1) an increase in the student count
of an existing charter school by more than 50 percent; or (2) an addition to an existing charter
school of at least two consecutive grades; or (3) for an existing charter school with multiple
campuses serving overlapping grades, meeting (1) or (2) for the largest existing campus.

As this grant recognizes in providing start-up funding for new charter schools, the initial
costs of establishing the complex systems that produce a high-quality charter school are
significant. These costs remain high for established charter schools increasing enroliment by

more than half, adding several grades, or replicating their model at a new campus. Therefore, the

* Because ESE’s eligibility requirements for its most recent dissemination subgrant were so rigorous, only 13 schools were
eligible to apply without this waiver; an additional 20 were eligible with such a waiver.
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financial lift for charter schools undergoing a substantial expansion versus setting up a new
charter schools is often a distinction without a difference. Without the requested waiver, the
latter group is ineligible for funds from this grant. Notably ESSA (Section 4302(b)(1)(C)) would
make expanding high-quality charter schools eligible for CSP subgrants.

Allowing the requested waiver will not compromise the rigor of the vetting process for
substantially expanding schools. In Massachusetts, major amendments to existing charters,
which include changes to maximum enrollment and grades served, go through a rigorous
approval process and require a vote of approval by BESE by state regulation. Over the past five
years, these expansions have substantially increased the high-quality educational options for the

state’s most educational disadvantaged students.
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Appendix 1: Charter School Statute

Massachusetts Charter School Law G.L. Chapter 71, 889

() As used in this section the following words shall, unless the context clearly requires otherwise, have the
following meanings:--

"Board", the board of elementary and secondary education.

"Charter school”, commonwealth charter schools and Horace Mann charter schools unless specifically
stated otherwise.

"Commissioner", the commissioner of elementary and secondary education.
"Department”, the department of elementary and secondary education.

"District", or "school district", the school department of a city, town, regional school district, or county
agricultural school.

"Superintendent”, the superintendent of the district.

(b) The purposes of establishing charter schools are: (i) to stimulate the development of innovative programs
within public education; (ii) to provide opportunities for innovative learning and assessments; (iii) to provide
parents and students with greater options in selecting schools within and outside their school districts; (iv) to
provide teachers with a vehicle for establishing schools with alternative, innovative methods of educational
instruction and school structure and management; (v) to encourage performance-based educational programs; (vi)
to hold teachers and school administrators accountable for students' educational outcomes; and (vii) to provide
models for replication in other public schools.

(c) A commonwealth charter school shall be a public school, operated under a charter granted by the board, which
operates independently of a school committee and is managed by a board of trustees. The board of trustees of a
commonwealth charter school, upon receiving a charter from the board, shall be deemed to be public agents
authorized by the commonwealth to supervise and control the charter school.

A Horace Mann charter school shall be a public school or part of a public school operated under a charter
approved by the school committee and the local collective bargaining unit in the district in which the school is
located; provided that all charters shall be granted by the board of elementary and secondary education. A Horace
Mann charter school shall have a memorandum of understanding with the school committee of the district in
which the charter school is located which, at a minimum, defines the services and facilities to be provided by the
district to the charter school and states the funding of the charter school by the district. A Horace Mann charter
school established as a conversion of an existing public school shall not require approval of the local collective
bargaining unit, but shall require a memorandum of understanding agreement regarding any waivers to applicable
collective bargaining agreements; provided further, that the memorandum of understanding shall be approved by a
majority of the school faculty; provided further, that Horace Mann charter schools that are conversion of existing
public schools shall not be subject to clause (1) of subsection (i). A vote by the school faculty shall be held and
finalized within 30 days of submission of the charter school application to the board of elementary and secondary
education. A Horace Mann charter school shall be operated and managed by a board of trustees independent of
the school committee which approved the school. The board of trustees may include a member of the school
committee.
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(d) Persons or entities eligible to submit an application to establish a charter school shall include, but not be
limited to: (i) a non-profit business or corporate entity; (ii) 2 or more certified teachers; or (iii) 10 or more parents;
provided, however, that for profit business or corporate entities shall be prohibited from applying for a charter.
The application may be filed in conjunction with a college, university, museum or other similar non-profit entity.
Private and parochial schools shall not be eligible for charter school status. The board may authorize a single
board of trustees to manage more than 1 charter school; provided, however, that each school is issued its own
charter. The commissioner shall provide technical assistance to public school districts to assist in the development
of proposals for Horace Mann charter schools.

(e) The board shall establish the information needed in an application for the approval of a charter school,
provided that the application shall include, but not be limited to, a description of: (i) the mission, purpose,
innovation and specialized focus of the proposed charter school; (ii) the innovative methods to be used in the
charter school and how they differ from the district or districts from which the charter school is expected to enroll
students; (iii) the organization of the school by ages of students or grades to be taught, an estimate of the total
enrollment of the school and the district or districts from which the school will enroll students; (iv) the method for
admission to the charter school; (v) the educational program, instructional methodology and services to be offered
to students, including research on how the proposed program may improve the academic performance of the
subgroups listed in the recruitment and retention plan; (vi) the school's capacity to address the particular needs of
limited English-proficient students, if applicable, to learn English and learn content matter, including the
employment of staff that meets the criteria established by the department; (vii) how the school shall involve
parents as partners in the education of their children; (viii) the school governance and bylaws; (ix) a proposed
arrangement or contract with an organization that shall manage or operate the school, including any proposed or
agreed upon payments to such organization; (x) the financial plan for the operation of the school; (xi) the
provision of school facilities and pupil transportation; (xii) the number and qualifications of teachers and
administrators to be employed; (xiii) procedures for evaluation and professional development for teachers and
administrators; (xiv) a statement of equal educational opportunity which shall state that charter schools shall be
open to all students, on a space available basis, and shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national
origin, creed, sex, gender identity, ethnicity, sexual orientation, mental or physical disability, age, ancestry,
athletic performance, special need, proficiency in the English language or academic achievement; (xv) a student
recruitment and retention plan, including deliberate, specific strategies the school will use to ensure the provision
of equal educational opportunity as stated in clause (xiv) and to attract, enroll and retain a student population that,
when compared to students in similar grades in schools from which the charter school is expected to enroll
students, contains a comparable academic and demographic profile; and (xvi) plans for disseminating successes
and innovations of the charter school to other non-charter public schools.

() The student recruitment and retention plan required under clause (xv) of subsection (e) shall include, but not be
limited to, a detailed description of deliberate, specific strategies the school will use to maximize the number of
students who successfully complete all school requirements and prevent students from dropping out. The student
recruitment and retention plan shall be updated annually and shall include annual goals for: (i) recruitment
activities; (ii) student retention activities; and (iii) student retention.

(9) To ensure that a commonwealth charter school shall fulfill its obligations under its recruitment and retention
plan, the school district or districts from which the commonwealth charter school is expected to enroll students
shall annually provide, at the request of a commonwealth charter school, to a third party mail house authorized by
the department, the addresses for all students in the district eligible to enroll in the school, unless a student's
parent or guardian requests that the district withhold that student's information; provided, however, that the
department may require the charter school to send the mailing in the most prevalent languages of the district or
districts that the charter school is authorized to serve.
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At the request of a school district from which a commonwealth charter school enrolls students, the charter school
shall provide to a third party mail house the addresses for all students currently enrolled in the commonwealth
charter school from the district; provided, however, that the information shall not be provided if a student's parent
or guardian requests that the school withhold that student's information. Each district shall be permitted to supply
a mailing to the third party mail house and pay for it to be copied and mailed to families of students from said
district enrolled in the commonwealth charter school.

(h) An application submitted for the establishment of a commonwealth charter school shall: (i) be submitted to the
board for approval under this section; and (ii) be filed with the local school committee for each school district
from which the charter school is expected to enroll students. Before final approval to establish a commonwealth
charter school, the board shall hold a public hearing on the application in the school district in which the proposed
charter school is to be located and solicit and review comments on the application from the local school
committee of each school district from which the charter school is expected to enroll students and any contiguous
districts. At least 1 member of the board shall attend the public hearing. A comprehensive written summary of all
materials prepared by the department or its administrative subdivisions, which evaluates or recommends approval
or disapproval of a charter application must be delivered to the members of the board, the applicant, in support of,
or in opposition to, the school submitted not later than 3 days before any board vote on the charter application.

All material in support of, or in opposition to, the school submitted to the department or the board shall be made
available to the applicant and affected school districts before a vote by the board on a commonwealth charter
school application.

(i)(1) Not more than 120 charter schools shall be allowed to operate in the commonwealth at any time, excluding
those approved pursuant to paragraph (3); provided, however, that of the 120 charter schools, not more than 48
shall be Horace Mann charter schools; provided, however, notwithstanding subsection (c) the 14 new Horace
Mann charter schools shall not be subject to the requirement of an agreement with the local collective bargaining
unit prior to board approval; provided, further, that after the charter for these 14 new Horace Mann charter schools
have been granted by the board, the schools shall develop a memorandum of understanding with the school
committee and the local union regarding any waivers to applicable collective bargaining agreements; provided,
further, that if an agreement is not reached on the memorandum of understanding at least 30 days before the
scheduled opening of the school, the charter school shall operate under the terms of its charter until an agreement
is reached; provided, further, that not less 4 of the new Horace Mann charter schools shall be located in a
municipality with more than 500,000 residents; and not more than 72 shall be commonwealth charter schools. The
board shall not approve a new commonwealth charter school in any community with a population of less than
30,000 as determined by the most recent United States Census estimate, unless it is a regional charter school.

Applications to establish a charter school shall be submitted to the board annually by November 15. The board
shall review the applications and grant new charters in February of the following year.

(2) In any fiscal year, no public school district's total charter school tuition payment to commonwealth charter
schools shall exceed 9 per cent of the district's net school spending; provided, however, that a public school
district's total charter tuition payment to commonwealth charter schools shall not exceed 18 per cent of the
district's net school spending if the school district qualifies under paragraph (3). The commonwealth shall incur
charter school tuition payments for siblings attending commonwealth charter schools to the extent that their
attendance would otherwise cause the school district's charter school tuition payments to exceed 9 per cent of the
school district's net school spending or 18 per cent for those districts that qualify under said paragraph (3).

Not less than 2 of the new commonwealth charters approved by the board in any year shall be granted for charter
schools located in districts where overall student performance on the statewide assessment system approved by
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the board under section 11 of chapter 69 is in the lowest 10 per cent statewide in the 2 years preceding the charter
application.

In any fiscal year, the board shall approve only 1 regional charter school application of any commonwealth
charter school located in a school district where overall student performance on the statewide assessment system
is in the top 10 per cent in the year preceding charter application. The board may give priority to applicants that
have demonstrated broad community support, an innovative educational plan, a demonstrated commitment to
assisting the district in which it is located in bringing about educational change and a record of operating at least 1
school or similar program that demonstrates academic success and organizational viability and serves student
populations similar to those the proposed school seeks to serve.

(3) In any fiscal year, if the board determines based on student performance data collected pursuant to section 1l,
said district is in the lowest 10 per cent of all statewide student performance scores released in the 2 consecutive
school years before the date the charter school application is submitted, the school district's total charter school
tuition payment to commonwealth charter schools may exceed 9 per cent of the district's net school spending but
shall not exceed 18 per cent. For a district qualifying under this paragraph whose charter school tuition payments
exceed 9 per cent of the school district's net school spending, the board shall only approve an application for the
establishment of a commonwealth charter school if an applicant, or a provider with which an applicant proposes
to contract, has a record of operating at least 1 school or similar program that demonstrates academic success and
organizational viability and serves student populations similar to those the proposed school seeks to serve, from
the following categories of students, those: (i) eligible for free lunch; (ii) eligible for reduced price lunch; (iii) that
require special education; (iv) limited English-proficient of similar language proficiency level as measured by the
Massachusetts English Proficiency Assessment examination; (v) sub-proficient, which shall mean students who
have scored in the "needs improvement", "warning" or "failing" categories on the mathematics or English
language arts exams of the Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System for 2 of the past 3 years or as
defined by the department using a similar measurement; (vi) who are designated as at risk of dropping out of
school based on predictors determined by the department; (vii) who have dropped out of school; or (viii) other at-
risk students who should be targeted to eliminate achievement gaps among different groups of students. For a
district approaching its net school spending cap, the board shall give preference to applications from providers
building networks of schools in more than 1 municipality.

The recruitment and retention plan of charter schools approved under this paragraph shall, in addition to the
requirements under subsections (e) and (f), include, but not limited to: (i) a detailed description of deliberate,
specific strategies the charter school shall use to attract, enroll and retain a student population that, when
compared to students in similar grades in schools from which the charter school shall enroll students, contains a
comparable or greater percentage of special education students or students who are limited English-proficient of
similar language proficiency as measured by the Massachusetts English Proficiency Assessment examination and
2 or more of the following categories: students eligible for free lunch; (ii) students eligible for reduced price
lunch; students who are sub-proficient, those students who have scored in the "needs improvement", "warning" or
"failing" categories on the mathematics or English language arts exams of the Massachusetts Comprehensive
Assessment System for 2 of the past 3 years or as defined by the department using a similar measurement; (iii)
students who are determined to be at risk of dropping out of school based on predictors determined by the
department; (iv) students who have dropped out of school; or (v) other at-risk students who should be targeted in
order to eliminate achievement gaps among different groups of students. A charter school approved under this
section shall supply a mailing in the most prevalent languages of the district the charter is authorized to serve to a
third party mail house and pay for it to be copied and mailed to eligible students. If a school is or shall be located
in a district with 10 per cent or more of limited English-proficient students, the recruitment strategies shall include
a variety of outreach efforts in the most prevalent languages of the district. The recruitment and retention plan
shall be updated each year to account for changes in both district and charter school enrollment.
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If a district is no longer in the lowest 10 per cent, the net school spending cap shall be 9 per cent, unless the
district net school spending was above 9 per cent in the year prior to moving out of the lowest 10 per cent in
which case the net school spending cap shall remain at the higher level plus enrollment previous approved by the
board. The department shall determine and make available to the public a list of the school districts in said lowest
10 per cent.

(i) The board shall make the final determination on granting charter school status and may condition charters on
the applicant's taking certain actions or maintaining certain conditions. The board shall establish criteria for the
approval of a charter application and recommendations to the board shall be based upon and reference those
criteria.

If a final application is deemed inadequate by the department, the department may provide feedback to the
applicant and invite it to submit a stronger application subsequently. Once a final application has been filed, only
minor, non-substantive amendments shall be allowed. The department shall maintain a written detailed summary
of interviews it conducts with final charter applicants and include that summary with the final application
materials that are provided to the board, local school officials and the public.

(K) A charter school established under a charter granted by the board shall be a body politic and corporate with all
powers necessary or desirable for carrying out its charter program, including, but not limited to, the power to:

(1) adopt a name and corporate seal; provided that any name selected must include the words "charter school";
(2) sue and be sued, but only to the same extent and upon the same conditions that a municipality can be sued;

(3) acquire real property, from public or private sources, by lease, lease with an option to purchase or by gift, for
use as a school facility; provided, however, in the case of a Horace Mann charter school, the approval of the local
school committee shall be obtained before acquisition of any such real property owned or controlled by the body;

(4) receive and disburse funds for school purposes;

(5) make contracts and leases for the procurement of services, equipment and supplies; provided, however, that if
the charter school intends to procure substantially all educational services under contract with another person, the
terms of such a contract must be approved by the board either as part of the original charter or by way of an
amendment thereto; provided, further that the board shall not approve any such contract terms, the purpose or
effect of which is to avoid the prohibition of this section against charter school status for private and parochial
schools;

(6) incur temporary debt in anticipation of receipt of funds; provided that a Horace Mann school shall obtain the
approval of the local school committee and appropriate local appropriating authorities and officials relative to any
proposed lien or encumbrance upon public school property or relative to any financial obligation for which the
local school district shall become legally obligated; and provided further, that notwithstanding any general or
special law to the contrary, the terms of repayment of any charter school's debt shall not exceed the duration of the
school's charter without the approval of the board,;

(7) solicit and accept grants or gifts for school purposes; and

(8) have such other powers available to a business corporation formed under chapter 156B that are not
inconsistent with this chapter.
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(1) Charter schools shall not charge a public school for the use or replication of a part of their curriculum subject
to the prescriptions of a contract between the charter schools and any third party providers.

(m) Charter schools shall be open to all students, on a space available basis, and shall not discriminate on the
basis of race, color, national origin, creed, sex, gender identity, ethnicity, sexual orientation, mental or physical
disability, age, ancestry, athletic performance, special need, or proficiency in the English language or a foreign
language or academic achievement. Charter schools may limit enrollment to specific grade levels and may
structure curriculum around particular areas of focus such as mathematics, science or the arts. There shall be no
application fee for admission to a charter school. There shall be no tuition charge for students attending charter
schools.

(n) Preference for enrollment in a commonwealth charter school shall be given to students who reside in the city
or town in which the charter school is located. Priority for enrollment in a Horace Mann charter school shall be
given first to students actually enrolled in the school on the date that the application is filed with the board and to
their siblings; second to other students actually enrolled in the public schools of the district where the Horace
Mann charter school is to be located; and third to other resident students.

If the total number of students who are eligible to attend and apply to a charter school and who reside in the city
or town in which the charter school is located or are siblings of students already attending said charter school, is
greater than the number of spaces available, an admissions lottery, including all eligible students applying, shall
be held to fill all of the spaces in that school from among the students. If there are more spaces available than
eligible applicants from the city or town in which the charter school is located and who are siblings of current
students and more eligible applicants than spaces left available, a lottery shall be held to determine which of the
applicants shall be admitted; provided, however, that a lottery conducted for Horace Mann charter schools shall
reflect the enrollment priorities of this section. Notwithstanding this subsection, upon application by the board of
trustees of a charter school or by the persons or entities seeking to establish a charter school, the board may
amend or grant a charter designating such school a regional charter school; provided, however, that such regional
charter school shall be exempt from the local preference provision of this paragraph; provided further, that such
regional charter school shall continue to grant a preference of siblings of currently enrolled students; and provided
further, that if the number of applicants remaining is greater than the number of spaces available, such regional
charter school shall conduct a single lottery to determine which applicants shall be admitted.

In any instance where a charter school approved after January 1, 2011 enrolls more than 20 per cent of its total
enrollment from school districts not included in its original charter pursuant to subsection (h) for 2 consecutive
years, the charter school shall submit an application to the board for an amendment to its charter that reflects its
actual enrollment patterns; provided further that upon renewal of a charter school approved prior to January 1,
2011, the board shall establish a timeline of not less than 5 years for the charter to comply with this requirement.

Nothing in this section shall be construed to require a charter school to unenroll any student currently in
attendance at the time this act takes effect.

When a student stops attending a charter school for any reason, the charter school shall fill the vacancy with the
next available student on the waitlist for the grade in which the vacancy occurs and shall continue through the
waitlist until a student fills the vacant seat. If there is no waitlist, a charter school shall publicize an open seat to
the students of the sending district or districts and make attempts to fill said vacant seat. Charter schools shall
attempt to fill vacant seats up to February 15, provided, however, that charter schools may but are not required to
fill vacant after February 15. If a vacancy occurs after February 15, such vacancy shall remain with the grade
cohort and shall be filled in the following September if it has not previously been filled. A vacancy occurring after
February 15 shall not be filled by adding a student to a lower grade level. Charter schools shall attempt to fill
vacant seats up to February 15, excluding seats in the last half of the grades offered by the charter school, and
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grades 10, 11 and 12. Within 30 days of a vacancy being filled, the charter school shall send the name of the
student filling such vacancy to the department for the purposes of the department updating its waitlist.

The names of students who entered the lottery but did not gain admission shall be maintained on a waitlist, which
shall be forwarded to the department not later than June 1 in the year in which the lottery is held. In addition to
the names of students, the school shall supply to the department each student's home address, telephone number,
grade level and other information the department deems necessary. The department shall maintain a consolidated
waitlist for each municipality in order to determine the number of individual students in each municipality
seeking admission to charter schools.

(o) Each charter school shall annually, not later than April 1, notify each public school district in writing of the
number and grade levels of students who will be attending the charter school from that district the following
September as well as the number of new students who will be transferring from that district to the charter school
in the following September. Tuition for charter school students shall only be paid for the number of students for
whom notification has been reported by April 1. Tuition for charter school students shall be paid only for students
actually enrolled in the school.

(p) A student may withdraw from a charter school at any time and enroll in another public school where the
student resides.

A student may be expelled from a charter school based on criteria determined by the board of trustees, and
approved by the board, with the advice of the principal and teachers; provided, however, that charter school
policies shall be consistent with sections 37H and 37H1/2.

() A charter school may be located in part of an existing public school building, in space provided on a private
work site, in a public building or any other suitable location; provided, however, that no school building
assistance funds authorized under chapter 70B shall be awarded to a commonwealth charter school for the
purpose of constructing, reconstructing or improving a commonwealth charter school.

(r) The school committee of each district where a Horace Mann charter school is located shall develop a plan to
disseminate innovative practices of the charter school to other public schools within the district subject to the
provisions of any contract between the Horace Mann charter school and any third party provider.

The commissioner shall facilitate the dissemination of successful innovation programs of charter schools and
provide technical assistance for other school districts to replicate such programs. Each charter school shall
collaborate with its sending district on the sharing of innovative practices.

(s) A charter school shall operate in accordance with its charter and the provisions of law regulating other public
schools; provided, however, that sections 41 and 42 shall not apply to employees of commonwealth charter
schools. Charter schools shall comply with the chapters 71A and 71B; provided, however, that the fiscal
responsibility of a special needs student currently enrolled in or determined to require a private day or residential
school shall remain with the school district where the student resides. If a charter school expects that a special
needs student currently enrolled in the charter school may be in need of the services of a private day or residential
school, it shall convene an individual education plan team meeting for the student. Notice of the team meeting
shall be provided to the special education department of the school district in which the child resides at least 5
days in advance. Personnel from the school district in which the child resides shall be allowed to participate in the
team meeting concerning future placement of the child.

(t) Horace Mann charter schools shall be exempt from local collective bargaining agreements to the extent

provided by the terms of its charter; provided, however, that employees of the Horace Mann charter school shall
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continue to be members of the local collective bargaining unit and shall accrue seniority and shall receive, at a
minimum, the salary and benefits established in the contract of the local collective bargaining unit where the
Horace Mann charter school is located. Employees of Horace Mann charter schools shall be exempt from all
union and school committee work rules to the extent provided by the school's charter. Employees in Horace Mann
charter schools shall be required to work the full work day and work year to the extent provided by the terms of
the school'’s charter.

(u) Notwithstanding this section or any other general or special law to the contrary, for the purposes of chapter
268A: (i) a charter school shall be deemed to be a state agency; and (ii) the appointing official of a member of the
board of trustees of a charter school shall be deemed to be the commissioner. Members of boards of trustees of
charter schools operating under the this section shall file a disclosure annually with the state ethics commission,
the department and the city or town clerk wherein such charter school is located. The disclosure is in addition to
the requirements of said chapter 268A and a member of a board of trustees must also comply with the disclosure
and other requirements of said chapter 268A. The form of the disclosure shall be prescribed by the ethics
commission and shall be signed under penalty of perjury. Such form shall be limited to a statement in which
members of the board of trustees shall disclose any financial interest that they or a member of their immediate
families, as defined in section 1 of said chapter 268A, have in any charter school located in the commonwealth or
in another state or with a person doing business with a charter school.

Each member of a board of trustees of a charter school shall file such disclosure for the preceding calendar year
with the commission within 30 days of becoming a member of the board of trustees, by September 1 of each year
thereafter that the person is a member of the board and by September 1 of the year after the person ceases to be a
member of the board; provided, however, that no member of a board of trustees shall be required to file a
disclosure for the year in which he ceases to be a member of the board if he served less than 30 days in that year.

(v) Students in charter schools shall be required to meet the same performance standards, testing and portfolio
requirements set by the board for students in other public schools.

(w) The board of trustees, in consultation with the teachers, shall determine the school's curriculum and develop
the school's annual budget. The board of trustees of each Horace Mann charter school shall annually submit to the
superintendent and school committee of the district in which the school is located a budget request for the
following fiscal year. The school committee shall act on the budget request in conjunction with its actions on the
district's overall budget. Each Horace Mann charter school shall receive in response to the budget request not less
than it would have under the district's budgetary allocation rules. The board of trustees may appeal any
disproportionate budgetary allocation to the commissioner, who shall determine an equitable funding level for the
school and shall require the school committee to provide the funding.

Following the appropriation of the district's operating budget for the fiscal year, the amount approved by the local
appropriating authority for the operation of each Horace Mann charter school shall be available for expenditure by
the board of trustees of the school for any lawful purpose without further approval by the superintendent or the
school committee. A Horace Mann charter school shall not expend or incur obligations in excess of its budget
request; provided, however, that a Horace Mann charter school may spend federal and state grants and other funds
received independent of the school district not accounted for in the charter school's budget request without prior
approval from the superintendent or the school committee.

(x) Upon approval of a Horace Mann charter school by the board, the superintendent where the Horace Mann
charter school is to be located shall reassign, to the extent provided by the terms of its charter, any faculty
member who wishes to be reassigned to another school located within the district.
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(y) Employees of charter schools shall be considered public employees for purposes of tort liability under chapter
258 and for collective bargaining purposes under chapter 150E. The board of trustees shall be considered the
public employer for purposes of tort liability under said chapter 258 and for collective bargaining purposes under
said chapter 150E; provided, however, that in the case of a Horace Mann charter school, the school committee of
the school district in which the Horace Mann charter school is located shall remain the employer for collective
bargaining purposes under said chapter 150E. Teachers employed by a charter school shall be subject to the state
teacher retirement system under chapter 32 and service in a charter school shall be creditable service within the
meaning thereof.

A charter school shall recognize an employee organization designated by the authorization cards of 50 per cent of
its employees in the appropriate bargaining unit as the exclusive representative of all the employees in such unit
for the purpose of collective bargaining.

(2) Each local school district shall be required to grant a leave of absence to any teacher in the public schools
system requesting such leave to teach in a commonwealth charter school. A teacher may request a leave of
absence for up to 2 years.

At the end of the second year, the teacher may either return to his former teaching position or, if he chooses to
continue teaching at the commonwealth charter school, resign from his school district position.

(aa) Notwithstanding section 59C, the internal form of governance of a charter school shall be determined by the
school's charter.

(bb) A charter school shall comply with all applicable state and federal health and safety laws and regulations.

(cc) The students who reside in the school district in which the charter school is located shall be provided
transportation to the charter school by the resident district's school committee on similar terms and conditions as
transportation is provided to students attending local district schools if the transportation is requested by the
charter school. In providing the transportation, the school committee shall accommodate the particular school day
and school year of the charter school; provided, however, that in the event that a school committee limits
transportation for district school students, the school district shall not be required to provide transportation to any
commonwealth charter school beyond the limitations. A charter school and the sending district shall meet to plan
bus routes and charter school starting and ending times in order to assist the district with cost effective means of
transportation. Schools operating under a charter granted after January 1, 1997, and all charter schools operating
during fiscal year 1999 and thereafter, shall not receive funds for transportation above the amount actually
required by such charter school for the provision of transportation services to eligible students. If the sending
district provides an alternative method of transportation for students enrolled in the sending district's public
schools, it shall not be assessed for transportation costs which exceed the per pupil cost of said alternative. Costs
for transportation shall be included only if transportation is provided for students in the same program and grade
level as those in the charter school. Students who do not reside in the district in which the charter school is located
shall be eligible for transportation in accordance with section 12B of chapter 76. A regional charter school as
designated by the board, and whose charter provides for transportation of all students from charter municipalities
shall also be reimbursed by the commonwealth under section 16C of chapter 71 for transportation provided to
pupils residing outside the municipality where the charter school is located, but no reimbursement for
transportation between the charter school and home shall be made on account of any pupil who resides less than
1.5 miles from the charter school, measured by a commonly traveled route. If a charter school provides its own
transportation, the school shall coordinate and collaborate with the sending district to provide cost effective means
of transportation. All such transportation shall be determined in advance of the approval of the district's final
budget for a fiscal year; provided, however, that a commonwealth charter school shall be required to determine
such transportation in the first year of its operation as soon as practicable.
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(dd) A charter granted by the board shall be for 5 years. The board shall develop procedures and guidelines for
revocation and renewal of a school's charter; provided, however, that a charter for a Horace Mann charter school
shall not be renewed by the board without a majority vote of the school committee and local collective bargaining
unit in the district where said charter school is located; provided, however, that a commonwealth charter shall not
be renewed unless the board of trustees of the charter school has documented in a manner approved by the board
that said commonwealth charter school has provided models for replication and best practices to the
commissioner and to other public schools in the district where the charter school is located.

When deciding on charter renewal, the board shall consider progress made in student academic achievement,
whether the school has met its obligations and commitments under the charter, the extent to which the school has
followed its recruitment and retention plan by using deliberate, specific strategies towards recruiting and retaining
the categories of students enumerated in paragraph (3) of subsection (i) and the extent to which the school has
enhanced its plan as necessary. The board may impose conditions on the charter school upon renewal if it fails to
adhere to and enhance its recruitment and retention plan as required. When deciding on charter renewal, the board
shall take into account the annual attrition of students. The board shall also consider innovations that have been
successfully implemented by the charter school and the evidence that supports the effectiveness of these practices.
Upon renewal of its charter, a school shall update and enhance its recruitment and retention plan as necessary to
account for changes in enrollment.

(ee) The board may revoke a school's charter if the school has not fulfilled any conditions imposed by the board in
connection with the grant of the charter or the school has violated any provision of its charter. The board may
place conditions on a charter or may place a charter school on a probationary status to allow the implementation
of a remedial plan after which, if said plan is unsuccessful, the charter may be summarily revoked.

(ff) Commonwealth charter schools shall be funded as follows: the commonwealth shall pay a tuition amount to
the charter school, which shall be the sum of the tuition amounts calculated separately for each district sending
students to the charter school. Tuition amounts for each sending district shall be calculated by the department
using the formula set forth herein, to reflect, as much as practicable, the actual per pupil spending amount that
would be expended in the district if the students attended the district schools. The tuition amount shall be
calculated separately for each district sending students to a charter school, and for each charter school to which a
district sends students. Each district's per pupil tuition amount for each charter school to which it sends students
shall include a per pupil foundation budget component, adjusted to reflect the actual net school spending in the
sending district.

In calculating the per pupil foundation budget component, the department shall calculate a foundation budget for
the students from each sending district attending the charter school in the previous fiscal year, pursuant to the
provisions of section 2 of chapter 70; provided, that the department shall not include in said calculation the
assumed tuitioned-out special education enrollment, nor any amounts generated by said assumed enrollment, as
defined by said section 2. The per pupil foundation budget component shall be the district's foundation budget for
the charter school, as so calculated, divided by the number of students attending the charter school from the
sending district in the previous fiscal year. The per pupil foundation budget component shall be calculated
separately for each charter school to which a district sends students. The foundation budget for a charter school
shall be the sum of the foundation budgets for the charter school for each district sending students to the charter
school.

In adjusting the per pupil foundation budget component, the department shall calculate for each sending district an
above foundation spending percentage, which shall be the percentage by which the district's actual net school
spending exceeds the foundation budget for the district, as calculated pursuant to the provisions of chapter 70. The
department shall further calculate the percentage of actual net school spending reported by the sending district
associated with tuition costs for tuitioned-out special education students, including education that occurs in
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educational collaboratives, and with spending on health care costs for retired employees, for any district for which
such costs are included in net school spending, and shall reduce the district's above foundation spending
percentage proportionately. The per pupil foundation budget component for each charter school to which the
sending district sends students shall be increased by said adjusted above foundation spending percentage.

The total tuition amount owed by a sending district to a charter school shall be the per pupil tuition amount as
defined above, multiplied by the total number of students attending the charter school from that district in the
current fiscal year. The sending district's total charter school tuition amount for purposes of the following
paragraphs shall be the sum of the district's tuition amounts for each charter school to which the district sends
students, calculated using the provisions of this section. The receiving charter school's total charter school tuition
amount shall be the sum of the tuition amounts calculated for the charter school for each district sending students
to the charter school.

If a charter school student previously attended a private or parochial school or was home schooled, the
commonwealth shall assume the first year cost for that student and shall not reduce the sending district's chapter
70 aid for that student's tuition in that fiscal year.

The state treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to deduct a district's total charter school tuition amount, as
calculated herein, from the total state school aid, as defined in section 2 of said chapter 70, of the district in which
the student resides prior to the distribution of said aid. In the case of a child residing in a municipality which
belongs to a regional school district, the charter school tuition amount shall be deducted from said chapter 70
education aid of the school district appropriate to the grade level of the child. If, in a single district, the total of all
such deductions exceeds the total of said education aid, this excess amount shall be deducted from other aid
appropriated to the city or town. If, in a single district, the total of all such deductions exceeds the total state aid
appropriated, the commonwealth shall appropriate this excess amount; provided, however, that if said district has
exempted itself from the provisions of said chapter 70 by accepting section 14 of said chapter 70, the
commonwealth shall assess said district for said excess amount.

The state treasurer is hereby further authorized and directed to disburse to the charter school an amount equal to
the charter school's total charter school tuition amount as defined above.

If more than 1 charter school is managed by a single network or board of trustees, funding shall not be transferred
among individual schools within the network unless such schools are located in the same school district.

The department shall, subject to appropriation, provide funding to charter schools for a portion of the per pupil
capital needs component included in the charter tuition amount and shall reimburse the sending school districts
for said costs. In fiscal year 2011 and thereafter, such funding shall not be less than the per pupil amount provided
in fiscal year 2010.

In the event of a charter school closing or eliminating grade levels as required by the board, the school district
shall retain chapter 70 allotments for the students who attended those grade levels in the previous year.

(gg) Any district whose total charter school tuition amount is greater than its total charter school tuition amount
for the previous year shall be reimbursed by the commonwealth in accordance with this paragraph and subject to
appropriation; provided, however, that no funds for said reimbursements shall be deducted from funds distributed
pursuant to chapter 70. The reimbursement amount shall be equal to 100 per cent of the increase in the year in
which the increase occurs and 25 per cent in the second, third, fourth, fifth and sixth years following.

(hh) If the unencumbered amount of cumulative surplus revenue from tuition held by a charter school at the end

of a fiscal year, less (i) the amount of the fourth quarter tuition payment, (ii) the amount held in reserve for the
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purchase or renovation of an academic facility pursuant to a capital plan, and (iii) any reserve funds held as
security for bank loans, exceeds 20 per cent of its operating budget and its budgeted capital costs for the
succeeding fiscal year as is reported in a capital plan to be submitted in the school's most recent annual report, the
amount in excess of said 20 per cent shall be returned by the charter school to the sending district or districts and
the state in proportion to their share of tuition paid during the fiscal year. At the end of each fiscal year, the
commissioner shall certify the amounts described above and the amount, if any, by which it exceeds 20 per cent
of the school's operating budget and its budgeted capital costs for the succeeding fiscal year, and shall report such
amount to the school committee of the sending district or districts and the applicable board of selectmen or city
council by December 1 of each year. A charter school shall annually make any payment required by this
subsection no later than December 31.

(ii) No teacher shall be hired by a commonwealth charter school who is not certified pursuant to section 38G
unless the teacher has successfully passed the state teacher test as required in said section 38G.

(ij) Each charter school shall submit an annual report, no later than August 1, to the board, the local school
committee, each parent or guardian of its enrolled students and each parent or guardian contemplating enroliment
in that charter school. The annual report shall be in such form as may be prescribed by the board and shall
include, but not be limited to: (i) discussion of progress made toward the achievement of the goals set forth in the
charter; and (ii) a financial statement setting forth by appropriate categories the revenue and expenditures for the
year just ended and a balance sheet setting forth the charter school's assets, liabilities and fund balances or
equities.

The department shall promulgate regulations creating a reporting requirement for a charter school's net asset
balance at the end of the fiscal year; provided, however, that said regulations shall require, without limitation, the
following: the revenue and expenditures for the year just ended with a specific accounting of the uses of public
and private dollars; how the capital needs component of the charter school's tuition was spent; compensation and
benefits for teachers, staff, administrators, executives, and board of trustees; the amount of any and all funds
transferred to a management company; the sources of any surplus funds, specifically whether they are private or
public; how any surplus funds were used in the previous fiscal year; and the planned use of any surplus funds in
the upcoming fiscal year on in future fiscal years.

Each charter school shall keep an accurate account of all its activities and all its receipts and expenditures and
shall annually cause an independent audit to be made of its accounts. Such audit shall be filed annually on or
before January 1 with the department and the state auditor and shall be in a form prescribed by the state auditor.
The state auditor may investigate the budget and finances of charter schools and their financial dealings,
transactions and relationships, and shall have the power to examine the records of charter schools and to prescribe
methods of accounting and the rendering of periodic reports.

(kk) The commissioner shall collect data on the racial, ethnic and socio-economic make-up of the student
enrollment of each charter school in the commonwealth. The commissioner shall also collect data on the number
of students enrolled in each charter school who have individual education plans pursuant to chapter 71B and those
requiring English language learners programs under chapter 71A. The commissioner shall file said data annually
with the clerks of the house and senate and the joint committee on education not later than December 1.

(11 Individuals or groups may complain to a charter school's board of trustees concerning any claimed violations
of the provisions of this section by the school. If, after presenting their complaint to the trustees, the individuals or
groups believe their complaint has not been adequately addressed, they may submit their complaint to the board
which shall investigate such complaint and make a formal response.

(mm) The board shall promulgate regulations for implementation and enforcement of this section.
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Selected Sections from Chapter 12 of the Acts of 2010

SECTION 9. For the school districts in which net school spending on charter school tuition does not exceed 18 per
cent as set forth in subsection (i) of section 89 of chapter 71, the following shall apply: (1) in fiscal year 2011, a public
school district’s total charter school tuition payment to commonwealth charter schools shall be limited to 12 per cent of
the district’s net school spending; (2) in fiscal year 2012, a public school district’s total charter school tuition payment
to commonwealth charter schools shall be limited to 13 per cent of the district’s net school spending; (3) in fiscal year
2013, a public school district’s total charter school tuition payment to commonwealth charter schools shall be limited to
14 per cent of the district’s net school spending; (4) in fiscal year 2014, a public school district’s total charter school
tuition payment to commonwealth charter schools shall be limited to 15 per cent of the district’s net school spending;
(5) in fiscal year 2015, a public school district’s total charter school tuition payment to commonwealth charter schools
shall be limited to 16 per cent of the district’s net school spending; (6) in fiscal year 2016, a public school district’s
total charter tuition payment to commonwealth charter schools shall be limited to 17 per cent of the district’s net school
spending; and (7) in fiscal year 2017, a public school district’s total charter tuition payment to commonwealth charter
schools shall be limited to 18 per cent of the district’s net school spending.

SECTION 11. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, the department of elementary and secondary
education shall draft a model policy for school districts regarding the grade placement and eligibility for high school
graduation of students leaving a commonwealth charter school and seeking to enroll in a district school. In drafting the
model policy, the department shall confer with school districts and commonwealth charter schools. The model policy
shall be made available not later than December 31, 2010. Until a school district adopts a policy regarding the grade
placement or eligibility for high school graduation of students leaving a commonwealth charter school, when
determining the appropriate grade placement or eligibility for high school graduation of a student leaving a
commonwealth charter school and enrolling in a district school, a district shall examine the course of study and level of
academic attainment of the student.

SECTION 12. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, a charter school whose charter was granted
before January 1, 2010 shall have a recruitment and retention plan required under subsection (f) of section 89 of chapter
71 of the General Laws in effect for the 2011-2012 school year or at the time of its next charter renewal, whichever
occurs first.

SECTION 13. Notwithstanding subsection (gg) of section 89 of chapter 71 of the General Laws, any district that
incurred an increase in commonwealth charter tuition costs between July 1, 2008 and June 30, 2010 shall be reimbursed
in an amount equal to 100 per cent of the increase in the year in which the increase occurs, 60 per cent of that amount
in the first year following and 40 per cent of that amount in the second year following.

SECTION 14. Notwithstanding any special or general law to the contrary, the department of elementary and secondary
education shall study the possibility of allowing students living outside of the commonwealth who are eligible to attend
public schools operating in the same geographic area as a charter school or a regional charter school to be eligible to
attend the charter or regional charter school. The department shall examine the rules and regulations necessary to
implement this change which shall include, but not be limited to, collection of out-of-state tuition from students living
outside of the commonwealth and attending a commonwealth charter school, collection of tuition from foreign
exchange students attending a commonwealth charter school and reimbursement of commonwealth charter schools for
services rendered to foreign exchange students and students living outside of the commonwealth. The department shall
issue its report and its recommendations, if any, together with drafts of legislation necessary to carry those
recommendations into effect to the joint committee on education not later than August 15, 2010.
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Appendix 2: Charter School Regulations

603 CMR 1.00: Charter Schools

Purpose

Definitions

General Provisions

Applications for and Granting of Charters
Student Recruitment, Enroliment, and Retention
Boards of Trustees and Staff

Funding

Reporting Requirements and Ongoing Review
Complaint Procedures

Amendments of Charters

Renewal of Charters

Conditions, Probation, Suspension, Revocation and Non-Renewal
Severability Clause

Most Recently Amended by the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education: September 22, 2015

1.01: Purpose

(1) Purpose: The purpose of 603 CMR 1.00 is to provide uniform rules and procedures governing the

establishment and operation of charter schools.

1.02: Definitions

As used in 603 CMR 1.00, unless the context clearly requires otherwise, terms shall have the following meanings:

Accountability Plan: A charter school creates an Accountability plan by the end of its first year of
operation in accordance with guidelines issued by the Department. An Accountability Plan articulates the
goals the school has set to measure its success.

Administrator: Any individual duly authorized by a charter school's board of trustees to manage the
programs and operations of the charter school, or a network of schools, in accordance with its charter as
well as federal and state laws and regulations.

Application Cycle: The period beginning with the availability of application information for charter
schools and extending through the receipt of final charter school applications for review, ending no later
than the following February when the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education makes final
decisions on awarding new charters. The various stages of the application cycle occur in accordance with
the schedule established by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.

Board: The Board of Elementary and Secondary Education or a person duly authorized by the Board.

Board of Trustees: Public agents authorized by the state to supervise and oversee a charter school or a
network of charter schools. The boards of trustees shall be considered public employers for purposes of
tort liability under M.G.L. c. 258. Boards of trustees of Commonwealth charter schools shall be
considered public employers for collective bargaining purposes under M.G.L. c. 150E. In the case of
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Horace Mann charter schools, the school committee shall be considered the public employer for purposes
of collective bargaining under M.G.L. c. 150E. A board of trustees may be authorized to hold more than
one charter.

Campus: The location at which a charter school educates students. A charter school may have multiple
locations under one charter.

Charter: A license issued by the Board under the provisions of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, and 603 CMR 1.00,
allowing the grantee to operate a charter school for a period of five years.

Charter Applicant: As defined in M.G.L. c. 71, § 89(d), a charter applicant shall include but is not
limited to: (a) a non-profit business or corporate entity; (b) two or more certified teachers; or (c) ten or
more parents/guardians; provided, however, that for profit business or corporate entities shall be
prohibited from applying for a charter. The charter school application may be filed in conjunction with a
college, university, museum, or other similar non-profit entity, or any combination.

Charter School: A public school operated under a charter granted by the Board and refers to both
Commonwealth and Horace Mann charter schools unless otherwise specified. A charter school is
managed by a board of trustees and operates independent of any school committee. A Commonwealth
charter school is considered a local education agency for all purposes. A Horace Mann charter school is a
school or part of a school that operates under a charter approved and granted pursuant to 603 CMR 1.04.
A Horace Mann charter school is considered a local education agency except for purposes of state aid,
certain state and federal grant programs, collective bargaining, and any other purposes where such
designation would conflict with law or regulation.

Commissioner: The Commissioner of Elementary and Secondary Education or the Commissioner’s
designee.

Department: The Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.
District: A city, town, or regional school district.

Memorandum of Understanding: A written agreement or agreements between or among a Horace
Mann charter school, the school committee of the district in which the charter school is located, and the
collective bargaining unit for the district that, at a minimum, defines any modifications of the relevant
collective bargaining agreement(s), services, and facilities provided by the district to the charter school,
and funding of the charter school by the district The Memorandum of Understanding is a material term of
the charter. The charter school must submit the Memorandum of Understanding to the Department for
approval.

Network: Multiple charter schools overseen by a single board of trustees. Each charter school is granted
its own charter.

Proven Provider: A Proven Provider is:

(a) two or more persons who had primary or significant responsibility serving, for at least five years,
in a leadership role in a school or similar program that has a record of academic success and
organizational viability;

(b) a non-profit education management organization or non-profit charter management organization,
in operation for at least five years, that has a record of academic success and organizational
viability;
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(c) the board of trustees of an existing charter school that has a record of academic success and
organizational viability; or

(d) an education management organization, charter management organization, or school support
organization that has a record of academic success and organizational viability in operating or
starting public schools with which an applicant proposes to contract.

Qualifications for Proven Providers are described in 603 CMR 1.04(4).

Recruitment and Retention Plan: A charter school’s written plan to recruit and retain diverse students
under the provisions of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, and 603 CMR 1.00. For the purposes of a Recruitment and
Retention plan, retention shall be defined as the charter school’s ability to maintain enrollment of its
students with low turnover and limited attrition.

Regional Charter School: A charter school with a charter designating it as "regional™ is required to give
preference in enrollment to students residing in a specified region containing more than one district.

Sending District: A Massachusetts city, town, or regional school district in which a charter school
student resides and where the student would otherwise attend a public school. If a charter school has a
residential component, the sending district is the city, town, or regional school district in which the parent
or legal guardian of the charter school student resides or, if no parent or legal guardian can be identified,
the school district in which the student last attended school.

Sibling: Persons who have a common parent, either biologically or legally through adoption.

1.03: General Provisions

(1) Administrative Bulletins: The Board and the Department may issue advisories to interpret, implement,
and provide guidance to charter schools.

(2) Waivers: The Board may waive provisions of 603 CMR 1.00 for good cause. If a charter applicant or
charter school board of trustees makes a written request for a waiver, the Board may waive the
applicability of one or more provisions of 603 CMR 1.00. These waivers shall be granted only under
circumstances the Board deems exceptional and such waivers shall be granted only to the extent allowed
by law. All such requests from the charter applicant or a board of trustees must:

(a) be in writing, signed by the waiver applicant;

(b) specify the provisions of 603 CMR 1.00 to be waived, the duration of the waiver, and the
circumstances to which the waiver applies and the specific reason why a waiver is sought;

(c) include a certification that the waiver applicant has made a good faith effort to comply with said
provisions; and

(d) be accompanied by supporting documentation considered sufficient by the Board to support the
special circumstances or the need for relief.

If the granting of a waiver would have an impact on sending districts or the district of the town or city in
which the charter school is located, the Commissioner shall provide the superintendent of each district
notice and an opportunity to comment.

(3) Prohibitions: Private and parochial schools are not eligible for charter school status. Charter schools
shall not charge students an application fee or tuition. Charter schools shall not charge their students any
fee related to the provision of required educational programs. Charter schools shall not charge any public
school or public school district for the use of their curriculum, subject to the restrictions contained in any
contract between charter schools and third party providers. For-profit businesses or corporate entities may
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not apply for a charter.

(4) Immediate Closure: The Commissioner may order immediate closure of a charter school facility where
the health, safety, or education of the school’s students is at risk. Additionally, the Commissioner may
order immediate closure of a charter school facility where fire, health, or safety codes, regulations, laws,
or accessibility requirements are not met.

1.04: Applications for and Granting of Charters

(1) Charter Application Process: Applicants shall submit to the Department application materials in
accordance with the schedule, application form, and guidelines established by the Department for each
type of charter school. Each applicant submitting application materials for a Commonwealth charter
school shall also send a copy of the application to the superintendent of the school district(s) from which
the applicant is expected to enroll students.

(a) Horace Mann applications shall be accepted in three categories with the corresponding district
approvals:

1.

2.

3.

A Horace Mann | application may be submitted to create a new school, provided the
application is submitted with the approval of the local collective bargaining unit and the
school committee in the district in which it is located. All Horace Mann charters granted
before January 2010 are considered Horace Mann |.

A Horace Mann Il application may be submitted as a conversion of an existing public school
provided the application is submitted with the approval of the school committee. Horace
Mann Il applications may be submitted at any time but shall participate in the application
process in accordance with guidelines issued by the Department, with similar periods of time
for review and charter granting. Horace Mann Il charter schools may not open until
completion of the opening procedures process.

A Horace Mann Il application may be submitted to create a new school provided the
application is submitted with the approval of the school committee. An agreement with the
local collective bargaining unit is not required prior to Board approval of a Horace Mann Il
charter school.

(b) All Horace Mann charter schools may be exempt from specified provisions of local collective
bargaining agreements, provided that employees of the school will continue:

1.
2.
3.

to be members of the local collective bargaining unit;

to accrue seniority; and

to receive at minimum, the salary and benefits established by the local collective bargaining
agreement. Consistent with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, Horace Mann charter school employees will
be exempt from all agreed-upon provisions of the collective bargaining agreement and
school committee policies to the extent provided by their charter and the Memorandum of
Understanding with the local district or collective bargaining unit or as voted by teachers as
defined in M.G.L. c. 71, § 89.

(c) Applications for Horace Mann charter schools shall describe in the charter school application:

1.
2.
3.

4,

the type of Horace Mann charter the applicant seeks (1, I1, 111);

the proposed opening date of the charter school;

the elements of the local collective bargaining agreement that apply to employees of the
school; and

the Memorandum of Understanding under which the charter school proposes to operate.

(d) The Memorandum or Memoranda of Understanding must be consistent with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89;
603 CMR 1.00; and any guidelines issued by the Department and must include at a minimum:
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1. the services, both instructional and non-instructional, that the local school district will
provide to the charter school;

the facilities provided by the district;

3. any waivers to applicable collective bargaining agreements; and

4. financial information, including, but not limited to:

a. the basis for calculating tuition;

b. amethod for determining the arrangements between the charter school and the district
regarding costs of services;

c. the date of the charter school's first annual budget allocation from the district, consistent
with the allocation for other public schools in the district and the basis on which future
tuition allocations will be made;

d. the schedule for school district funds to be transferred into the charter school’s bank
account;

e. responsibility for securing federal and state entitlement grants for the charter school; and

f. the procedures to be used for resolving disputes.

N

(2) Review Process: The Department shall review application materials submitted in accordance with
deadlines established by the Department. The role of any reviewer is solely advisory. Application
materials will be reviewed and evaluated in accordance with criteria outlined in 603 CMR 1.04 and the
charter school application itself. In addition, the Department will conduct interviews with all final
applicants in order to better assess their qualifications and capacity to start and operate a charter school.

(3) Evaluation and Approval of Charter Applications. The Department reviews applications to ensure that
the applicant has, at a minimum, demonstrated the capacity:

() to further the purposes for establishment of charter schools specified in M.G.L. c. 71, § 89;

(b) to conform with M.G.L. c. 71, 8 89, and all other applicable laws and regulations, including any
guidelines the Board may issue, and including those related to English language learners and
students with disabilities;

(c) to meet its enrollment projections through demonstration of support for the proposed charter
school in the communities from which students would be likely to enroll;

(d) to implement its recruitment and retention plan;

(e) to involve parents and guardians as partners in the education of their children;

(f) to develop a proposed program that enhances options for students in the district(s) served;

(9) to collaborate with and disseminate innovative practices to the school districts from which it
draws students, if a Commonwealth charter, and with other schools in its district, if a Horace
Mann charter;

(h) to develop a management structure and plan which enables the charter school to achieve the goals
and mission set forth in its charter, including information about proposed board members and the
selection, roles, and responsibilities of the board of trustees;

(i) to develop bylaws that govern the board of trustees consistent with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89; 603 CMR
1.00; and guidelines issued by the Department;

(i) to develop a management structure and plan that enables the board of trustees to oversee a
network of charter schools, including the roles and responsibilities of school leaders and
administrators, if applicable;

(k) to assure that students will meet the same performance standards and assessment requirements set
by the Board for students in other public schools;

() to develop an accountability plan that meets criteria established by the Department, at the end of
the first year of the school's charter, establishing five-year performance objectives to help
measure the school's progress and success in fulfilling the terms of its charter;

(m) to administer its educational programs, school operations, and finances effectively;
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(n) to establish a process to provide to students, parents/guardians, the Board, other interested parties,
and the public all information required by law and regulation, as well as to provide other
information the Board may request;

(o) to develop an enrollment policy consistent with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, and 603 CMR 1.05;

(p) to develop a recruitment and retention plan consistent with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, and 603 CMR
1.05;

() to ensure the thoroughness and accuracy of the charter school application;

(r) to provide school facilities that comply with municipal building codes and other applicable laws
and that are adequate to meet the school's program requirements;

(s) todevelop a board of trustees with the capacity to effectively govern the school and to
effectively govern more than one school, if applicable; and

(t) to build a network of charter schools, if applicable.

If a charter is granted, the drafts of documents submitted during the application process are subject to
Department review and approval during the opening procedures process, and the additional requirements
in 603 CMR 1.04(7).

(4) Qualifications to Achieve Proven Provider Status: In school districts performing in the lowest 10%
statewide and in which the 9% net school spending cap is or would be exceeded, applications will be
considered only from Proven Providers. The Commissioner will determine and grant proven provider
status.

Applicants for Proven Provider status must meet the requirements in 603 CMR 1.02. The applicant must
submit evidence, satisfactory to the Commissioner, to demonstrate a significant management or
leadership role at a school or similar program that is an academic success, a viable organization, and
relevant to the proposed charter school.

(a) The applicant shall submit a detailed description of role(s) and responsibilities at the successful
school(s) or program(s).

(b) The applicant shall submit data demonstrating success in student academic performance and
evidence of academic program success, including but not limited to:

1. Proficiency levels and growth measures on the Massachusetts comprehensive assessment
system or equivalent assessments for all students and for one or more targeted subgroups as
defined in M.G.L. c. 71, § 89(i)(3), which are similar to statewide averages in English
Language Arts and mathematics for all students in Massachusetts in comparable grades, over
no less than a three-year period for cohorts of students;

2. Student performance on other standardized tests over no less than a three-year period for
cohorts of students, if available, which demonstrates student achievement levels that are
similar to statewide averages in English Language Arts and mathematics for all students in
Massachusetts in comparable grades;

3. attendance, retention, and attrition data;

4. graduation and dropout data, if applicable; and

5. in-school and out-of-school suspension rates.

(c) The applicant shall submit evidence of organizational viability, which shall include but not be
limited to effective governance, effective financial management, effective implementation of
recruitment and retention plans, if applicable, and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

(d) The applicant shall provide evidence to demonstrate that the successful school serves student
population(s) similar to the population(s) to be served by the proposed charter, and that the
program to be offered at the proposed charter is similar to, or represents a reasonable
modification of the successful school.

(e) Applicants shall provide any other information as required by the Department.
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For applicants with a current or previous relationship to a Massachusetts charter school, the
Commissioner may consider all information related to such school’s performance, including his
evaluation in connection with each renewal of its charter.

(5) Public Comment: The Board and the Department shall hold a public hearing for final applications in the
school district in which a proposed charter school is to be located in order to solicit and review comments
on the application from the school committees of the school district(s) from which the applicant is
expected to enroll students and the public at large. At least one member of the Board shall attend each
public hearing soliciting comments on the merits of pending charter school applications and shall report
to the Board on the public hearing.

(6) Granting of Charters:

()
(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

(f)
(9)

The Board shall grant charters to charter boards of trustees under M.G.L. c. 71, 8 89, and under
such conditions and at such time as the Board specifies under 603 CMR 1.04.

The Board shall grant new charters in the month of February, except that for Horace Mann Il
schools as described in 603 CMR 1.04(1)(a)2., the Board may grant such charters at such other
times as designated, dependent upon the intended opening date.

A charter granted by the Board shall be effective for five years, beginning July 1st of the first
fiscal year in which the charter school enrolls students, unless revoked pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71,
§ 89, and 603 CMR 1.12. If no students are attending a charter school within 19 months from the
date the charter was granted, the charter will be null and void, unless a waiver and extension is
granted by the Board according to the process outlined in 603 CMR 1.03 (2).

Should the Board elect to award fewer than the number of charters specified under M.G.L. c. 71,
§ 89 in any given cycle, the Board may grant those charters not awarded in subsequent
application cycles in addition to the number of charters scheduled to be awarded and
notwithstanding any limitations on the number of new charters authorized in such year.

The Board may award any charter revoked or returned to the Board in subsequent application
cycles in addition to the number of charters scheduled to be awarded and notwithstanding any
limitations on the number of new charters authorized in such year.

The Board will use the most recent United States Census estimate to determine the population of
a city or town proposed as the location for a charter school.

Private and parochial schools shall not be eligible for charter school status. If members of a
charter applicant group are on the governing board or management of a private or parochial
school that plans to close or closes around the time of seeking a charter, it creates a rebuttable
presumption that the private or parochial school seeks charter status for the purpose of securing
public funding. To rebut this presumption, the applicant group must establish facts sufficient for
the Department to determine that funding is not the primary reason they are seeking a charter
while the private or parochial school is closing. In making a determination, the Department will
compare the governance, management, and other characteristics of the private or parochial school
and the governance, management, and other characteristics of the charter school, including but
not limited to curriculum, student body, staff, leadership, location, and the financial plan for the
school.

(7) Conditions for Opening New Charter Schools: Charters shall be awarded subject to the conditions
listed in 1.04 (3) and (7) and any additional conditions that the Board or Department may specify. The
Board may temporarily waive such conditions and award a charter, provided that the applicant submits
adequate written assurance that all such conditions will be met prior to the opening of the charter school.
If a new charter school fails to comply with any such specified condition, the Commissioner may prohibit
the school from opening.
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(8)

(9)

Upon receiving a charter, the charter school must successfully complete the opening procedures process
specified by the Department. This process begins with the awarding of a new charter by the Board and
ends in the following June when the school submits a draft Accountability Plan to the Department.
Opening procedures requirements include, but are not limited to, provision of the following:

() the terms of the proposed contract, for review and approval, in such cases where the board of
trustees intends to procure substantially all educational services from another person or
organization;

(b) policies and procedures including, but not be limited to, approved bylaws, an enrollment policy,
and a recruitment and retention plan;

(c) criteria and procedures for suspension and expulsion of students;

(d) written documentation that criminal background checks have been performed as required by state
law;

(e) written documentation that the facilities to be used by the charter school are approved for use as a
school by the building inspector in the municipality in which the building is located:;

(f) written documentation that the facilities occupied by the charter school have been inspected by
the Fire Department of the municipality in which the facilities are located;

(g) written documentation that approval under M.G.L. c. 148 has been secured from the licensing
authority of the municipality in which the building is located if explosives or flammable
compounds or liquids are used in connection with courses taught at the school; and

(h) written documentation that the school is in compliance with all other applicable federal and state
health and safety laws and regulations, including evidence of compliance with any required
insurance coverage.

Information for Distribution of Public Funds: Upon receiving a charter, all charter schools shall
provide the Department with a federal tax identification number issued solely to the charter school, and
banking information regarding a bank account solely in the name of the charter school, as required by the
State Treasurer for the transfer of public funds.

Lowest 10 %: The Commissioner shall annually publish a ranking of all districts that are subject to
charter school tuition charges, for the purpose of determining the lowest 10% as specified in M.G.L. c.
71, 8 89(i)(2), and (i)(3). Such ranking shall be calculated by determining the average ranks for each
district’s English language arts, mathematics, and science composite performance index; the percentage
of students scoring warning or failing in English language arts, mathematics, and science; the percentage
of students scoring advanced in English language arts, mathematics, and science; and student growth
percentiles for English language arts and mathematics, using statewide student performance scores
released in the two consecutive school years immediately preceding the school year in which applications
are submitted. These calculations shall use weighting consistent with the Department’s approved
methodology for the state accountability system. Districts without data for each component of the
calculation will not be included. Additional charter school seats resulting from a district’s designation in
the lowest 10% may be awarded by the Board to a new charter applicant, to existing charter schools, or to
any combination thereof. The Board may provisionally award seats to new charter applicants and to
existing charter schools that will become available in future years pursuant to the schedule set forth in St.
2010, c. 12, 8 9, provided, that if a district is no longer in the lowest 10%, any remaining provisional seats
may not be used.

(10) Seat Availability: In considering an application for the creation or expansion of a regional charter

school, the board shall independently assess the availability of seats for each sending district within the
proposed region, and may limit the number of students who may be enrolled from each such district.
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1.05: Student Recruitment, Enrollment, and Retention

)

(2)

3)

(4)

Recruitment and Retention Plan: A charter school must develop a plan that includes deliberate, specific
strategies the school will use to attract, to enroll, and to retain a student population that is
demographically comparable to similar grades in schools from which the charter school enrolls students.
Charter schools shall submit recruitment and retention plans for approval by the Department that meet the
requirements of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89; 603 CMR 1.05; and any guidelines issued by the Department.

Non-Discrimination: Charter schools shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin,
creed, sex, gender identity, ethnicity, sexual orientation, mental or physical disability, age, ancestry,
athletic performance, special need, proficiency in the English language or a foreign language, or prior
academic achievement. For purposes of 603 CMR 1.05, gender identity shall mean a person's gender-
related identity, appearance or behavior, whether or not that gender-related identity, appearance or
behavior is different from that traditionally associated with the person's physiology or assigned sex at
birth. Gender-related identity may be shown by providing evidence including, but not limited to, medical
history, care or treatment of the gender-related identity, consistent and uniform assertion of the gender-
related identity, or any other evidence that the gender-related identity is sincerely held as part of a
person's core identity; provided, however, that gender-related identity shall not be asserted for any
improper purpose.

Enrollment Process and Applications for Admission:

(@) Enrollment Process. Charter schools may not administer tests to potential applicants or predicate
enrollment on results from any test of ability or achievement. Charter schools may not use
financial incentives to recruit students. Requirements for enrollment in a charter school, including
but not limited to attendance at informational meetings and interviews, shall not be designed,
intended, or used to discriminate. Charter schools may not require potential students and their
families to attend interviews or informational meetings as a condition of enroliment.

(b) Application for Admission. Every charter school must submit its proposed application for
admission, and any subsequent revisions, beyond changing dates indicated and correcting minor
grammatical errors, to the Department for approval.

(c) Principal Application Deadlines. Charter schools may not set any principal application deadlines
or hold any enrollment lotteries for student admissions for the upcoming school year until after
January 1st. Every charter school shall conclude its principal enrollment process no later than
March 15th of each year.

Written Notice: Charter schools shall notify all applicants in writing of the rights of students with
diverse learning needs to attend the charter school and to receive accommodations and support services,
including students who may have disabilities, require special education, or are English language learners.
Charter schools must include this notice as part of the school’s application and enrollment materials.
Every charter school must make information regarding the availability of services for students generally
available in the school’s outreach materials, through the student handbook, and on the school’s website.

(5) Application Deadlines: Charter schools shall give reasonable public notice, of at least one month, of all

(6)

application deadlines.

Enrollment in Commonwealth Charter Schools: In conformance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, enrollment
in Commonwealth charter schools shall be conducted as follows:
(@) Insuch cases where there are fewer spaces than eligible applicants, students shall be accepted for
admission by a lottery process.
(b) A Commonwealth charter school shall provide an enrollment preference to:
1. Siblings of students already attending the school; and
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(7)

(8)

(9)

2. Students who reside in the city or town in which a Commonwealth charter school is located
or, in the case of a regional charter school, to students who reside within the charter school’s
region.

(c) If there are fewer spaces for admission to the charter school than eligible applicants, the charter
school shall hold an enrollment lottery for all such applicants.

(d) The Department shall notify each Commonwealth charter school no later than February 15th of
any limitation(s) on the number of students from a district that may be enrolled in charter schools
for the upcoming school year.

(e) A charter school may initiate a request once a year for a mailing to the students enrolled in each
district specified in the school’s charter, and a district may initiate a request once a year for a
mailing to the students enrolled in any charter school serving that district. When such a request is
made, the district or school, as the case may be, shall provide the names and addresses of students
within 30 days, in electronic format, to an approved third party mailing service. Any vendor listed
on the statewide procurement or master services agreement for mailing services shall be deemed
approved for the purposes of 603 CMR 1.05(6)(e). The district or school must provide parents or
guardians with the opportunity to request that such information be withheld. The cost of copying
and mailing shall be borne by the charter school or district requesting the mailing. Neither school
districts nor charter schools shall charge for the provision of the required names and addresses.
Charter schools shall provide any such mailing in the prevalent languages of the district. A
language shall be deemed a prevalent language if it is the primary language of 1% or more of the
district's total enrollment.

Enrollment in Horace Mann Charter Schools: In conformance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, enrollment in a
Horace Mann charter school shall be conducted as follows:
(&) Insuch cases where there are fewer spaces for admission than eligible applicants, students shall
be accepted for admission from among applicants by lottery.
(b) In order of priorities, a Horace Mann charter school shall provide an enrollment preference to:

1. for the initial lottery, any students attending said school, or attending school in the school
building previously occupied by said school, on the date that the final application is filed with
the Board:;

2. for the initial lottery, siblings, of any students attending said school, or attending school in the
school building previously occupied by said school, on the date that the final application is
filed with the Board;
in all subsequent lotteries, siblings of students currently attending the school;

4. students who are currently enrolled in the public schools of the district in which the Horace
Mann charter school is located; and
5. students who reside in the city or town in which the Horace Mann charter school is located.

w

Repeat Enrollment Process: If the principal enrollment process fails to fill the available admission
spaces, a school may repeat the process more than once, providing such process is fair and open and the
school gives reasonable public notice at least one month prior to the application deadline. As spaces
become available during the school year, a school may repeat the enrollment process to fill these openings
and to meet the requirements of M.G.L. c. 70, 8 89(n). No student entering an enrollment process may be
admitted ahead of other eligible students who were previously placed on a wait list during a prior
enrollment process, except in cases where enrollment preferences change or as described in to 603 CMR
1.05(10)(b). The total number of students attending a charter school in a given school year cannot exceed
the total number of students reported to the Department in the previous spring in accordance with 603
CMR 1.08(5).

Public Lotteries: All lotteries for charter school seats shall be conducted in a public place with a neutral

party drawing names and with reasonable public notice given at least one week prior to the lottery. Such
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lotteries may be conducted electronically; in such cases a neutral party shall certify that the process is fair
and that selection is random.

(10) Waitlist: Charter schools shall place the names of students not selected in an enrollment lottery on
a wait list in the order the names are drawn.

(a) Schools shall maintain waitlists only for the school year for which the students applied, provided
that a charter school may choose to maintain any waitlists that were established prior to March
31, 2014 until such waitlists are exhausted, provided that such maintenance is clearly articulated
in the school’s enrollment policy approved by the Department. Charter schools must keep
accurate records of their wait list containing students names (first, middle, last), dates of birth,
cities or towns of residence, and grades levels of students who entered the lottery but did not gain
admission. When an offer of admission is made, reasonable proof of current residency or sibling
status may be required at the time an offer of admission is made.

(b) In cases where the enrollment of a student, who is not a sibling of another currently enrolled
student, from the waitlist would exceed the district charter tuition cap, the student should be
skipped over but kept on the waitlist. In cases where the enrollment of a student who is a sibling
of a student already attending a charter school would exceed the district charter school tuition
cap, the sibling may be enrolled with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts providing tuition for
the sibling, subject to appropriation.

(c) In conformance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, charter schools shall, when a student stops attending the
school for any reason, fill vacant seats up to February 15th, excluding seats in the last half of the
grades offered and grades 10, 11, and 12 . If a school has an odd number of grades, more than
half of grades offered shall be included in grades for which the school must fill vacant seats. A
vacancy not filled after February 15™ moves into the subsequent grade, to be filled the following
September if such grade is not in the last half of the grades offered and is not grades 10, 11, or 12.
Seats for students who have accepted an offer of admission in the charter school but have never
attended are exempt from 603 CMR 1.05(10)(c).

(11) Integrated Enrollment Process: A school may integrate its enrollment process with that of the school
district(s).

(12) Maximum Age and Thresholds: Each charter school shall specify age thresholds for kindergarten and
maximum ages for high school programs, consistent with state and federal law.

(13) Multiple Campuses Under Single Charter: A charter school that operates multiple campuses under a
single charter may assign students, in accordance with the charter school’s enrollment policy, to a specific
campus for reasons of geographic proximity, student safety, or program delivery.

1.06: Boards of Trustees and Staff

(1) Responsibilities of Board of Trustees: The board of trustees of a charter school holds the charter of the
school and governs the school. Every board of trustees shall have a least five members. Boards of trustees
are state governmental bodies. Boards of trustees must fulfill their fiduciary responsibilities, including but
not limited to, the duty of loyalty and duty of care, as well as the obligation to oversee the school’s
budget. Boards of trustees shall not exercise managerial powers over the day-to-day operations of the
school. Boards of trustees must ensure that schools operate in accordance with their charter, including
any approved amendments. Boards of trustees must ensure that schools operate in compliance with all
applicable state and federal laws. The responsibilities of boards of trustees shall include, but are not
limited to the following:

(a) Successfully completing the opening procedures process in accordance with M.G.L. c. 70, § 89;
603 CMR 1.00; and any guidelines issued by the Department;
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(b) Requesting the Commissioner’s appointment of any new trustees;

(c) Submitting the timely annual report;

(d) Submitting the timely annual independent audit;

(e) Hiring, evaluating, and removing, if necessary, qualified personnel to manage the charter school’s
day-to-day operations and holding these administrators accountable for meeting specified goals;

(f) Approving and monitoring progress towards meeting the goals of the school’s Accountability
Plan;

(9) Adopting and revising school policies, including plans for student recruitment and retention;

(h) Responding to complaints in writing as required by 603 CMR 1.09; and

(1) Ensuring that members of the board receive an orientation and training regarding their duties and
obligations as members of a board of trustees.

(2) Bylaws: The bylaws of every board of trustees must comply with state and federal laws and contain
provisions including, but not limited to:

() specific, reasonable limits on successive or total terms for members of the board of trustees;

(b) the exercise of due diligence in assessing the suitability of candidates for board membership with
respect to potential conflicts of interest and areas of skills and expertise that will be of value to
the board of trustees, such due diligence to occur prior to a vote by the board of trustees to request
the Commissioner to appoint the proposed members;

(c) frequency of board meetings, which must be held in Massachusetts, and occur at least quarterly;

(d) compliance with the Commonwealth’s open meeting law in M.G.L. c¢. 30A, including meeting all
training requirements;

(e) compliance by members of the board of trustees with the Commonwealth’s state ethics
requirements, including meeting all training requirements, filing all required disclosures under
M.G.L. c. 268A, and the filing of statements of financial interest under M.G.L. c. 71, 8 89(u); and

(f) if board includes one or two employees of the school as members of the board of trustees, the
bylaws must explicitly identify these positions.

(3) Board of Trustees Training: Every member of the board of trustees shall, within one year of
appointment, complete orientation concerning the responsibilities of their office, as determined by the
Commissioner, and any other training required by other state agencies.

(4) Charter School Staff: Charter school teachers hired after August 10, 2000 must either:
(a) take and pass, within their first year of employment at a charter school, the Massachusetts Tests
for Educator Licensure; or
(b) be already licensed to teach in Massachusetts.

1.07: Funding

(1) Horace Mann Charter Schools: Horace Mann charter schools shall be funded through the local school
district under the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding. A Horace Mann charter school shall
submit a budget request to the local school district annually, in accordance with the budget schedule of
the local school district and no later than April 1%.  Such budget request shall be submitted to the
superintendent and school committee of the district in which the charter school is located. The school
committee shall act on the charter school budget request in conjunction with its approval of the district's
overall budget. The board of trustees of the Horace Mann charter school may expend such allocation as it
sees fit without any further approval by the superintendent or school committee. A Horace Mann charter
school's budget allocation shall be consistent with the allocation of other public schools in the district. In
the case of budget reductions in the school district, a Horace Mann charter school's budget may not be
reduced disproportionately to other schools in the district. The Horace Mann charter school board of
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(2)

trustees shall follow the dispute resolution procedures outlined in the Memorandum of Understanding.
The board of trustees may appeal a disproportionate budget allocation to the Commissioner. The
Commissioner then shall determine an equitable funding level for the charter school and, if appropriate,
shall require the school committee to provide such funding.

Commonwealth Charter Schools: Every operating Commonwealth charter school shall receive tuition
payments from each school district whose students attend the charter school. Such tuition payments shall
be equal to the appropriate charter school tuition rate, as determined in accordance with 603 CMR
1.07(2)(a), multiplied by the number of students attending the charter school from the sending district in
the current year. If any students attend the charter school for less than the full school year, the tuition
payment shall be reduced based on the number of days of enrollment. Such tuition payments shall be paid
in accordance with 603 CMR 1.07(2)(d).

(a) Foundation Budget and Commonwealth Charter Schools: For each sending district, a separate
foundation budget dollar amount and charter school tuition rate shall be calculated as follows for
each charter school to which the district sends students.

1. The foundation budget dollar amount shall be calculated, based on the foundation budget
factors used for the distribution of Chapter 70 aid in the current year, provided that the out-of-
district special education tuition component of the foundation budget shall be excluded from
the calculation. The student data for this calculation shall be the foundation enrollment
information reported by the charter school as of October 1 of the prior school year. The
tuition rate shall equal the foundation budget dollar amount divided by the number of
students. If no students attended a particular charter school from a particular sending district
in the prior year, then the sending district's average foundation budget per pupil will be used
as the tuition rate.

2. Each tuition rate shall be increased by the ratio of the sending district's current year budgeted
net school spending, as reported on schedule 19 of the Department's end of year pupil and
financial returns, to the sending district's total current year foundation budget. Amounts
reported on schedule 19 for out-of-district special education tuition and retired teachers'
health insurance shall be excluded from this calculation.

3. Each tuition rate shall be increased by a per pupil capital needs component calculated in
accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, 8 89(ff), and each year’s general appropriations act.

(b) Facilities: Any amounts appropriated under line item 7010-0030 for the purpose of per pupil
facilities aid for Commonwealth charter schools shall be used to reimburse sending districts for
the capital component of the tuition payments, as calculated in 603 CMR 1.07(2)(a)3., but shall
not affect the payments due to Commonwealth charter schools.

(c) Tuition Rate: For each sending district, the sum of its tuition payment to each Commonwealth
charter school, less any charter school capital facility reimbursement received pursuant to 603
CMR 1.07(2)(b), shall be used as the district's "total charter school tuition payment"” for the
purposes of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89(i), and shall be used as the district's "total charter school tuition
amount" for the purposes of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89(gg).

(d) Tuition Payment: The State Treasurer shall make monthly payments to Commonwealth charter
schools. In making such payments, the Commonwealth shall reduce each sending district's
M.G.L. c. 70 allocation by an amount sufficient to meet its charter school obligations for the
month. If there are insufficient M.G.L. c. 70 funds to meet a district's obligation, the
Commonwealth shall reduce other state aid allocated to the applicable cities and towns. If there
are insufficient state aid funds of any kind to meet a district's obligation, the Board shall
recommend to the Governor and legislature that a supplemental appropriation be made to pay any
remaining obligation to the charter school(s).The Department shall notify both the
Commonwealth charter school and the sending district(s) of the amount of these tuition payments.

(e) Monthly Payments: The first five monthly payments to Commonwealth charter schools shall be
based on each charter school's pre-enrollment report, filed with the Department pursuant to 603
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CMR 1.08(5). The remaining monthly payments of each fiscal year shall be based on updated
enrollment reports, submitted to the Department by each charter school. Failure to submit a
required enrollment report or charter school claim form may result in the withholding of some or
all of a charter school’s monthly payment. Although each monthly payment is intended to equal
approximately one twelfth of the projected annual amount, payments from December through
June shall include adjustments to correct any over- or under-payments in earlier months of the
fiscal year.

(3) Transportation:

(4)

(5)

(a) All students who reside in the school district in which a charter school is located shall be
provided transportation by the district, provided that either : 1. transportation is provided to
district students in the same grade; or 2. transportation is required by the student's individualized
education program. If a district provides an alternative means of transportation for its students in
a particular grade, such as public transportation passes, it may do so for charter school students in
that grade. A district may not limit transportation to charter school students based upon
attendance zones or other geographic subdivisions of the district. The district shall accommodate
the school day and school year specified in the school's charter, provided that the charter school
shall make reasonable accommaodations in setting its daily starting and ending times to foster
cost-efficient transportation arrangements.

(b) A charter school shall annually notify the district in which it is located of its projected
transportation needs no later than February 1* prior to the start of the school year, provided that
newly chartered schools shall provide such notification as soon as practicable following receipt of
its charter. Charter schools shall update their projected transportation needs by April 1% based on
pre-enroliment data.

(c) If adistrict and a charter school are unable to reach agreement on the district's provision of
transportation for all or some of the students attending said school, the charter school may
provide its own transportation. The school shall make every reasonable effort to provide such
transportation in the most cost effective manner possible, including but not limited to
collaboration with the district. The school shall be reimbursed by the district for the actual costs
incurred by the school or for the district's average per pupil cost for all in-district student
transportation, whichever is less. Said reimbursements shall be subject to the Commissioner's
approval and shall be paid through the Department's charter tuition payment process.

Surplus Determination: Every Commonwealth charter school shall maintain a separate fund on its
books of account for tuition revenue. The Commissioner, in consultation with the State Auditor, shall
prescribe supplemental reports for the purpose of calculating the school’s cumulative unspent tuition
revenue, and such reports shall be submitted as part of the school’s audited financial statements.
Commonwealth charter schools are permitted to retain a reasonable surplus as working capital for the
upcoming fiscal year equal to no more than 25% of the prior year’s tuition payments plus 20% of the
budgeted operating and capital expenses for the upcoming year. Payments of excess cumulative tuition
revenue due to sending districts and the Commonwealth shall be made by the Commissioner through
adjustments to monthly tuition payments and monthly distribution of charter 70 aid.

Capital Plan and Reserves: A charter school may establish and periodically update a capital plan
identifying current and future capital projects. The Commissioner shall prescribe the information to be
reported for each such project as part of the school’s annual report. A charter school may establish a
separate capital reserve account for each project identified in its capital plan, and may make payments
into said accounts. Funds in a capital reserve account may only be used for the project or purpose for
which the account was established, provided, that such funds may be transferred to another capital reserve
account or to the school’s operating fund with the prior approval of the Commissioner.
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1.08: Reporting Requirements and Ongoing Review

)

)

3)

(4)

()

Annual Report: A charter school shall submit an annual report to the Board and the local school
committee and make available to every parent or guardian of its enrolled students and to every parent or
guardian who expresses interest in enrolling in that charter school. Each charter school shall make the
annual report available on its website. A network, as defined by 603 CMR 1.00, may submit a combined
annual report provided that information for each school is reported discretely within the annual report to
ensure that it complies with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89; 603 CMR 1.00; and any guidelines issued by the
Department. The annual report shall be issued no later than August 1* of each year for the preceding
school year. The annual report shall include the following information:

(a) afinancial statement setting forth by appropriate categories the unaudited revenue and
expenditures for the year just ended, and a balance sheet setting forth the charter school's assets,
liabilities, and fund balances or equities;

(b) a capital plan identifying future planned capital projects and the amounts held in reserve for such
projects;

(c) areport on the school’s implementation of its recruitment and retention plan for the relevant
year;

(d) an updated recruitment and retention plan for the upcoming school year that complies with
guidelines issued by the Department;

(e) projections of income and expenses for the upcoming school year;

(F) discussion of progress made toward achievement of the goals of the charter and accountability
plan;

(g9) evidence that the charter school is developing or has provided models for replication and best
practices in education; and

(h) such other information as the Board may require in guidelines.

Site Visits: The Department may send evaluation teams to visit each charter school on an annual or on an
as-needed basis to corroborate and augment the information provided in the annual report. The
Department may conduct other site visits as necessary. Site visit teams may also gather any other
evidence relevant to the school's performance. The written reports from these site visits shall become part
of the charter school's record, along with any response that the school submits.

Financial Audits: In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, every charter school shall have an independent
audit conducted of its accounts, consistent with generally accepted government auditing standards and
any guidelines issued by the Department. Audits shall be filed annually by November 1% with the
Department and the Office of the State Auditor. Districts are required to assist Horace Mann charter
schools to the fullest extent possible in providing them in a timely fashion with the financial, payroll, and
personnel records required for a complete audit. A network, as defined by 603 CMR 1.00, may submit a
combined annual independent audit report, provided that each entities’ financials are discretely presented
within the audit report to ensure that it complies with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89; 603 CMR 1.00; and any
guidelines issued by the Department.

End of Year Financial Report: Every charter school shall submit an end of year financial report based
on audited financial figures in accordance with guidelines issued by the Department.

Enrollment Reports: Every charter school shall file a pre-enrollment report annually in accordance with
deadlines established by the Department. Every charter school must keep accurate records related to
enrollment including, but not limited to, applications for admission, the lottery process, and wait lists. The
Department will report to districts the aggregate number of students who are selected for admission for
the upcoming school year from their districts and the total enrollment for each charter school. No charter
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(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

school shall receive tuition payments that exceed the total enrollment for that charter school as it was
reported to the Department in the school’s pre-enrollment report. In their pre-enrollment reports, charter
schools must notify the Department of:
() the school's total enrollment for the subsequent academic year; and
(b) the projected number of students selected for admission, by grade and district of residence, for the
subsequent academic year.

Waitlist Reports: In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89 (n); 603 CMR 1.05; and any guidelines
established by the Department, every charter school shall submit to the Department, no later than June 1%,
the list of students who entered the lottery but did not gain admission. The information provided must
include, but is not limited to, students’ names (first, middle, last), dates of birth, towns of residence, and
grades. Every charter school must update this waitlist data as required by the Department.

Enroliment Claim Forms: Each charter school shall submit reports of actual enrollment as of October 1°*
and March 1. The reports shall be filed in accordance with guidelines and deadlines established by the
Department.

Additional Information and Reports: In addition to the requisite submissions as articulated in 603
CMR 1.00, charter schools must supply any additional information, data, or reports required by the
Department or Board.

Compliance: Every charter school shall submit written documentation related to compliance with
building, health, safety, and insurance requirements and related to all such inspections and approvals are
current.

Investigations: Every charter school shall notify the Department in writing of all significant matters
within two business days. Significant matters include, but are not limited to, all communications made or
received by or on behalf of the school with any government audit, investigative, or law enforcement
agency.

Notification of New Circumstances: The charter school shall notify the Department in writing
immediately of any change in circumstances that may have a significant impact on a charter school's
ability to fulfill its goals or mission as stated in its charter. These include, but are not limited to:

(a) changes in individuals holding school leadership positions, such as an executive director or
principal;

(b) adelay in implementing a minor or major amendment;

(c) changes in location of the school’s facilities within the same municipality and documentation of
the school’s compliance with state and federal laws, including, but not limited to, all fire, health,
and safety laws and accessibility requirements for new facilities or renovations to existing
facilities;

(d) changes in officers of the school’s board of trustees;

(e) individuals resigning from the board of trustees;

(f) changes in general contact information (phone number, mailing address, and email) for the school
and the school’s board of trustees; and

(g9) significant decreases in enrollment (more than 10% lower than any previously reported figure).

Signatory Authorization: All information supplied to the Board, the Commissioner, or the Department
by the charter school shall be signed by an individual with signatory authority. All such information is
submitted under penalty of perjury.
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1.09: Complaint Procedure

(1) A parent, guardian, or other individuals or groups who believe that a charter school has violated or is
violating any provision of M.G.L. c. 71, 8 89, or 603 CMR 1.00 may file a complaint with the charter
school's board of trustees.

(2) The board of trustees shall respond in writing to the complaining party no later than 45 days from receipt
of the complaint.

(3) The board of trustees shall, pursuant to a complaint received under 603 CMR 1.09, or on its own
initiative, conduct reviews to ensure compliance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, and 603 CMR 1.00. The charter
school and the specific individuals involved shall cooperate to the fullest extent with such review.

(4) A complaining party who believes a complaint pursuant to 603 CMR 1.09(1) has not been adequately
addressed by the charter school board of trustees may submit the complaint in writing to the
Commissioner, who shall investigate such complaint and make a written response.

(5) In the event the charter school is found in violation of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, or 603 CMR 1.00, the
Commissioner or Board may take such action deemed appropriate including, but not limited to,
suspension or revocation of the charter, or referral of the matter to the District Attorney, the Office of the
Attorney General, or other appropriate agencies for action.

(6) A parent, guardian, or other individuals or groups who believe that a charter school has violated or is
violating any state or federal law or regulation regarding special education may file a complaint directly
with the Department.

1.10: Amendments of Charters

Requests to amend the material terms of a school’s charter must be voted on by the board of trustees and
approved by the Commissioner or the Board before change is implemented.

(1) Amendments Requiring Board Approval: If a charter school plans to change the terms of its charter,
the school's board of trustees shall vote on and submit to the Board a request in writing to amend its
charter. Changes requiring approval by the Board before they can be implemented include:

(a) Districts specified in the school's charter;

(b) Maximum enrollment;

(c) Grades served; and

(d) Contractual relationships with an education management organization providing or planning to
provide substantially all the school's educational services.

(2) Amendments Requiring Commissioner Approval: If a charter school plans to change the terms of its
charter, the school's board of trustees shall vote on and submit to the Commissioner a request in writing to
amend its charter. Changes requiring approval by the Commissioner before they can be implemented
include:

(@) School name;

(b) Mission;

(c) Governance or leadership structure;

(d) Educational programs, curriculum models, or whole-school designs that are inconsistent with
those specified in the school's charter;

(e) Bylaws;

() Membership of the board of trustees;
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() Memoranda of Understanding for Horace Mann charter schools;

(h) Schedule (length of school year, school week, or school day);

(i) Accountability Plan;

(i) Enrollment policy and application for admission;

(K) Expulsion policy; and

() Location of facilities, if such change involves relocating to or adding a facility in another
municipality or school district, in a district already specified in the school’s charter.

(3) Consideration of Amendment Requests: The Commissioner and the Board may consider a charter
school's compliance with applicable state, federal, and local law and evidence regarding the three areas
set forth in 603 CMR 1.11(2) in reaching a determination regarding a school's request to amend its
charter.

(4) Horace Mann Charter Schools:

() Amendments by a Horace Mann charter school to its bylaws and members on its board of trustees
shall be voted on by the school’s board of trustees and the request submitted in writing to the
Commissioner. Such changes require approval by the Commissioner before they can be
implemented and do not require approval of the local collective bargaining unit and local school
committee.

(b) All other amendments, as described in 1.10(1) and (2), by Horace Mann | and 111 require the
approval of the local collective bargaining unit and the local school committee prior to the
submission of such requests to the Department. All other amendments by a Horace Mann Il
require approval of a majority of the school’s faculty and the local school committee prior to the
submission of such requests to the Department.

(5) Comment: If a Commonwealth charter school seeks an amendment to change its maximum enrollment,
grades served, the municipality or school district of its location, or the districts specified in its region, the
school shall send a copy of its amendment materials to the superintendent of the school districts from
which the school enrolls or is expected to enroll students and certify to the Department that it has done so.
The Department will solicit and review comments on the amendment request from the superintendents of
the affected districts.

(6) Proven Provider: Boards of trustees seeking amendment requests to increase maximum enrollment in
districts performing in the lowest 10% statewide, under M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, and in which the 9% t net
school spending cap is or would be exceeded, must meet the performance criteria described in 603 CMR
1.04(4).

(7) More than 20%: In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71 8 89(n), if more than 20% of the school’s total
enrollment for two consecutive years comes from school districts not included in its original charter, the
school’s board of trustees must file an amendment request to reflect its actual enrollment patterns.

(8) Review: Should the Commissioner deny an amendment request, the charter school's board of trustees
may seek review of the Commissioner's decision by the Board.

1.11: Renewal of Charters
A charter school seeking renewal of its charter shall proceed as follows:

(1) Renewal Application: The charter school shall submit its application for renewal of a charter under 603
CMR 1.00 no earlier than March 1* of the third school year of the relevant charter and no later than
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(2)

3)

August 1 after the end of the fourth school year of the relevant charter. The Board will review renewal
applications pursuant to the criteria set forth below and in and M.G.L. c. 71, § 89. For renewal
applications received on or before August 1%, the Department shall notify the charter applicant of the
decision to renew or not to renew the charter and the reasons therefore no later than March 1% following
receipt of the renewal application.

The charter school may apply for renewal of its charter under renewal application guidelines issued by the
Department. Applications for the renewal of Horace Mann charters must be submitted with the
certification of a majority vote of the school committee and local collective bargaining unit.

Renewal Guidelines: The Department shall issue guidelines describing the evaluation process to be
followed in reviewing applications for charter renewal, including protocols for renewal inspections and
performance criteria. The decision by the Board to renew a charter shall be based upon the presentation of
affirmative evidence regarding the faithfulness of the school to the terms of its charter, including the
extent to which the school has followed its recruitment and retention plan and has disseminated best
practices in accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89(dd); the success of the school's academic program; and
the viability of the school as an organization. The Department will gather evidence regarding these issues
from the renewal application and from other information, including but not limited to, a school's annual
reports, financial audits, test results, site visit reports, and the renewal inspection report. All charter
schools will be evaluated on the same performance criteria as provided in the guidelines, provided,
however, that the criteria will take into account each school's charter and accountability plan. Evidence of
academic success for all students is essential for charter renewal.

Term of Charter: Charters that are renewed shall be for five years from the expiration of the previous
charter under such conditions as the Board may establish under 603 CMR 1.04(7) and any additional
conditions that the Board or Commissioner may specify. If a school fails to comply with any specified
conditions, the Commissioner may recommend to the Board that the school be placed on probation or that
the charter be revoked as described in 603 CMR 1.12. Charters of schools that do not file renewal
applications shall expire at the end of the fifth year of the charter school's operation, subject to 603 CMR
1.12.

1.12: Conditions, Probation, Suspension, Revocation, and Non-Renewal

(1)

(2)

()

Conditions: The Board or Commissioner may impose conditions on a school’s charter for violations of
law or failure to make progress with student achievement, failure to adhere to and enhance its recruitment
and retention plan, failure to comply with the terms of its charter, or failure to remain viable.

Probation: The Board may place a charter school on probation if in its judgment the imposition of a
condition alone would be insufficient to remediate the problem. The Board may impose conditions on the
school’s charter that require the school to address specific areas of concern. Placing a school on probation
signals concern about the school’s viability and permits the Board to suspend a school’s charter
immediately if the school fails to remedy the causes of its probation. The Department may require a
charter school on probation to establish an escrow account in an amount determined by the Department in
consultation with the charter school to pay for closing, legal, and audit expenses associated with closure
should that occur.

Suspension or Revocation: The Board may suspend or revoke a charter for cause including, but not
limited to:
() lack of evidence of academic success;
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(b) failure to comply substantially with the terms of the charter, with any of the applicable provisions
of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, or with any other applicable law or regulation;

(c) a material misrepresentation in the application for approval or renewal of the charter;

(d) financial insolvency;

(e) misappropriation, conversion, mismanagement, or illegal withholding of funds or refusal to pay
any funds that belong to any person otherwise entitled thereto and that have been entrusted to the
charter school or its administrators in their fiduciary capacities;

(f) fraud or gross mismanagement on the part of charter school administrators or board of trustees,
including but not limited to, mismanagement of the educational program and failure to provide a
healthy and safe environment for students;

(9) criminal convictions on the part of the charter school administration or members of its board of
trustees; or

(h) failure to fulfill any conditions imposed by the Board in connection with the grant or renewal of a
charter.

(4) Notification: Before the Board revokes a charter, it shall notify the charter school in writing that the
Board intends to revoke the charter. A vote of intent to revoke or a vote to not renew a charter shall
operate as a notice of the action and does not operate as an order to show cause. In the case of a Horace
Mann charter, the Board shall also notify the district in which the school is located. Except in the case of
an immediate suspension, the Board shall send the notice 60 days before the revocation takes effect.

(5) Hearing: Upon receiving a notice of intent to revoke a charter, notice of non-renewal, or notice of
suspension where the health, safety, or education of the school's students is at immediate risk, the school
shall have the rights provided in M.G.L. c. 30A, § 13, and 801 CMR 1.00: Standard Adjudicatory Rules
of Practice and Procedure. Where hearings are provided by statutes, all requests for hearings shall be in
writing, addressed to the Board, and must be received within 15 days of receipt by the charter school of
notice. At such hearing, the school shall bear the burden of proof and present its case first.

(6) Withhold Payment: The Board may withhold payments to any charter school that fails to comply with
conditions imposed on its charter, that has been placed on probation, or whose charter has been
suspended, revoked, or not renewed.

(7) General Fund: Upon the revocation, non-renewal, or voluntary return of a Commonwealth charter, title
to all of the property of the charter school shall immediately vest in the Commonwealth, subject to the
rights of any secured party holding a perfected security interest in the property of such charter school.
Any funds remaining after the satisfaction of the charter school's obligations shall be deposited in the
General Fund.

(8) Closing Procedures: Charter schools must comply with the closing procedures established by the
Department. Charter schools must begin planning for closure and compliance with closing procedures
immediately upon issuance of a notice of intent to revoke the school’s charter, a notice of non-renewal, or
a notice of suspension.

If the Commissioner determines that the board of trustees of a charter school needs additional expertise in
fulfilling, or it fails to fulfill, its obligations under the closing procedures established by the Department,
the Commissioner may appoint an individual or entity to assist with an orderly closure of the charter
school. Such individual or entity may be paid out of the school’s remaining funds, including the escrow
account specified in 603 CMR 1.12.

(9) Debts and Liabilities: Upon closure of a charter school, the Commonwealth, the Board, and the
Department assume no liability for any portion of any obligations, debts, or loans, or other liabilities
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of the board of trustees or of the charter school.

(10) Property: Upon the revocation, non-renewal, or voluntary return of a Horace Mann charter, title to all of
the property of the charter school shall immediately vest in the school district in which the school is
located, subject to the rights of any secured party holding a perfected security interest in the property of
such charter school.

1.13: Severability Clause
If any section or portion of a section of 603 CMR 1.00, or the applicability of 603 CMR 1.00 to any
person, entity or circumstance is held invalid by a court, the remainder of 603 CMR 1.00 or the

applicability of such provisions to other persons, entities or circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

Regulatory Authority:
M.G.L. c. 69, 8 1B; c. 69, 8§88 1J and 1K, as amended by St. 2010, c. 12, § 3; c. 71, § 38G.
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Section 100

Section 200

Section 300

Section 400

Section 500

Section 600

The following is the detail of each section within the Guide:

Introduction - provides a description of the purpose of the Guide and its
organization, the background and effective date.

Section 100
Section 101
Section 102
Section 103
Section 104
Section 105

Introduction

Scope and Organization
Purpose

Amending the Guide
Effective Date
Background

Contracting the Audit - provides a description of the contracting process,
administering the audit and penalties for non-compliance.

Section 200
Section 201

Contracting the Audit
Administering the Audit

Filing Requirements - describe the detail procedures for who, what, where
and when to submit the annual audit report.

Section 300
Section 301
Section 302
Section 303
Section 304

Who Must File

When to File

What and Where to File

Additional Reporting — Charter School Program Funding
Penalty for Noncompliance

Audit Objective — describes the objective of the audit and the charter schools’
and auditors’ responsibility to accomplish the objective.

Section 400
Section 401
Section 402
Section 403

Audit Objective

Charter School Responsibility
Auditor Responsibility
Working Papers

Federal Single Audit — describes the audit requirements under OMB Circular
A-133, the charter schools’ and auditors’ responsibility to accomplish the
OMB Circular A-133 objective and related penalties.

Section 500
Section 501
Section 502
Section 503

Federal Single Audit

Charter School Responsibility under OMB Circular A-133
Auditor Responsibilities

OMB Circular A-133 Penalties

Accounting Policies and Audit Guidance - Describes the policies and
authoritative guidance used to perform the audit of the charter school

Section 600
Section 601
Section 602
Section 603

Financial Reporting Entity
Accounting Principles

Auditing Standards and Guidance
Audit Objectives
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Section 700

Section 800

Section 900

Section 1000

Financial Statement Considerations - Provides guidance on the GASB No.
34 and guidance on the assessment of component units as they relate to the

charter school.

Section 700  Comparative Financial Statements

Section 701  Component Unit Consideration

Section 702  Considerations for a Network of Charter Schools

Reporting Package - Outlines the reporting requirements and required
financial statement disclosures of the charter school.

Section 800  Reporting Package

Section 801  Management Discussion and Analysis

Section 802  Basic Financial Statements

Section 803  Statement of Net Position

Section 804  Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net
Position

Section 805  Statement of Cash Flows

Section 806  Required Disclosures — Notes to Financial Statements
Section 807  Supplemental 20% Carryover Calculation

Section 808  Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Section 809  Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

Section 810  Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Section 811  SF-SAC Data Collection Form

Section 812  Acceptance of the Board of Trustees

Section 813  Management Letter

Charter School End of Year Financial Report — Describes the requirements
and reporting format for all schools to follow when filing their annual report.

Compliance Requirements - Describes compliance requirements to be tested

as part of the audit.

Section 1000 Compliance Requirements
Section 1001  Internal Controls
Section 1002  Record Keeping
Section 1003  Related Party Disclosures

Section 1004
Section 1005

Reporting
Required Policies

Section 1006  Public Meetings

Section 1007  Occupancy

Section 1008  Procurement Policy

Section 1009  Charter Amendments

Section 1010  Massachusetts Teachers Retirement System
Section 1011  Charter School End of Year Financial Report
Section 1012  20% Excess Carryover Calculation

Section 1013

Networks of Charter Schools
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100

101

102

Introduction

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts in 1993 enacted Massachusetts General Laws
(M.G.L.) c. 71, Education Reform Act, 8 89, which authorized the establishment of
charter schools within the Commonwealth. The uniform rules and procedures governing
the establishment of charter schools are provided by 603 CMR 1.00 which is
promulgated under the authority of M.G.L. c. 71. These statutes stipulate various
requirements for charter schools and include a provision that requires charter schools to
keep an accurate account of all its activities and provide for an annual independent audit
of its financial statements.

In an effort to the support these requirements, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Department Elementary and Secondary Education (the Department) has developed the
charter school Audit Guide (Guide) to provide all charter schools within the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts and their independent auditors with a resource of audit
requirements including illustrative financial statement formats. The requirements
contained in this Guide must be followed by all charter schools; however items may be
added or modified to meet the charter school’s needs and independent auditor’s
professional judgment.

Scope and Organization

The Guide contains two sections; Part | includes the audit policies and procedures and Part
Il includes auditing and reporting guidelines.

Purpose

The purpose of the Guide is to provide procedures to properly complete the charter
school's annual audit and provides a uniform approach to the financial statement formats
and the related notes to the financial statements. The Guide provides recommendations
and requirements that will meet the individual charter school’s needs to prepare and submit
the annual audit report in conformity with laws, regulations and administrative policies
governing Massachusetts charter schools.

The Guide also provides detailed information on the financial reporting and audit
requirements of the charter school, including applicable laws and regulations regarding
audits of grants awarded by the U.S. Government and other funding sources.
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102 Purpose - continued

The Guide is to be used in conjunction with current audit standards and accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and is not intended to
supplant these standards and principles. These standards and principles may have been
updated or revised and new guidance may have been issued subsequent the issuance of
this Guide. The charter school and its auditors are required to apply all applicable current
standards to the audit performed. The Guide requires the auditor to properly plan and
perform the audit and encourages professional judgment in determining the audit steps
necessary to accomplish the audit objectives. Any recommendations or suggestions to
improve this Guide should be sent to the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and
Secondary charterschools@doe.mass.edu.

103  Amending the Guide

This Guide contains the minimum audit policies and procedures for the charter school, as of
the date of its promulgation. From time to time, as additional matters require or changes to
this Guide are appropriate, the Department will amend this Guide. The amendments will be
published on the Department’s web site at www.doe.mass.edu/charter and should be
reviewed annually by the charter school and their auditor to ensure that the audit
requirements are maintained on a current basis. It is the charter school’s responsibility to
conform to the current reporting requirements of the Department. Incomplete or
incorrect annual audit reports will be rejected by the Department and will require
resubmission.

104  Effective Date

The Guide will be effective for all charter schools with fiscal years ending on or after
June 30, 2015 in which an audit is required (See Section 300), with the exception of
Charter School Program Grant reporting requirements (See Appendix B), and the
removal of the surplus schedule (see Section 807), which both take effect for the fiscal
year ending June 30, 2014. Schools are strongly encouraged to implement the entire
guide for fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.

105  Background

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, 8§ 89, each charter school must have an independent
audit conducted of its accounts, consistent with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, and consistent with any guidelines the Department may
issue. Audits must be filed annually on or before November 1% with the Department and
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Office of the State Auditor.

As a special purpose governmental unit, the charter school will follow the requirements of
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). GASB is the recognized
standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. This Guide is updated through the issuance of GASB Statement No. 71
Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date — an
Amendment to GASB No. 68.
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105  Background - continued

The charter school’s activities should be accounted for as a Business-Type Entity and report
all activity within the Proprietary Fund. The charter school will maintain their accounting
records and related financial reports on the accrual basis of accounting. Also pursuant to
GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance
Contained in Pre-November 1989 FASB and American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA) Pronouncements, the charter school should elect to apply the
provisions of all Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements and
Interpretations, APB Opinions and ARB’s of the Committee on Accounting Procedures,
except for those that conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.

Charter School Audit Guide — June 2014 pr/Award # U282A160013 3
Page €120



200

Contracting the Audit

The charter school’s board of trustees contracts annually with a qualified certified public
accounting firm to conduct the audit of the charter school’s financial statements in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America,
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and
if applicable the U.S Office of Management and Budget’s Circular A-133. The selected audit
firm must be familiar with these standards and related Commonwealth of Massachusetts
charter school regulations, in order to properly conduct the audit engagement.

While not an audit standard of Government Auditing Standards, sound procurement
practices for goods and services should be followed. The Department recommends that
management document the factors considered and the conclusions reached concerning the
auditor’s acceptance and retention. The review of retention factors and the acceptance
decision should be made in light of the knowledge about the auditor obtained from the prior
audit(s) and consideration of matters that may have occurred since the prior audit.

If the audit process is to be bid, then a formal request for proposal should be prepared and
all bidders should be evaluated based on a set of criteria that should include, past
experience, qualification of the assigned staff, references from similar organizations,
professional affiliations, technical abilities, peer review opinion and fee. This process should
document how the successful bidder was determined to ensure a fair and objective selection
process.

The independent auditor engaged to conduct the charter school audit must be: (a) licensed
certified public accountants or persons working for a licensed certified public accounting
firm; or (b) public accountants licensed on or before December 31, 1970, or persons
working for a public accounting firm licensed on or before December 31, 1970.

Accountants and accounting firms meeting these licensing and independence requirements
must also comply with applicable provisions of the public accountancy law and rules of the
jurisdiction(s) where the audit is being conducted and the jurisdiction(s) in which they are
licensed. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts must license public accountants and
accounting firms engaged to conduct audits in Massachusetts.

The auditor and the charter school must fully understand and comply with the independence
standards contained within Government Auditing Standards (2011 Revision) and the United
States Government Accountability Office (GAO) Government Auditing Standards Answers
to Independence Questions. These documents are available at the GAO web site
http://www.gao.gov/ and should be reviewed prior to contracting the independent auditor.

Auditors should determine whether identified threats to independence are at an acceptable
level or have been eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level. A threat to independence is
not acceptable if the threat either (a) could impact the auditor's ability to perform an audit
without being affected by influences that compromise professional judgment or (b) could
expose the auditor or audit organization to circumstances that would cause a reasonable and
informed third party to conclude that the integrity, objectivity, or professional skepticism of
the audit firm, or a member of the audit team, had been compromised.
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200

Contracting the Audit - continued

When an auditor identifies threats to independence and, based on an evaluation of those
threats, determines that they are not at an acceptable level, the auditor should determine
whether appropriate safeguards are available and can be applied to eliminate the threats
or reduce them to an acceptable level. The auditor should exercise professional judgment
in making that determination, and should take into account whether both independence of
mind and independence in appearance are maintained. The auditor should evaluate both
qualitative and quantitative factors when determining the significance of a threat.

The auditor is required to document threats to independence that require the application
of safeguards and the safeguards applied. For nonaudit services, regardless of whether
threats to independence are determined to be significant, the auditor is required to
document (1) the understanding established with the audited entity regarding the nonaudit
services to be performed and (2) management’s ability to effectively oversee the nonaudit
services, including whether management possesses suitable skills, knowledge, or
experience to do so. The auditor also should establish and document in writing his or her
understanding with the charter school regarding (1) the objectives of the nonaudit service,
(2) the services to be performed, (3) the charter school’s acceptance of its responsibilities,
(4) the auditor’s responsibilities, and (5) any limitations of the nonaudit service.

In order to conform to the AICPA Statement on Auditing Standard No. 114 (AU Section
380) The Auditor’s Communication With Those Charged With Governance, and
Government Auditing Standards the auditor must reach a clear understanding with the
client about the services to be performed for the engagement and should document their
understanding in a written engagement letter. The engagement letter should include: the
objective and scope of the audit, including the financial statements and supplemental
information, if any, to be opined on and the auditing standards to be complied with;
management’s responsibilities, including internal control over financial statement
presentation, compliance and fraud and provide documentation for completion of the
audit; auditor’s responsibilities, audit procedures for financial statements and compliance
and limitations; administrative issues, including the audit fee, workpaper retention, copy
of the firm’s peer review opinion and letter of comments, if any and the start and delivery
dates for the audit report including the draft and final dates. This understanding should be
reached prior to the start of the audit process.
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201  Administering the Audit

The board of trustees should appoint an audit/finance subcommittee to monitor the audit
process. This subcommittee will contract the independent auditor and review the scope
and results of the audit. The audit/finance subcommittee also receives notice of any
consequential irregularities and findings that the auditor noted during the engagement.
Additionally, the subcommittee will develop a corrective action plan to address all
relevant findings noted by the auditor. The audit/finance subcommittee will also review
all financial information of the charter school and provide recommendations to the full
board of trustees. Further, the Board of Trustees may delegate responsibility to accept the
audit to the audit/finance committee who will acknowledge their acceptance of the audit
by signing the Acceptance of the Board of Trustees Letter (Appendix A), which will be
attached to the final audit package for submission to the Department.
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300

301

302

Filing Requirements - Who Must File

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, each Commonwealth of Massachusetts
charter school shall have an annual independent audit conducted of its accounts,
consistent with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, Government Auditing Standards and any guidelines the Department or the
Office of the State Auditor may issue.

During the charter school’s planning period—the time between the granting of the charter
and the opening of the charter school to enrolled students—the charter school may
request to have an independent accountant’s review performed, which is less in scope
than an audit, in lieu of an audit. The review must be performed by a certified public
accountant in accordance with the Statements on Accounting and Review Services issued
by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. If a review is performed,
Section 1000 of this Guide is not applicable, and the Acceptance of Board of Trustees
(Appendix A) must be modified to describe the scope of services provided. Additionally,
if during the planning period the charter school expends in excess of the threshold set by
OMB Circular A-133 (currently $500,000 for fiscal year) in federal expenditures a full
audit must be performed in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. (The auditors should
be aware of any subsequent changes to the threshold).

If a charter school wishes to have an review performed in lieu of an audit during the
planning period, a formal request by the charter school’s board of trustees should
be made in writing to the Department at least three months prior to the filing
deadline (See Section 301 ‘When to File”). The Department’s approval must be
obtained prior to contracting for the services.

Additionally, a separate an agreed upon procedures may be required for charter
schools that receive funding under the Federal Charter Schools Program (CSP).
(See Section 303).

When to File

In accordance with 603 CMR 1.09(3), a Commonwealth of Massachusetts charter school
shall have its independent audit filed annually on or before November 1* following the
fiscal year end. Any request for an extension must be submitted in writing and approved
by the Department prior to the due date.

If an agreed upon procedures report is required for a charter that receive CSP funding the
agreed upon procedures report shall be filed on or before November 1* following the
fiscal year end.

What and Where to File

A charter school must submit a completed Reporting Package, which must adhere to the
format described in the Guide (See Section 800 Reporting Package). An incomplete or
incorrect annual Reporting Package will be rejected and require correction and/or
resubmission. The audit will not be considered submitted to the Department until a
complete Reporting Package is submitted as follows:
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302

303

What and Where to File — continued

Papers copies of the reporting package will not be accepted, therefore the audit will
not be considered submitted until the electronic copy is uploaded via the portal.

One (1) electronic copy of the completed Reporting Package, including management
letter, if any, must be filed via email to the Office of the State Auditor at the following
email address:

!P|ease note: t!IS !|||ng m!ormation may be updated annually).

One electronic copy of the completed Reporting Package in PDF format must be
submitted via the Department’s Security Portal. (The Security Portal is accessible through
the Department’s website - See http://www.doe.mass.edu/)

The Charter School Year End Report (See Section 900) —file must be submitted via
the Department’s Security Portal.

The Charter School Year End Report (See Section 900) signed certification statement
must be submitted via the Department’s Security Portal.

An audit performed in accordance with the Office of Management and Budget Circular
A-133 Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations (OMB A-133)
must be filed with the Federal Audit Clearinghouse. Please refer to OMB CircularA-133
for the federal filing requirements (See Section 500).

http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/assets/al133/a133 revised 2007.pdf

Please note that updated filing instructions may be provided annually by the Department.
Additional Reporting — Charter School Program (CSP) Funding

Effective FY14, if the School receives federal Charter Schools Program funds (CSP)
(CFDA No. 84.282) directly from the Department, and the School does not meet the
threshold for an OMB Circular A-133 audit, an accountants agreed upon procedures

report specific to this funding is required.

If the School does meet the threshold of an OMB Circular A-133 audit, and the CSP
funding does not meet the criteria for a major program the auditor has the option of either
including the CSP funding as a major program and testing accordingly, or performing the
accountants agreed upon procedures report. See Appendix B for agreed upon procedures
and sample report. The agreed upon procedures report is due November 1* following the
fiscal year end and is required to be submitted as follows:

One electronic copy of the completed Agreed Upon Procedures Reporting Package (see
Appendix B) in PDF format must be submitted via the Department’s Security Portal.
(The Security Portal is accessible through the Department’s website - See
www.doe.mass.edu).

Charter School Audit Guide — June 2014 pr/Award # U282A160013 8

Page e125



304  Penalty for Noncompliance

The charter school must file an annual audit report by the stated filing deadline to comply
with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts statutory and regulatory requirements. The
Department reserves the right to sanction any charter school that does not comply with
this requirement, including but not limited to withholding payment of state funds,
conditions, probation or revocation of the charter.
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400

401

402

Audit Objective

The objective of the audit is as follows: the expression of an opinion that provides
reasonable assurance that the financial statements and notes present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the charter school,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; provides limited assurance on the management discussion and analysis;
provides no assurance on the Department’s supplemental information. The auditor will
also report on the charter school’s internal control related to the financial reporting and
compliance with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant agreements,
noncompliance which could have a material effect on the financial statements in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

If the audit is to be performed in accordance with the Single Audit Act Amendments of
1996 and OMB Circular A-133, the auditor will also report on the charter school’s
internal control related to its major programs and provide an opinion (or disclaimer of
opinion) on compliance with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant
agreements that could have a direct and material effect on each major program.

Charter School Responsibility

The management of the charter school is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements and related notes in accordance accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Additionally, management
is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control and for compliance with
the provisions of applicable laws, regulations, contracts, agreements, and grants and
detecting and reporting any issues of fraud. Consequently, management is responsible for
the financial statements, the related notes to the financial statements and supplemental
information. The auditor will require that the charter school management confirm this
responsibility through a management representation letter to be issued to the auditor at
the end of the engagement.

Auditor Responsibility

The AICPA through the Auditing Standards Board issues Statements on Auditing
Standards, which provide audit standards and identify the responsibilities of the auditor
when issuing an opinion on financial statements, in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. The auditor is expected to posses
adequate professional proficiency and understanding of these Statements on Auditing
Standards’, and specific proficiency as it relates to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
charter school regulations, prior to accepting the audit engagement.
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402

Auditor Responsibility - continued

The general audit standards under Government Auditing Standards require that the audit
be performed by personnel who collectively have the necessary technical skills, maintain
independence, exercise due professional care in properly planning, conducting and
reporting the results of the audit and the audit firm has an appropriate quality control
system that is supported by an external quality control review. In order to conform to the
Government Auditing Standards technical skills requirement, the audit staff must
maintain professional proficiency through continuing professional education (CPE) and
training. A component of this training requires that each audit staff responsible for
planning, directing, performing fieldwork or reporting on the audit must complete every
two years, at least 80 hours of CPE, of which 24 hours of the 80 must be directly related
to government auditing, the governmental environment, or specific or unique
environment in which the audited entity operates.

Government Auditing Standards fieldwork standards require that the auditor plan and
perform the audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence so that audit risk will be
limited to a low level that is, in their professional judgment, appropriate for expressing an
opinion on the financial statements. Government Auditing Standards incorporate the
AICPA fieldwork and reporting standards and prescribes additional standards for
financial audits performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

The fieldwork standards include the following:
e The audit is properly planned and supervised

e A sufficient understanding of the entity and its environment, including its internal
control, is obtained in order to assess the risk of material misstatement of the
financial statements whether due to error or fraud, and to design the nature timing
and extent of further audit procedure.

e Sufficient appropriate audit evidence must be obtained by performing auditor
procedures to afford a reasonable basis for an opinion regarding the financial
statement under audit.

e An evaluation as to whether the charter school has taken appropriate corrective
action to address findings and recommendations from previous engagements that
could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.

e The audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance of detecting misstatements
that result from violation of provisions of contracts or grant agreements that could
have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.
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402  Auditor Responsibility - continued

The auditor is required to express an opinion or disclaim an opinion on the financial
statements and notes to the financial statements of the charter school. These financial
statements generally include of the Statement of Net Position and the related Statements of
Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position and Cash Flows. In conjunction with the
financial statements, the report will include the Management Discussion and Analysis
(unaudited), The accuracy of the 20% Excess Surplus Carryover Calculation will be
reviewed as part of the compliance procedures performed in the subsequent year (see
Section 1012).

403  Working Papers

Government Auditing Standards require that working papers contain sufficient
information to enable an experienced auditor, having no previous connection with the
charter school audit, to ascertain from them the nature, timing and extent of the
procedures performed, audit evidence obtained and the results or conclusions reached on
significant matters. This allows the Department or other appropriate oversight officials, to
adequately review the auditor’s work and related conclusions. Working papers must be
retained by the auditor for a minimum of five years after the issuance date or longer if the
Department notifies the auditor.

Charter School Audit Guide — June 2014 pr/award # U282A160013 12
Page e129



500

501

Federal Single Audit

A charter school that expended $500,000 (currently the fiscal year 2014 threshold) or
more of federal awards through a combination of direct programs from the federal
government, pass-through awards from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Departments, pass-through awards from other entities, such as other state or local
governments and nonprofit organizations are subject to the audit provisions of the Single
Audit Act and OMB Circular A-133. Information regarding OMB Circular A-133 can be
found at: http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/circulars_default.

If the charter school is required to perform an audit in conformity with OMB Circular A-
133, these requirements must be included in the School’s audit report submitted to the
Department. This includes, but is not limited to the Independent Auditors' Report, the
Basic Financial Statement, Notes to the Financial Statements, Supplemental Information -
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal
Awards, Independent Auditors Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards, Independent Auditors Report On
Compliance for Each Major Program And On Internal Control Over Compliance Required
by OMB Circular A-133, Summary of Audit Results, Schedule of Findings and Questioned
Costs and Acceptance by the Board of Trustees.

Charter School Responsibility under OMB Circular A-133
The provisions of OMB Circular A-133 require the charter school to:

e ldentify, in its accounts, all federal awards received and expended and the federal
programs under which they were received. Federal program and award
identification shall include, as applicable, the Catalog of Federal Domestic
Assistance (CFDA) title and number, award/contract number and year, name of
the federal agency, and name of the pass-through entity.

* Document the funding source for all funding received, including the amount of
federal funding expended and the extent to which the charter school is subject to
an audit in accordance with OMB Circular A-133.

* Maintain internal control over federal programs that provides reasonable
assurance that the charter school is managing the federal awards in compliance
with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant agreements that
could have a material effect on each of its federal programs.
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501

502

503

Charter School Responsibility under OMB Circular A-133 - continued

e Comply with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant
agreements related to each of its federal programs.

* Prepare appropriate financial statements, including the Schedule of Expenditures
of Federal Awards in accordance with the provisions of OMB Circular A-133.

* Ensure audits required by OMB Circular A-133 are properly performed and
submitted when due.

* Follow up and take corrective action on audit findings, including preparation of a
summary schedule of prior audit findings and a corrective action plan in
accordance with the provisions of OMB Circular A-133.

* Electronically prepare, sign and submit the Form SF-SAC Data Collection Form
for Reporting on Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non Profit
Organizations.

Auditor Responsibilities

Prior to auditing the financial statements and conducting the audit of the charter school,
the independent auditor is urged to consult the following requirements: Single Audit Act
Amendments of 1996, the OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and
Non-Profit Organizations, the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement, the AICPA
Audit and Accounting Guide for Audits of State and Local Governments and, AU-C 035
Compliance Audits.

OMB Circular A-133 Penalties

No audit costs may be charged to federal awards when audits required by OMB Circular
A-133 have not been made or have been made, but not in accordance with the provisions
of OMB Circular A-133. In cases of continued inability or unwillingness to have an audit
conducted in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, the circular indicates that federal
agencies and pass-through entities shall take appropriate action using sanctions such as:

* Withholding a percentage of federal awards until the audit is completed
satisfactorily.

* Withholding or disallowing overhead costs.
* Suspending federal awards until the audit is conducted.
e Terminating the federal award.
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601

602

PART Il AUDITING AND REPORTING GUIDELINES
Accounting Policies - Financial Reporting Entity

The charter school is classified as a special purpose government entity and operates as a
business type entity within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. GASB Codification
Section 2100 ‘Defining the Financial Reporting Entity’ should be referred to when
determining the reporting entity for the School.

The financial reporting entity consists of organizations for which the School is financially
accountable. The School may determine through the exercise of management's
professional judgment that the inclusion of an organization that does not meet the
financial accountability criteria is necessary in order to prevent the reporting entity's
financial statements from being misleading. (see Section 701). In such circumstances,
that organization should be included as a component unit.

An organization other than a primary government (such as other stand-alone
governments) serves as a nucleus for its reporting entity when it issues financial
statements. The financial reporting entity consists of the stand-alone governments and all
component units for which it is financially accountable, and other organizations for
which the nature and significance of their relationship with the stand-alone government
are such that exclusion would cause the charter school’s financial statements to be
misleading. Any stand-alone government with a voting majority of its governing board
appointed by a primary government should disclose that accountability relationship in its
financial statements.

Accounting Principles

The accounting principles of the charter school must conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) that are applicable to a
special purpose governmental entity. Therefore, revenues and expenses are recorded
using the accrual basis of accounting and requires that revenues are recognized in the
accounting period in which they are earned and expenses are recognized in the period in
which goods or services are received or incurred.

Auditing Standards and Guidance

The charter school shall maintain their financial records in accordance with GAAP and
conduct an annual independent audit in accordance with the Government Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America. These
standards incorporate all the AICPA generally accepted auditing standards for fieldwork
and reporting, as well as the related AICPA Statement on Auditing Standards’.
Government Auditing Standards prescribes general standards and additional fieldwork
and reporting standards beyond those provided by the AICPA when performing financial
audits.
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602

603

Auditing Standards and Guidance - continued

In accordance with the AICPA, the first audit fieldwork standard requires that the audit
be properly planned. In planning the audit the auditor should, at a minimum, become
familiar with this Guide and the following:

AICPA Professional Standards

AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide for States and Local Government Units
Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Current Text

Government Accounting Standards Board Codification

OMB Circular A-133: Audits of Institutions of States, Local Governments and Non
Profit Organization

OMB Circular A-133, Compliance Supplement

OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State and Local Governments

Common Rule for Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative
Agreements to State and Local Governments

Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Charter School Regulations

General Laws of Massachusetts c. 71, 8 89

603 CMR 1.00 Charter Schools

Technical Advisories issued by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of
Elementary and Secondary Education

Audit Objectives

The primary audit objectives when performing an audit of a charter school are to
determine whether:

The financial statements and related notes are presented fairly, in all material
respects, in conformity with GAAP.

The charter school has implemented and utilized reasonable financial and
administrative procedures and internal controls to adequately safeguard assets.

State and Federal reports and claims for advances or reimbursements contain
accurate and reliable financial data and are presented in accordance with the terms of
applicable agreements.

State and Federal funds are being expended in accordance with the terms of
applicable agreements and those provisions of laws or regulations that could have a
direct and material effect on the financial statements and related notes.
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701

702

Charter School Audit Guide — June 2014

Financial Statement Considerations — Comparative Financial Statements

GASB standards requires, subsequent to the first year of operation, that the charter school
issue either comparative or summarized comparative financial statements depending on
whether the charter school has a component unit or not.

Component Unit Consideration

In accordance with GASB, with the exception of a charter school that is part of a network
of charter schools (see Section 702 for treatment of a network of charter schools), the
charter school is considered the primary government. Numerous charter schools within
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts have associated non-profit organizations. These
organizations should be evaluated during the planning stage of the audit to determine
whether or not they should considered a component unit of the charter school, and how
they should be reported in the audit. The financial information for these component units
should be reported in conjunction with the charter school's financial statements and
accounted for in accordance with GASB Codification Section 2600. See Appendix E for
more information about identifying component units.

In accordance with GASB, component units can be either be treated as (1) “blended”
with the charter school or (2) “discretely presented” from the charter school. Regardless
of treatment, the financial information for the charter school and each component unit
should be presented in individual columns in the financial statements in order to
separately distinguish the balances and transactions of the charter school and the
component unit(s). As required by GASB, the auditor should opine on the financial
activity of the charter school and component units based on the treatment of component
units.

If the charter school has a relationship with a separate non-profit or governmental entity,
but the entity does not meet the criteria for including the reporting entity’s financial
statements as a component unit of the charter school, then all the transactions incurred
between the organization and the charter school should be evaluated as related party
transactions and disclosed in accordance with GAAP and the Guide. The Department
requires that all related party transactions, whether material or immaterial be disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Considerations for a Network of Charter Schools

A network of charter schools is made up of multiple charter schools which are governed
by one board of trustees. As required by GASB, the board of trustees, which oversees the
network of charter schools, is considered the primary government for auditing purposes.
The financial information for each charter school in the network should be presented in
individual columns in the financial statements in order to separately distinguish the
balances and transactions of each charter school. However, as required by GASB, the
auditor is required to opine on the combined total all of all the charter schools’ financial
activity.
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800

Reporting Package

The illustrative reporting packages presented on the Department’s website at
www.doe.mass.edu are provided as a guide to the financial reporting format for a charter
school within the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. The reporting package format of
your charter school depends on whether the charter school is a part of a network of
charter schools, has to conduct an audit in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, and/or
has a component unit. The appropriate reporting package applicable to the School should
be submitted.

Some variations from the illustrations may be appropriate, to conform to proper
disclosures required by the charter school, GAAP and this Guide. The reporting package
to be submitted to the Department must include the following:

Minimum Reporting Package - No OMB Circular A-133 audit required:

Management Discussion and Analysis

Independent Auditors’ Report

Statement of Net Position

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Statement of Cash Flows (Direct Method)

Notes to Financial Statements

Independent Auditors Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

* Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

* Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

* Board of Trustees Acceptance letter (See Appendix A)

Reporting Package - OMB Circular A-133 audit required

In additional to the items listed above in the *‘Minimum Reporting Package’, the
following should be included if an OMB Circular A-133 audit is required:

* Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

* Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

* Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and On

Internal Control Over Compliance Required by OMB Circular A-133

Summary of Auditors’ Results

Schedule of Findings Relating to the Financial Statement Audit

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs Relating to Federal Programs

Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

Board of Trustees Acceptance letter

Summary Schedule of Prior Year Audit Findings

Charter School’s Corrective Action Plan, if any (may be included within the

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs listed above)

* Form SF-SAC Data Collection Form for Reporting on Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non Profit Organizations. See
http://harvester.census.gov/sac for copy of report and instructions for filing
(does not have to be submitted to the Department)

PR/Award # U282A160013
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800 Reporting Package — continued
Other Reporting Requirements by the Department:

* Management Letter, if any (under separate cover)

* Charter School End of Year Financial Report (See Section 900)

* Federal Charter School Program agreed upon procedures report, if necessary
(see Section 303)

801  Management Discussion and Analysis

The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD & A) is prepared by the charter school’s
management to introduce the basic financial statements and provides an analytical
overview of the charter school’s financial activities. Although not part of the basic
financial statements the MD & A is considered required supplemental information for all
charter schools and is presented before the basic financial statements. The auditor should
follow the guidance of SAS 120 Required Supplementary Information.

802 Basic Financial Statements

The following sections will provide a summary of each of the basic financial statements
issued by the charter school.

803  Statement of Net Position

The Statement of Net Position reports all financial and capital resources of the charter
school and reflects the difference between assets and liabilities as net position. GASB
requires that the Statement of Net Position be presented using the following categories:
Current Assets, Non-Current Assets, Deferred Outflow of Resources, Current Liabilities,
Non-Current Liabilities Deferred Inflow of Resources and Net Position.

School should determine the classification of transactions as Assets, Deferred Outflows
of Resources, Liabilities or Deferred Inflows of Resources. The following are provided as
basic definitions:

Assets — Resources with present service capacity that the government presently controls

Liabilities — present obligations to sacrifice resources that a School has little or no
discretion to avoid.

Deferred Outflows of Resources — consumption of assets by a School that is applicable to
a future reporting period

Deferred Inflows of Resources — acquisition of assets by a School that is applicable to a
future reporting period.
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803  Statement of Net Position - continued

The following is a list of common current and non-current assets and liabilities. The list is
for illustrative purposes only and is not considered to be all-inclusive.

CURRENT NON-CURRENT
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents Land and building
Accounts receivable Building/leasehold improvements
Grants receivable - State Furniture and equipment
Grants receivable- Federal Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Grants receivable - Private Long-term investments
Contributions receivable Reserve for future capital projects

Prepaid expenses
Short-term investments

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities
Accounts payable Non current lease obligation
Accrued expenses Non current debt
Advances on contracts Deferred loss
Current debt payable

Current lease obligation

Deferred Inflows of Resources
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803  Statement of Net Position - continued

The following do not meet the definition of Deferred Outflows of Resources and
Deferred Inflow of Resources as they have present service capacity or represent a present
obligation to sacrifice resources.

Deferred Outflows of Resources
e Prepayments

Deferred Inflows of Resources
e Resources received in advance of an exchange transaction

Amounts included within the Net Position should be broken down into the following
three categories:

* Net Investment in Capital Assets - Includes capital assets, including restricted capital
assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by any debt attributable to the
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.

The Net Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt should be calculated using
the formula below and disclosed in the notes to the financial statements:

Cost of Capital Assets Acquired

Less: Accumulated Depreciation

Less: Outstanding Debt Related to Capital Assets
Equals: Net Investment in Capital Assets

* Restricted Net Position — Includes net position by major categories of the restrictions,
if any, either on the face of the Statement of Net Position or in the notes to the
financial statements.

* Unrestricted Net Position — Includes net position that does not meet the definition of
Net Investment in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt or Restricted Net Position.

804  Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

The Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position reflects the operating
and non-operating activities of the charter school. The statement distinguishes between
operating and non-operating revenues and expenses, which should be presented under the
captions Operating Revenues, Operating Expenses and Non Operating Revenues and
Expenses. Revenues from Capital Contributions, special and extraordinary items and
transfers should be reported separately in the statement after the Non Operating Revenues
and Expenses section.
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804  Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position - continued

The following is a list of typical charter school revenue and expense items by
classification. The listing is presented for illustrative purposes only as management
should use their judgment when determining which revenue and expense categories
should be included within this statement.

The definition of operating activity must be disclosed in the notes to the financial

statements.
Operating Revenues Operating Expenses
Tuition Salaries
Grants - State Payroll taxes
Grants - Federal Fringe benefits
Grants - Private Office supplies and materials
Nutrition Funding - State Professional development
Nutrition Funding - Federal Dues, licenses and subscriptions
Program fees Recruitment/advertising
Contributions in-kind transportation Travel expense
Transportation aid Contracted services
Instructional technology
Testing & assessment
Non Operating Revenues and Expenses Staff stipend
Grants - Private Health services
Contributions, in-kind Student transportation
Contributions Depreciation
Rental income Food services
Investment income Athletic services
Interest expense Utilities
Fundraising expense Maintenance of building and grounds
Management fees revenue Maintenance of equipment
Rental/lease of building & grounds
Capital Contributions Rental/lease of equipment
Capital contributions Insurance
Capital grants and gifts Management fee
In-kind transportation
Charter School Audit Guide — June 2014 pr/award # U282A160013 22

Page €139



805 Statement of Cash Flows

The Statement of Cash Flows summarizes cash inflows and outflows from operating,
investing and financing activities that occurred during the accounting period. The charter
school, in accordance with GASB is required to prepare the Statement of Cash Flows
using the direct method. The direct method reports cash receipts and cash disbursements
from operating activities for the fiscal year. This method also requires that a
reconciliation be prepared that agrees the change in operating net position to the net cash
provided by or used in operating activities.

The Statement of Cash Flows consists of the following classifications of cash flow:
1. Cash Flows from Operating Activities
2. Cash Flows from Non Capital Financing Activities
3. Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
4. Cash Flows from Investing Activities

e Operating Activities — Includes cash from operating activities including the following:

Operating Activities

Inflows Outflows
Receipts from tuition Payments to employees
Receipts from state grants Payments of employee benefits
Receipts from federal grants Payments to vendors and suppliers
Other operational cash inflows Other operational cash outflows

e Non-Capital Financing Activities - Includes cash flows related to non operating
grants received from or provided to other governments as well as other non operating
revenues and expenses and borrowing money for purposes other than buying or
building capital assets.

e Capital and Related Financing Activities - Includes cash flows related to borrowing
and repaying debt for purchasing and constructing capital assets.

e Investing Activities - Include cash flow from the purchases and sales of all
investments and any dividends or interest earned on these investments.
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806

807

Required Disclosures — Notes to the Financial Statements

The following are required disclosures and/or presentations that must be reported in
addition to the disclosures required by GAAP:

* Disclosure of management fees paid or management fees received by a School
during the fiscal year and the nature of the service(s) provided and any
amounts owed at the end of the fiscal year.

* Management fees paid or received as a separate line item in the Statement of
Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.

* Related party transactions, whether material or not®

* Management Discussion and Analysis — explanation of any operational loss
and statement if it was budgeted for.

* Management Discussion and Analysis — Explanation of methodology how the
School projected their budgeted tuition amount.

See lllustrative Notes to Financial Statements included on the Department’s website at:

20% Excess Carryover Calculation

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89 (hh), there is a cap on the amount of cumulative
surplus revenue to be retained by the charter school. If a Commonwealth charter school’s
cumulative surplus revenue from tuition as adjusted exceeds the imposed cap, the amount
in excess of the cap shall be returned by the charter school to the sending district or
districts and the state in proportion to their share of tuition paid during the fiscal year.
Consequently, all Commonwealth charter schools must present a cumulative surplus
revenue schedule using the prescribed Department format.

Please note that as of FY2014, surplus schedules are no longer a required to be included
in charter school audit reports. This information is required to be reported through the
Charter School End of Year Financial Report (CSEOYFR), which is discussed in further
detail in section 900 of this guide. As outlined in section 1012 of this guide, auditors must
check the accuracy of the previous year’s surplus calculation as part of compliance
testing.

The Department will review the calculation annually to ensure it is appropriate and will
notify the charter school of the approved surplus and if applicable the amount to be
remitted to the sending district by December 31, following the end of the charter school’s
year end.

The total surplus calculation is performed in a prescribed template included in the
CSEOYFR. The calculation only allows for cumulative surpluses to be carried forward
from year to year. Any cumulative deficits are reports as $0 for the subsequent year.

e The calculation begins with the surplus from the prior year (with no negative
carryover), plus the change in net position for the year.
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807

808

Supplemental Schedule — 20% Excess Carryover Calculation - continued

e Non-tuition revenues (e.g., interest income, contributions, capital expenses,
principal payments on debt, deposits to reserve funds for capital projects and debt
arrangements) as specified in the CSEOYFR template are subtracted.

e Depreciation on fixed assets purchased after July 1, 2010, and expenses related to
raising non-tuition revenues are added back in.

e A school’s year-end surplus tuition revenue is calculated. Unless a portion of the
current-year tuition is returned to the sending district (because it exceeds the
allowable carryover amount), this end-of-year surplus review becomes the
beginning-of-year amount for the following year’s calculation.

e Any additions to the capital reserve account must be approved by a formal vote of
the board of trustees of the school.

e This calculation is performed only for charter schools, not for associated
foundations or any other entities affiliated with the school.

e Surplus calculations for the current year are unaudited within that year, but will be
tested for compliance in the following year, as outlined in section 1012 of this
guide.

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

The Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs must identify significant deficiencies,
material weaknesses, fraud, illegal acts, violations of provisions of contracts and grant
agreements, and abuse related to financial statements for which Government Auditing
Standards requires reporting.

In addition, if an audit is required to be conducted in accordance with OMB Circular A-
133 this section should identify the federal audit findings required to be reported by
section 501(a) of OMB Circular A-133, including significant deficiencies, material
weaknesses and material instances of non compliance, questioned costs, as well as any
abuse involving federal awards that are material to the major programs. The results of the
audit should be included in the Summary of Audit Results section.

Audit findings that relate to both the financial statements and the federal awards should
be reported in both sections listed above. Findings should be presented in the following
format:

Condition: Detail description of the condition.

Effect: Effect of the condition on the charter school’s operation.

Cause: Reason for the existence of the condition.

Criteria: Regulation, law, contractual provision, internal control etc. used for
the determination of the finding.

Recommendation: Recommendation to correct the condition.

Corrective Action Plan: Charter school’s plan to correct the condition.

Responsibility: Individual at the charter school responsible for the implementation
of the corrective action.

Timing: Timeframe for implementation of corrective action.
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809

810

811

812

813

Schedule of Prior Audit Findings

The Schedule of Prior Audit Findings reports the auditors assessment of the status of all
findings included within the prior year’s Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs.

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards reports all federal activity within the
charter school, inclusive of federal expense transactions associated with grants, cost
reimbursement contracts, cooperative agreements and direct appropriations; the
disbursement of funds passed through to subrecipients; the use of proceeds under loan
and loan guarantee programs; the receipt of surplus property; the receipt or use of surplus
income; and the distribution or consumption of food commodities.

SF-SAC Data Collection Form for Reporting on Audits of States, Local Governments,
and Non Profit Organizations. (Data Collection Form)

The Data Collection Form provides required information about the charter school audit
inclusive of the federal awards it administers and the audit results in accordance with
OMB Circular A-133. This information is required by OMB Circular A-133 to be
prepared at the completion of each audit and submitted, along with the audit report to the
Federal Audit Clearinghouse electronically.

Board of Trustees Acceptance Letter

The Department requires that each charter school include a Board Acceptance Letter
certifying that the board of trustees accepts the information included in the Reporting
Package. The board of trustees will acknowledge that the audit was performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards and the guidelines set forth in this
Guide. The letter must be signed by either the President of the board of trustees, the
Treasurer or a designated representative. (See Appendix B)

Management Letter

Issues identified that are not material but more than inconsequential may be
communicated in a management letter. In addition, items identified that may improve
operational efficiency and effectiveness or otherwise improve the charter school’s
internal control may also be communicated in a management letter. When a management
letter is issued only for the purpose of providing management with efficiency comments
or to communicate non significant deficiencies a reference to the management letter does
not need to be made in the Independent Auditors Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards. Otherwise, a
reference to the management letter should be made in the body of this report.
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900  Charter School End of Year Financial Report

The charter school is required to submit a Charter School End of Year Financial Report
(CSEQYFR) to the Department on a date annually determined by the Department, but
generally on or before the Wednesday before Thanksgiving of each year. The Department
has developed a prescribed reporting format contained in the CSEOYFR. Please note as
outlined in section 807, the CSEOYFR contains the required annual surplus calculation.
Information about the prescribed reporting format templates along with the filing
instructions are available at www.doe.mass.edu/charter/finance.

At the time of the publication of this Guide, the prescribed format consists of the
following schedules, though this is subject to change:

Schedule 1 — Statement of Net Position

Schedule 2 — Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Schedule 3 — Schedule of Functional Expenses

Schedule 4 —Schedule of Surplus Tuition, 20% Excess Carryover

Schedule 5 — Charter School Transportation Expenditures

Schedule 6 — Audit Questionnaire

Schedule 7 — Checks and Comments

Schedule 8 —Certification

The CSEOYFR is not complete unless the signed Certification Statement is sent to the
Department via upload through the security portal.

The CSEOYFR is considered unaudited information for purposes of the Reporting
Package, but does require compliance testing as noted in Section 1011 of this Guide.
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1000 Compliance Requirements

The compliance requirements identified below have been developed by the Department
and the Office of the Inspector General of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as being
inherently risky and highly susceptible to non-compliance. The audit procedures
associated with these compliance requirements are intended to be illustrative and are not
to be considered comprehensive. The design of appropriate audit tests to satisfy these
requirements should be based upon the auditors’ professional judgment.

The compliance requirements below are not applicable to a closeout audit being
performed. The applicable compliance requirements for a closeout audit are included in
Appendix D

1001 Internal Controls

In accordance with the Department’s charter school regulations the charter school, under
the direction of the board of trustees, is required to establish and maintain adequate
accounting records and internal control procedures. A charter school receiving federal
financial assistance must adhere to the internal control requirements contained in OMB
Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments
(amended May 10, 2004). Auditors should consult the compliance supplement for OMB
Circular A-133 for more information concerning specific internal control requirements, if
applicable.

Internal control should consist of the following five components: control environment,
risk assessment, control activities, information and communication and monitoring. The
objectives of internal control relate to proper financial reporting, efficient operations and
compliance with grant and management requirements.

Prior to reviewing and evaluating internal control the auditor should review the AU
Section 314 Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the Risks of
Material Misstatements the 2011 revision of the Government Auditing Standards.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Review and determine if written internal control policies are available.

e Assess the adequacy of the internal controls in accordance with AU 314 and OMB
Circular A-87, if applicable.

e Assess the adequacy of the internal controls pertaining to compliance requirements
for OMB Circular A-133, if applicable.
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1002

1003

Record Keeping

In accordance with the Department’s charter school regulations the charter school is
required to maintain their financial system and records in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Financial books and
records of the charter school must reflect the source of all assets, liabilities, net position,
revenues, and expenses recorded during the fiscal year. For network schools, each school
must maintain a separate financial system to record the financial activity of each school.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e  Determine whether the charter school maintains a financial system of recording and
documenting all financial transactions.

e Review supporting documentation for selected transactions during the audit to
determine if they are properly supported.

e Determine that the financial system properly tracks and reports each school
separately

Related Party Disclosure

In accordance with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Charter School Recommended
Fiscal Policies and Procedures Guide the charter school will follow M.G.L. Chapter 268A,
the conflict of interest law and file financial disclosures pursuant to G.L. c. 71, s 90(u).” The
charter school may not be operated for the benefit of an affiliated or unaffiliated
organization or an individual in his or her own private capacity or individuals related to the
charter school or members of its management. Thus, the charter school will be guided by the
principle of arms-length standards with all affiliated or unaffiliated organizations or with a
private or related individual(s).

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Review and become familiar with the requirements and recommendations as
codified in the AICPA Statement of Auditing Standards, FASB Accounting
Standards Codification 850 Related Party Disclosures, Government Auditing
Standards and the requirements of M.G.L. Chapter 268A.

e Obtain a listing of the related party transaction that occurred during the year whether
material or not.

e  Determine if the building is leased from a related party. If so, determine if the rent paid
is the market rate for the area.

e  Obtain representation from management and the board of trustees as to whether they
or any other related party engaged in any transactions with the charter school during
the year and disclosed all the required transactions in the accompanying notes to the
financial statements.

e Determine that all transactions, between the network schools and other component
units are properly disclosed in the notes to the financial statements
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1004  Reporting

In accordance with the provisions of 603 CMR 1.09 the charter school is required to
submit both financial and non-financial reports. These reports include the Annual Report
and Enrollment Reports.

Enrollment Reports — The charter school shall submit a Pre-Enroliment Report to the
Department in accordance with the deadlines set by the Department.

Capital Plan (contained within the Annual Report) — Approved capital plan for the next
fiscal year including the amount held in reserve for the purchase or renovation an
academic facility pursuant to the capital plan. A vote of the charter school’s board of
trustees is required to designate funds to be held in reserve for such purposes. These
reserve funds should be reported as an adjustment to the Supplemental Schedule of 20%
Excess Carryover Calculation and also reflected in the Statement of Net Position. If exact
amounts for designated reserves cannot be determined prior to the close of the fiscal year,
adjustments may be made by boards of trustees after June 30 but prior to the finalization
of financial statements for the fiscal year. All designations must be certified by a board
vote.

Financial Audit — Each charter school shall have an independent audit conducted of its
accounts consistent with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards and any guidance
issued by the Department or the State Auditor.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Review the charter school's procedures, if applicable, for preparing these required
reports.

e Examine a sample of the enrollment reports, along with any supporting schedules
used to prepare them and determine if the reports were prepared in accordance with
the charter school's procedures, were properly supported and filed in a timely manner.

e Determine if the prior year audit report was submitted to the Department in a timely
manner, including approved extensions.

e Review approval received for capital plan submitted.

1005 Required Policies

In accordance with the Department regulations the charter school must have formalized
policies/procedures relating to: student code of conduct (including criteria and procedures
for expulsion); enrollment policy; criminal background checks; complaint procedures and
multi-hazard evacuation plan.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Determine if the policies/procedures described above have been developed and
documented.
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1006 Board of Trustees

In accordance with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts” M.G.L. c. 30A, §818-25, Open
Meetings of Governmental Bodies, the charter school shall conduct public meetings.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Become familiar with M.G.L. c. 30A, 8§818-25, Open Meetings of Governmental
Bodies.

e Examine evidence and determine that public meetings were properly conducted in
accordance with the above requirements.

e Determine that the board members submit the following:

e Signed Certificate of Receipt of Open Meeting Law materials - within two
weeks of joining the board.

e Disclosure of financial interest forms — within 30 days of becoming a member
of the board, and by September 1 each year thereafter as required by
M.G.L.e.71, s 89(u).

e Written acknowledgment of the conflict of interest laws within 30 days of
becoming a member of the board and on an annual basis thereafter.

e Complete online training on conflict of interest laws within 30 days of
becoming a board member and every two years thereafter.

1007 Occupancy

In accordance with the provisions of 603 CMR 1.05 the charter school shall provide
written documentation that the facility to be used is approved for use as a school by the
building inspector in the municipality in which the charter school is located.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Examine current occupancy permit and determine if the permit is current and
displayed in an accessible area.

e Examine the safety/fire inspection certificate.

e Examine the license to use explosives and flammable compounds in educational
programs, if applicable.

e Examine the evidence of insurance coverage.
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1008

1009

Procurement Policy

In accordance with Chapter 46 of the acts of 1997, the charter school regulations state
that the charter school administrator who serves as procurement officer must obtain a
Massachusetts Certified Public Purchasing Official (MCPPO) certificate. (Horace Mann
Charter school administrators are also required to obtain an MCPPO certificate). There is
not a requirement to be MCPPO designated; the law requires that the administrator
responsible for procurement receives a MCPPO certificate stating that they have
successfully completed either the Public Contracting Overview seminar or the Charter
School Procurement seminar.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Examine evidence and determine that the charter school administrator who serves as
procurement officer has participated and obtained the certificate of completion of
either the Public Contracting Overview seminar or the Charter School Procurement
seminar. If the individual has not participated in the required seminars, determine if
the individual in enrolled in or on waitlists for the required seminar.

Charter Amendments

In accordance with the provisions of 603 CMR 1.11 any major changes in the charter
school’s operation must be approved by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Board of
Elementary and Secondary Education prior to the changes becoming effective. Major
changes are described as those that fundamentally affect a charter school’s mission,
organizational structure, or educational program. If the charter school makes a minor
change in its operations the board of trustees must submit a request to amend their charter
to the commissioner for approval. Minor changes include revisions to by-laws, the
schedule, enrollment process, expulsion policy, school's name, and board membership.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Determine if the charter school made any changes to their programs or initial
governance that requires an amendment to their charter. If so, determine if the board
of trustees approved the amendment request, communicated the changes to the
Department, and subsequently received approval from the Commissioner and/or
Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (603 CMR, § 1.11).
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1010

1011

Massachusetts Teachers Retirement System

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 32, the Commonwealth’s public retirement statute, 807
CMR, the section of the Code of Massachusetts regulations that pertains to the teacher’s
retirement system and Massachusetts Teachers Retirement Board’s (MTRB) business
practices, all employees who qualify must be enrolled within 30 days of employment.

Recommended Audit Procedures

e Review and become familiar with 808 CMR 4.00 — Eligibility for Membership,
M.G.L. c. 32 and MTRB business practices.

e Determine by selecting a sample of employees that eligible employees are
contributing to the plan and the appropriate percentage of their salary is being
withheld.

e Examine evidence that eligible employees are enrolled in MTRS within 30 days of
employment and that payroll deductions are being withheld and remitted to MTRB on
a monthly basis by the 10™ day of the month following the reporting period.

e Determine the extent of any outstanding payments owed to MTRB by the charter
school.

Charter School End of Year Financial Report

The charter school is required to submit a Charter School End of Year Financial Report
(CSEQYFR) to the Department following its fiscal year end (See Section 900). The
Department has developed a standard reporting format for the CSEOYFR. The
Recommended Audit Procedures listed below should be applied to the report submitted
for the previous fiscal year end. (i.e., as part of the fiscal year 2014 audit, the CSEOYFR
report for the year ended June 30, 2013 will be examined).

Recommended Audit Procedures

e Determine if the financial information was prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting.

e Trace the amounts reported to the audited financial statements and verify agreement
or perform alternative procedures to verify the accuracy and completeness of the
amounts reported.

e Test mathematical accuracy of the schedules and supporting worksheets.

e For financial data, review accounting records and ascertain if all applicable accounts
were included in the schedules.

e Obtain written representation from management that the reports are the actual copies
submitted to the Department and contain accurate data.
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1012

1013

20% Excess Carryover Calculation within the Charter School End of Year Financial
Report (CSEOYFR)

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89 any cumulative tuition revenue surplus in excess
of 20% of its operating budget and its capital costs must be returned by a Commonwealth
charter school to the sending district(s). The charter school must calculate the cumulative
tuition revenue surplus using the prescribed Department format and include this schedule
as part of the CSEOYFR

The current year’s surplus calculation will be contained only in the CSEOYFR. The
surplus calculation from the previous year must be audited and include the following
procedures:

Recommended Audit Procedures

e Trace the amounts reported on the schedule to the respective line items in the audited
financial statements or perform alternative procedures to verify the completeness and
accuracy of the amounts.

o If applicable, determine if the Department adjusted the prior year carryover surplus
and agree the amount to the schedule.

e |[f applicable, determine if a liability is properly disclosed and if necessary, reported
within the financial statements.

e |If a payment to the sending district(s) is approved determine if payment was made in
a timely manner.

e |f applicable, determine if the boards of trustees’ minutes reflect adherence and/or
acceptable revisions to the capital plan.

Networks of Charter Schools

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 71, § 89 more than one charter school may be managed by
a single board of trustees. Funding for a charter school managed by a single board of
trustees may not be transferred among individual schools with the network unless such
schools are located within the same school district.

Recommended Audit Procedures

e Determine if there is a written cost allocation plan for costs shared between network
schools and properly disclose all transactions between the schools in the notes to the
financial statements.

e Determine if any shared costs between schools not located within the same district are
based on actual costs incurred or a reasonable allocation plan consistently applied.
(reasonable basis of allocation includes number of students, number of employees or
some other reasonable basis as determined by management)

e Determine that funding is not transferred among individual schools within the
network unless such schools are located within the same sending district and all
transfers are approved by a vote of the board of trustees

e If funds are loaned to schools, whether in district or out of district, they are approved
by a vote of the board of trustees and documented by an agreement stating the terms
and conditions
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APPENDIX A

Print on letterhead of School

ACCEPTANCE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

We, the board of trustees of ABC Charter School or designee, have voted to accept the
representations of management and the expression of the opinions made by (Insert Auditors
Name) as embodied in the financial statements and independent auditor's reports for the year
ended June 30, 20X2 (Insert both years if comparative).

We also certify that the representations made by management and the disclosures in the financial
statements are accurate and have been correctly and completely disclosed as required by
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and the Commonwealth
of Massachusetts Charter School Audit Guide for the period ended June 30, 20X2. (Insert both
years if comparative).

Board President or Treasurer
or Other Designated Person

Date
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APPENDIX B

Agreed-Upon Procedures for CSP Funding

Obtain a copy of the CSP grant award, inclusive of any amendments.

Obtain the detail of expenditures incurred for the period under review relating to the CSP grant
and reconcile the total expenditures incurred to the CSP grant revenue recorded by the charter
school in its general ledger and investigate the differences.

Compare the approved CSP budget to the actual expenditures incurred and investigate any
differences greater than 10% of the total budget.

Select a sample of expenditures from the detail expenditures incurred during the period based on
the criteria set forth below:

Payroll - Select 10 items or 10% of the total number of payroll items charged to the CSP
grant, whichever is less.

Other expenses — Select 10 items or 10% of the total number of items charged to the CSP
grant, whichever is less.

And determine the following:

I. The expenditure is in accordance with the purpose of the grant and that pre-opening
expenditures are charged to the pre-opening periods. (See non-regulatory guidance
on the CSP grant at http://www?2.ed.gov/programs/charter/nonregulatory-

guidance.html

ii. the expenditure was charged to the proper budget category.

iii. the expenditure was charged to the appropriate fiscal period.

5. Obtain Request for Funds forms (RF 1) submitted to the Department during the period under
review.

a. Trace the amounts reported in the RF1 to the listing of expenditures and determine if any

discrepancies.

If items have not yet been requested for reimbursement, inquire of responsible charter
school officials as to the plan for requesting reimbursement, and determine if a receivable
is recorded within its general ledger, if appropriate.

If RF 1 forms include amounts for cash advances (Cash Expenditures Anticipated During

Next Month), determine if the total of the funds expended in the month subsequent to the
date of the request is equal to or exceeds the amount requested.
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APPENDIX B

Template for Independent Accountant’s Report on
Agreed Upon Procedures for CSP Funding

CPA letterhead

To the Board of Trustees of ABC Charter School and
The Department of Elementary and Secondary Education

Independent Accountant’s Report on Applying Agreed Upon Procedures

We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by the management of ABC
Charter School (the School) and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Elementary and
Secondary Education (the Department), (the specified parties) solely to assist in evaluating the School’s
assertion to the Department that it has complied with the requirements of the Federal Charter Schools
Program grant (CSP), inclusive of Federal and Department guidelines in managing the CSP grant. This
agreed-upon procedures engagement was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established
by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these procedures is solely
the responsibility of those parties specified in the report. Consequently, we make no representations
regarding the sufficiency of the procedures described below either for the purpose for which this report
has been requested or for any other purpose.

Our procedures are as follows:
1. Obtain a copy of the CSP grant award, inclusive of any amendments.
2. Obtain the detail of expenditures incurred for the period under review relating to the CSP grant
reconcile the total expenditures incurred to the CSP grant revenue recorded the Charter School and

investigate the differences.

3. Compare the approved CSP budget to the actual expenditures incurred and investigate any
differences greater than 10% of the total budget.

4. Select a sample of expenditures from the detail expenditures incurred during the period based on
the criteria set forth below:

a. Payroll - Select 10 items or 10% of the total number of payroll items charged to the CSP
grant, whichever is less

b. Other expenses — Select 10 items or 10% of the total number of items charged to the CSP
grant, whichever is less
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And determine the following:

I. the expenditure is in accordance with the purpose of the grant and that pre-opening
expenditures are charged to pre-opening periods. (See non-regulatory guidance on
the CSP grant at http://www?2.ed.gov/programs/charter/nonregulatory-

guidance.html

ii. the expenditure was charged to the proper budget category
iii. the expenditure was charged to the appropriate fiscal period

5. Obtain Request for Funds forms (RF 1) submitted to the Department during the period under
review.

a. Trace the amounts reported in the RF1 to the listing of expenditures and determine if any
discrepancies.

b. If items have not yet been requested for reimbursement, inquire of responsible School
officials as to the plan for requesting reimbursement, and determine if a receivable is
recorded, if appropriate.

The results of performing these procedures are presented in the accompanying Results of Procedures.

We were not engaged to, and did not conduct an audit of the CSP grant, the objective of which would be
the expression of an opinion on ABC Charter School’s compliance with the requirements of the CSP
grant. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, other
matters might have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

This report is intended solely for the use of ABC Charter School and the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, and it is not intended to be and
should not be used by anyone other than those specified parties.

CPA Signature
Date
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APPENDIX B
Results of Procedures:

The following will provide the results of our agreed upon procedures:

Procedure #1:
Result:
Procedure #2:
Result:
Procedure #3:
Result:
Procedure #4:
Result:
Procedure #5:

Result:
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APPENDIX C
School Closeout Procedures

Purpose: The purpose is to provide standard procedures for closing a school when the charter
has been revoked by the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (Board). The procedures
indicated may be supplemented by procedures determined relevant based on the auditors
professional judgment or additional procedures required by the Board or by the Department of
Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE).

Note: the audit closeout period should be determined by the auditor in consultation with

DESE.

Responsibilities:

School management/board of trustees:

Develop control procedures to properly safeguard assets;

Designate an individual who is responsible for the accuracy and timeliness of the
closeout process;

Assign a Trustee or authorize another individual to perform the disbursement of any
funds;

Providing an accurate accounting of the school’s federal and state grants;

Providing an accurate accounting of all financial activities of the school through the
agreed upon audit period; and

Take an accurate inventory of assets held at the audit period end date and properly
account for any assets sold after the notice of the charter revocation has been received

In certain situations, the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education

may:

Determine the audit period and timing
Coordinate with the charter school regarding the school’s hiring the CPA to perform the
closeout audit

Auditors:

Render an opinion on the financial statement of the school

Issue a report in accordance with Government Auditing Standards on the school’s
internal control over financial reporting and on tests of compliance with certain laws,
provisions , regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters

If applicable, issue a report on in accordance with OMB Circular A-133
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2001

2002

APPENDIX C
Compliance Requirements Applicable to Closeout Audits

Compliance Requirements

The compliance requirements identified below have been developed by the Department and the
Office of the Inspector General of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as being inherently
risky and highly susceptible to non-compliance. The audit procedures associated with these
compliance requirements are intended to be illustrative and are not to be considered
comprehensive. The design of appropriate audit tests to satisfy these requirements should be
based upon the auditors’ professional judgment.

Internal Controls

In accordance with the Department’s charter school regulations the charter school, under the
direction of the board of trustees, is required to establish and maintain adequate accounting
records and internal control procedures. A charter school receiving federal financial assistance
must adhere to the internal control requirements contained in OMB Circular A-87, Cost
Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments (amended May 10, 2004). Auditors
should consult the compliance supplement for OMB Circular A-133 for more information
concerning specific internal control requirements, if applicable.

Internal control should consist of the following five components: control environment, risk
assessment, control activities, information and communication and monitoring. The objectives
of internal control relate to proper financial reporting, efficient operations and compliance with
grant and management requirements.

Prior to reviewing and evaluating internal control the auditor should review the AU Section 314
Understanding the Entity and Its Environment and Assessing the Risks of Material
Misstatements the 2011 revision of the Government Auditing Standards.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Review and determine if written internal control policies are available.

e Assess the adequacy of the internal controls in accordance with AU 314 and OMB Circular
A-87, if applicable.

e Assess the adequacy of the internal controls pertaining to compliance requirements for
OMB Circular A-133, if applicable.

Record Keeping

In accordance with the Department’s charter school regulations the charter school is required to
maintain their financial system and records in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Financial books and records of the charter school
must reflect the source of all assets, liabilities, net position, revenues, and expenses recorded
during the fiscal year.
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2003

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Determine whether the charter school maintains a financial system of recording and
documenting all financial transactions.

e Review supporting documentation for selected transactions during the audit to determine if
they are properly supported.

Related Party Disclosure

In accordance with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Charter School Recommended Fiscal
Policies and Procedures Guide, charter school in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts will follow
M.G.L. Chapter 268A, the conflict of interest law. The charter school may not be operated for the
benefit of an affiliated or unaffiliated organization or an individual in his or her own private
capacity or individuals related to the charter school or members of its management. The charter
school must have an arms-length relationships with all affiliated or unaffiliated organizations or
with a private or related individual(s), particularly when agreements exist with the other entities.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Review and become familiar with the requirements and recommendations as codified in the
AICPA Statement of Auditing Standards, FASB Accounting Standards Codification 850
Related Party Disclosures, Government Auditing Standards and the requirements of
M.G.L. Chapter 268A., conferring with the State Ethics Commission as necessary.

e Obtain a listing of the related party transaction that occurred during the year whether
material or not.

e Determine if each member of the board of trustees has been approved by the Commissioner of
Elementary and Secondary Education and has filed an annual financial disclosure form as
required by M.G.L. c. 71, § 89(u).

e  Determine if the building is leased from a related party. If so, determine if the rent paid is the
market rate for the area.

e  Obtain representation from management and the board of trustees as to whether they or any
other related party engaged in any transactions with the charter school during the year and
disclosed all the required transactions in the accompanying notes to the financial
statements.

2004 Board of Trustees

In accordance with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts” M.G.L. c. 30A, §818-25, Open
Meetings of Governmental Bodies, the charter school shall conduct public meetings.

Recommended Audit Procedures:

e Become familiar with M.G.L. c. 30A, §818-25, Open Meetings of Governmental Bodies,
consulting with the Office of the Attorney General as needed.

e Examine evidence and determine that public meetings were properly conducted in
accordance with the above requirements.

e Determine that the board members submit the following:
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2006

o Signed Certificate of Receipt of Open Meeting Law materials - within two weeks of
joining the board.

e Disclosure of financial interest forms — within 30 days of becoming a member of the
board, and by September 1 each year thereafter.

e Written acknowledgment of the conflict of interest laws within 30 days of becoming
a member of the board and on an annual basis thereafter.

e Complete online training on conflict of interest laws within 30 days of becoming a
board member and every two years thereafter.

Massachusetts Teachers Retirement System

In accordance with M.G.L. c. 32, the Commonwealth’s public retirement statute, 807 CMR, the
section of the Code of Massachusetts regulations that pertains to the teacher’s retirement system
and Massachusetts Teachers Retirement Board’s (MTRB) business practices, all employees
who qualify must be enrolled within 30 days of employment.

Recommended Audit Procedures

e Review and become familiar with 808 CMR 4.00 — Eligibility for Membership, M.G.L. c. 32
and MTRB business practices.

e Determine by selecting a sample of employees that eligible employees are contributing to
the plan and the appropriate percentage of their salary is being withheld.

e Examine evidence that eligible employees are enrolled in MTRS within 30 days of
employment and that pa}:roll deductions are being withheld and remitted to MTRB on a
monthly basis by the 10" day of the month following the reporting period.

e Determine the extent of any outstanding payments owed to MTRB by the charter school.

Charter School End of Year Financial Report

The charter school is required to submit a Charter School End of Year Financial Report
(CSEQYFR) to the Department following its fiscal year end (See Section 900). The Department
has developed a standard reporting format for the CSEOYFR. The Recommended Audit
Procedures listed below should be applied to the report submitted for the previous fiscal year
end. (i.e., as part of the fiscal year 2014 audit, the CSEOYFR report for the year ended June 30,
2013 will be examined).

Recommended Audit Procedures

e Determine if the financial information was prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.

e Trace the amounts reported to the audited financial statements and verify agreement or
perform alternative procedures to verify the accuracy and completeness of the amounts
reported.

e Test mathematical accuracy of the schedules and supporting worksheets.

e For financial data, review accounting records and ascertain if all applicable accounts were
included in the schedules.

e Obtain written representation from management that the reports are the actual copies
submitted to the Department and contain accurate data.
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2007 Closeout Procedures
The following procedures are to be performed when a school’s charter has been revoked to
ensure that assets are properly safeguarded and the Government’s interest is properly protected.

e Obtain the contact information of the individual or entity appointed by the Board of
Trustees as responsible for the accuracy and timeliness of the closeout process;

e Obtained the contact information of the individual or entity appointed by the Board
of Trustees for the dissolution of any remaining assets;

e Closeout date and audit period agreed upon with the Department;

e Examine final grant reports for all federal and state grants and determine if reports
have been submitted and if so, any excess funds received and not expended were
properly accounted for or remitted to the funding source;

e Review plan for disposition of assets and determined if has been reviewed by the
board of trustees and approved by the Department;

¢ Review listing of assets sold and determine if funds properly received and deposited;

e Review a sample of disbursements made subsequent to revocation of the charter and
determine if payments were properly authorized and prioritized;

e Determine that all related tax filing (W-2’s, 1099°’s) were prepared

e Determine that all related payroll liabilities, inclusive of salaries, payroll accruals,
MTRS payments and accrued vacation were properly identified and accounted for in
the closing year.

e Obtain listing of payables and related party debt and confirm all payables greater
than $1,000;

e Determine that the board authorized an individual, or entity to maintain student and
school records inclusive of payroll records (10 years), student records (60 years);

e Determine that the school has procedures in place to properly ensure the
confidentiality of the student records and personnel files;

e Determine if any cash on hand at the end of the audit period that they have been
transferred to the Department or the designated receiver to determine appropriate
distribution based on approval by the Department; and

e Determine that the Board of Trustees established a separate checking account with
an amount of funds set aside, as determined in consultation with the Department, for
final legal, accounting, audit, and any other necessary expenses.
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APPENDIX D

The following information from GASB Codification Section 2600 should be considered when
determining the proper treatment for charter schools with component units:

Component unit defined — Organizations that are legally separate organizations from the PG for
which the primary government is financially accountable or closely related. In addition, other
legally separate organizations where the nature and significance of their relationship with the
primary government is such that exclusion of the organization from the reporting entity would
cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading are considered component
units.

The PG is financially accountable if:

1) The primary government appoints a voting majority of the organizations governing board
and:
I. Is able to impose its will on the organization
ii. Is in a relationship of financial benefit or burden with the organization

2) The organization is fiscally dependent upon the primary government and the PG is in a
relationship of financial benefit/burden with the PG

Organization is fiscally dependent if the primary government must

e Approve the organizations budget
e Approve the organizations levy, tax rates or other charges
e Approve organizations debt

Organization has a financial benefit/burden relationship if any one of the following
occurs:

e PG is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization’s resources

e PG is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the obligation to finance the
deficits of, or provide financial support to the organization

e PG is obligated in some manner for the organization’s debt
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3) Financial statements will be misleading if excluded

Entities that do not met the financial accountability criteria may still be included as a
component unit if they are closely related to or are financially integrated with the PG.
Determination is based on professional judgment, given the nature, facts and
circumstances and significance of the relationship between the PG and the component
unit.

Reporting Requirement

A legally separate, tax exempt organization should be reported as a component unit of the School
if all of the following criteria are met

e The economic resources received or held by the separate organization are entirely
or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the PG

e The PG is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access a majority of the
economic resources received or held by the organization

e The economic resources received or held by the organization that the PG is
entitled to or has the ability to otherwise access, are significant to the PG

Criteria for blended treatment:
Component unit’s governing board is substantially the same as that of the PG and:

e There is a financial benefit/burden relationship between the PG and the
component unit, or (2) management of the PG has operational responsibility for
the component unit (management has operational responsibility for a component
unit if it manages the activities of the component unit in essentially the same
manner in which it manages its own programs). Management consists of persons
below the level of the governing board, responsible for the day to day activities of
the PG

e The component unit provides services almost entirely to the PG, or almost
exclusively benefits the PG, or the component unit’s debt outstanding, including
leases, is expected to be repaid entirely or almost entirely with resources of the
PG.

e The component units total outstanding debt, including leases is expected to be
repaid entirely, or almost entirely with the resources of the PG

Criteria for discrete treatment:
¢ All other non blended component units
e Entities that should be included based on professional judgment based on the
nature and significance to the PG
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Massachusetts Charter School Performance Criteria v.3.2

Overview

The Charter School Performance Criteria (Criteria) are presented in the three guiding areas of charter
school accountability defined in the current regulations, 603 CMR 1.0: academic program success,
organizational viability, and faithfulness to charter.

The purposes of the Criteria are to:

o Avrticulate the expectations for all aspects of charter school accountability, from the application
process to the renewal process;

e Provide charter schools with clear guidance about how the Massachusetts Board of Elementary
and Secondary Education (Board), the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary
Education (Department), and the Commissioner of Elementary and Secondary Education
(Commissioner) define charter school success and on what basis charter schools will be
evaluated; and

o Clarify the connections between Massachusetts charter school accountability and state and federal
accountability standards.

The Criteria were first developed in 2005 and were subsequently revised in 2010. The Department
developed the third revision after research and review of the best of what is available for high quality
charter school authorizing nationally. The Department has subsequently adjusted the Criteria (version 3.1
in 2014 and version 3.2 in 2015 based on the best practices, suggestions and challenges that came up over
the course of the year. There are ten (10) Criteria that frame the Department’s evaluation of the
performance in the three guiding areas of charter school accountability. The Department evaluates these
criteria through the use of quantitative and/or qualitative data and affirmative evidence presented by the
school, compiled over the course of the school’s charter term.

Department staff adhered to the following key guiding principles throughout the revision process:

e Preserve operational autonomy. The Department must ensure that the Criteria protect the
autonomies that allow charter schools to exercise the freedom to determine the means by which
they achieve student outcomes.

o Clarify all aspects of charter school performance. The Criteria are structured to ensure that all
key aspects of charter school performance are integrated, while reducing redundancy and
prioritizing key areas.

o Facilitate clear communication about charter school performance. The Criteria allow the
Department to clearly communicate to schools about performance.

o Align to the Massachusetts School and District Accountability System. To the greatest extent
possible, the Department aligned the Criteria with revisions to the Massachusetts School and
District Accountability System and new flexibilities under the Elementary and Secondary
Education Act (ESEA) granted by the U.S. Department of Education to Massachusetts on
February 9, 2012. The Department considered the Conditions for School Effectiveness (CSE) and
the school leveling system based on the Progress and Performance Index (PPI), while preserving
operational autonomy and incorporating additional performance metrics that capture the unique
aspects of charter school accountability.

e Balance clear performance expectations with Commissioner and Board discretion. The
Criteria clearly outline performance expectations for charter schools, but do not formulaically
dictate high stakes accountability decisions, including new charter awards, conditions, probation,
revocation, and/or renewal decisions. Though the Criteria are presented in a linear, numbered
format for reference purposes, a charter school must demonstrate affirmative evidence of success
in all three guiding areas of charter school accountability, and the Commissioner and/or the Board
ultimately make these high-stakes decisions based on the totality of evidence presented by the
charter school. The Commissioner and/or the Board have the discretion to consider all qualitative
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Massachusetts Charter School Performance Criteria v.3.2

and quantitative factors when making these decisions, though improvement in student
achievement for all student groups is of paramount importance.

Using the Criteria During the Charter Term

Charter schools are encouraged to refer to the Criteria on a continuing basis to inform planning and as a
means of self-assessing the overall health and viability of their school throughout the charter term. In
particular, Criteria 6, 7, and 8 are aligned with the Conditions for School Effectiveness, a research-based
tool that is used to assess effectiveness in district public schools that can be used by charter schools for
self-assessment purposes. See http://www.doe.mass.edu/apa/general/ for resources and additional
information. The Department will provide information on performance against the Criteria through
analysis of data submitted by schools and the charter school site visit process.

Using the Criteria for Charter Renewal Decision-Making

Every charter school undergoes a renewal process during the final year of its charter term to determine
whether or not the school can continue to operate. The renewal process includes the submission of a
renewal application, a renewal inspection visit, and an analysis of all evidence related to the charter
school’s performance, including quantitative and qualitative evidence collected through the Department’s
charter school accountability process. The Criteria provide the performance benchmarks and lens of
inquiry for the renewal inspection visit and for subsequent Department analysis, which leads to a
recommendation regarding charter renewal. The Department’s renewal recommendation will consider a
charter school’s performance against the Criteria.

Rating Scale to Facilitate Clear Communication About Charter School Performance

In order to communicate clearly, the Department will use the rating scale below to summarize a charter
school’s performance against the Criteria. Additional details regarding how this scale will be used will be
outlined in the site visit and other accountability protocols.

Rating | Description

Exceeds® | The school fully and consistently meets the criterion and is a potential exemplar in this area.

Meets The school generally meets the criterion and/or minor concern(s) are noted.

Partially? | The school meets some aspects of the criterion but not others and/or moderate concern(s)

salilrr The school falls far below the criterion and/or significant concern(s) are noted.

! Criterion 3 (Compliance) and Criterion 10 (Finance) are baseline public stewardship expectations, and the highest
rating possible in these areas will be “Meets.”

Z Due to the developmental nature of establishing a high-performing charter school, it is not unusual for schools in
their first charter term to receive Partially Meets for certain criteria.
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financially sound and publicly accountable manner.

Massachusetts Charter School Performance Criteria Rating
1. Mission and Key Design Elements: The school is faithful to its mission, implements the
key design elements outlined in its charter, and substantially meets its accountability plan
goals.
e
£
& | 2. Access and Equity: The school ensures program access and equity for all students
© eligible to attend the school.
% 3. Compliance: The school compiles a record of compliance with the terms of its charter
:’;: and applicable state and federal laws and regulations.
‘©
LL
4. Dissemination: The school provides innovative models for replication and best practices
to other public schools in the district where the charter school is located.
5. Student Performance: The school consistently meets state student performance
§ standards for academic growth, proficiency, and college and career readiness.
g
n Curriculum
S . . .
® | 6. Program Delivery: The school delivers an academic Instruction
=t program that provides improved academic outcomes and :
a educational success for all students. Assessment and Program Evaluation
é Supports for Diverse Learners
D
_rft; 7. Culture and Family Engagement: The school supports | Social, Emotional and Health Needs
< students’ social and emotional health in a safe and
respectful learning environment that engages families. Family Engagement
. . - School Leadershi
- 8. Capacity: The school sustains a well-functioning cTiooT -eadersnip
= organizational structure and creates a professional Professional Climate
= . .
_">E working climate for all staff. Contractual Relationships (If applicable)
c_cs 9. Governance: Members of the board of trustees act as public agents authorized by the
= state and provide competent and appropriate governance to ensure the success and
g sustainability of the school.
5 10. Finance: The school maintains a sound and stable financial condition and operates in a
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Massachusetts Charter School Performance Criteria v.3.2

Criterion 1: Mission and Key Design Elements
The school is faithful to its mission, implements the key design elements outlined in its charter, and
substantially meets its accountability plan goals.

Key indicators include but are not limited to:

1. School stakeholders share a common and consistent understanding of the school’s mission and key
design elements outlined in the charter.

2. The school has fully implemented the key design elements® in the approved charter and any
subsequently approved amendments.

3. The school substantially meets the goals articulated in its accountability plan.

Criterion 2: Access and Equity
The school ensures program access and equity for all students eligible to attend the school.

Key indicators include but are not limited to:

1. The school eliminates barriers to program access, including but not limited to, ensuring that
information is readily available to parents, students, and the general public regarding non-
discriminatory enrollment practices and the availability of specialized programs and services at the
school to meet the needs of all students, particularly those enrolled in special education, English
language learners and those with other diverse learning needs. School policies, including but not
limited to, discipline policies, allow all students to access the educational program.

2. The school implements a student recruitment and retention plan, including deliberate, specific
strategies the school will use to ensure the ongoing provision of equal educational opportunity to
students before, during, and after enroliment. The plan is designed to attract, enroll and retain a
student population that is demographically comparable to similar grades in schools from which the
charter school enrolls students. This includes analysis of attrition data.

Criterion 3: Compliance
The school compiles a record of compliance with the terms of its charter and applicable state and federal
laws and regulations.

Key indicators include but are not limited to:

1. The school is operated in accordance with the provisions of General Laws chapter 71, section 89, and
603 CMR 1.00 and all other applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, required trainings
and deadlines, and such additional guidance as the Department may from time to time establish.

2. The school complies with all legal requirements, including but not limited to the following: the Open
Meeting Law; Public Records Law; Coordinated Program Review requirements; and all health and
safety codes.

3. The school undertakes corrective action when needed and implements necessary safeguards to
maintain compliance with all legal requirements.

Criterion 4: Dissemination
The school provides innovative models for replication and best practices to other public schools in the
district where the charter school is located.

Notes:
The Department will also consider efforts made by the charter school to disseminate innovative models
for replication and best practices to other schools, districts, and organizations beyond the district where

® Key Design Elements are aspects of the school, originally articulated in the charter application or in subsequent
amendments, that make the school unique and distinct from other district or charter schools.
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the charter school is located. There are multiple forums and activities through which a charter school may
disseminate, including but not limited to:

partnerships with other schools implementing key successful aspects of the charter school’s
program,

active participation in district turnaround efforts,

sharing resources or programs developed at the charter school,

hosting other educators at the charter school, and

presenting at professional conferences about its innovative school practices.

Criterion 5: Student Performance
The school consistently meets state student performance standards for academic growth, proficiency, and
college and career readiness.*

Key indicators Notes

Progress & The PPI combines information about narrowing proficiency gaps, growth, and
Performance Index graduation and dropout rates into a single 100-point measure. A school’s

(PPI) cumulative PPl is the average of its annual PPIs over the most recent four year
period, weighting recent years the most (1-2-3-4). A student group is considered to
be on track to meeting its proficiency gap narrowing goals if its cumulative PPI is
75 or higher.

School Percentile A school percentile (1-99) represents a school’s overall performance relative to

other schools statewide within the same grade span. The school percentile
comprises all of the indicators included in the PPI, and is reported for schools that
have at least four years of data. A school with a percentile of 20 or lower is among
the lowest performing 20 percent of schools statewide.

Accountability Level  All schools with sufficient data are classified into Levels 1-5, with the highest

performing in Level 1 and the lowest performing in Level 3 through 5.
Approximately 80 percent of schools statewide are classified into Level 1 or 2
based on the cumulative PPI of all students and high needs students. For a school
to be classified into Level 1, the cumulative PPI for all students and high needs
students must be 75 or higher.

Other indicators

In the event that a school believes that the core indicators are not fully representative of student
performance at the school (including instances where the school’s PPl may meet or exceed 75, but
the school is classified in Level 3), the Department may consider requests to review additional valid
and reliable data demonstrating the progress the school has made in meeting this benchmark, and
will review such evidence on a case-by-case-basis. The most compelling cases will focus primarily
on a strong body of evidence that points to consistent performance improvements over the charter
term. In addition, while the Department will consider other assessment data as supplementary
evidence for a school’s performance, it will not supplant state assessment results with other
assessment results.

Schools are free to articulate additional student performance measures using state or other
assessment instruments that align with their charter, with the approval of the Department, which will
be codified with the school’s Accountability Plan and assessed as part of Faithfulness to Charter.

* Since 2012, in order to meet Criterion 5, charter schools were required to attain a Level 1 status. While achieving
Level 1 is still the goal, beginning in the 2015-2016 school year, the Department will also consider designating some
Level 2 schools as meeting Criterion 5. In order to meet Criterion 5, in general, a charter school must attain Level 1,
or a charter school must attain Level 2 status, be at or above the 45™ percentile relative to other schools statewide
within the same grade span, and demonstrate stable or improved performance trends.
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e The Department may consider the performance of the school in comparison with other public
schools with similar demographics in the district of location and the state, particularly in instances
where the school does not meet state student performance standards.

Additional notes

e The period of evaluation will focus on the beginning of the charter term through the end of the
penultimate year of the charter term. For example, if a school’s charter term runs from July 1, 2012,
through June 30, 2017, the data under consideration will include results available through the end of
the 2015-2016 school. For renewal terms, the last year of the prior charter term will be considered as
a baseline for the next charter term, and longer term historical trends may also be considered.

o All performance standards are based on state MCAS assessments and data collected through the
Student Information Management System (SIMS), including graduation rate and drop-out rate data,
for all tested subjects at all grade levels and all accountability subgroups unless otherwise indicated.

e The Department reserves the right to revise the measures used in this criterion in order to
accommaodate changes in state assessments, metrics, or accountability requirements, including any
new U.S. Department of Education requirements that may be enacted during the charter term. The
Department is considering the development of additional sets of performance measures for charter
schools offering alternative education programs.

Criterion 6: Program Delivery
The school delivers an academic program that provides improved academic outcomes and educational
success for all students.

Key indicators include but are not limited to:

1. Curriculum: The school’s documented curriculum is aligned to state curriculum frameworks and
expectations®; is aligned vertically between grades and horizontally across classrooms at the same
grade level; is fully implemented in classrooms; and supports opportunities for all students to master
these skills and concepts. The curriculum is regularly reviewed and revised. (Aligned with CSE III:
Aligned Curriculum)

2. Instruction: The school staff has a common understanding of high-quality instruction. Instructional
practices are aligned to this common understanding and are based on high expectations for all
students. Instruction fosters student engagement. Classroom environments are conducive to learning.
(Aligned with CSE 1V: Effective Instruction)

3. Assessment and Program Evaluation: The school uses a balanced system of formative and
benchmark assessments. The school uses qualitative and quantitative data to improve student
outcomes as well as to evaluate the quality and effectiveness of the program in serving all students
and modifies the program accordingly. (Aligned with CSE V: Student Assessment)

4. Supports for Diverse Learners:

The school provides supports to meet the academic needs for all students, including but not limited to
students with disabilities and English language learners. (Aligned with CSE VIII: Tiered Instruction
and Adequate Learning Time)

Criterion 7: Culture and Family Engagement
The school supports students’ social and emotional health in a safe and respectful learning environment
that engages families.

® The Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks for Mathematics and English Language Arts and Literacy issued in
2011 incorporate the Common Core State Standards. Additionally, schools are expected to integrate the World-class
Design and Assessment English Language Development (WIDA ELD) standards into ELD curriculum materials and
content area curricula of classes in which English language learners participate.
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Key indicators include but are not limited to:

1. Social, Emotional and Health Needs: The school creates a safe school environment and addresses
the physical, social, emotional, and health needs of its students. (Aligned with CSE IX: Students’
Social, Emotional and Health Needs)

2. Family Engagement: The school develops strong working relationships with families/guardians in
order to support students’ academic progress and social and emotional well-being. (Aligned with CSE
X: Family-school Engagement)

Criterion 8: Capacity
The school sustains a well-functioning organizational structure and creates a professional working climate
for all staff.

Key indicators include but are not limited to:
1. School Leadership:

a. The school has an effective school leadership team that implements a clearly defined mission
and set of goals. (Aligned with CSE II: Effective School Leadership)

b. The school defines and delineates clear roles and responsibilities among leaders, staff,
management and board members.

c. The school has clear and well-understood systems for decision-making and communication
processes among all members of the school community.

2. Professional Climate:

a. The school staff regularly, frequently collaborate and engage in professional development to
improve implementation of the curriculum and instructional practice. (Aligned with CSE VII:
Professional Development and Structures for Collaboration).

b. A system is in place for monitoring instructional practice for consistency, which includes a
formal process of teacher evaluation.

3. Contractual Relationships

a. (If applicable) The board of trustees and school leadership establish effective working
relationships with their management company. Changes in the school’s relationship with its
management company comply with required charter amendment procedures.

b. (If applicable) An effective working relationship exists between the board of trustees and
school leadership of a Horace Mann charter school and the host district, which operates under
one or more Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) that clearly articulate the relationship with
the host district regarding services, including but not limited to, facilities, funding, and
waivers of collective bargaining agreement provisions.

Criterion 9: Governance
Members of the board of trustees act as public agents authorized by the state and provide competent and
appropriate governance to ensure the success and sustainability of the school.

Key indicators include but are not limited to:

1. Board members are active and engaged; know and fulfill their legal responsibilities and obligations;
exercise their fiduciary duties of care and loyalty; comply with the board’s bylaws; and always act in
the best interests of the school.

2. The board has clear and well-understood systems for decision-making and communication processes;
board meetings are designed to foster open, deliberate, and thorough discussions to facilitate and
ensure public accountability.

3. The board demonstrates appropriate oversight of the charter school administration, financial health,
progress towards meeting academic and other school goals, and alignment with the mission and other
terms of the charter, without managing the day-to-day operations of the school. This includes hiring,
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evaluating, and removing, if necessary, qualified personnel or management organization (if
applicable) to manage the charter school’s day-to-day operations and holds these parties accountable
for meeting specified goals;

The board engages in strategic and continuous improvement planning by setting, and regularly
monitoring progress relative to, priorities and goals that are aligned with the school’s mission, vision,
and educational philosophy. This includes ensuring sustainability of the school by establishing clear
processes for board and school leadership succession; and recruiting, selecting, orienting and training
members with skills and expertise that enables the board to sustain an excellent school.

Criterion 10: Finance
The school maintains a sound and stable financial condition and operates in a financially sound and
publicly accountable manner.

Key indicators include but are not limited to:

1.

The school maintains a sound and stable financial condition and demonstrates a history of positive net
assets, adequate cash flow to sustain operations and support the academic program, as evidenced by
performance on key financial indicators reported in the Massachusetts Charter School Financial
Dashboard.®

The school develops an annual budget that can be sustained by enrollment and other sources of
historically stable revenue. The budget supports student performance.

The school uses an accurate accounting system and engages in appropriate budgetary planning,
budget oversight, and budget revision.

The school has and is maintaining appropriate internal controls, documented by a written set of fiscal
policies and procedures.

The school follows generally accepted accounting principles as evidenced by independent financial
audits with an unqualified audit opinion and a limited number of findings that are quickly corrected.

® See: http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/finance/dashboard/
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Sources of Evidence

In order to assess charter school performance against the Criteria, the Department will consider a wide
body of evidence, which includes, but is not limited to, the following:

Faithfulness to Charter:

Accountability plan

Recruitment and retention plans
Enrollment numbers and student
demographic profile

Opening Procedures activities
Dissemination efforts

Coordinated Program Review (CPR) reports
& Mid-Cycle Review reports

Complaints received and resolution status
Documentation of current Certificate of
Occupancy, Health, Safety, and Fire
inspections.

Materials made publically available by the
school such as website, application, and
promotional documents.

Academic Program Success:

MCAS scores

Student growth percentile (SGP) data

Progress and performance index (PPI) data
Accountability and assistance level

School percentiles

Sub-group analysis (including those that may be
statistically insignificant for state reporting
purposes) for English language learners and special
education students

e School identified and collected data from other
assessments

Review of curriculum documents

Internal program evaluation reports

School Safety Discipline Report (SSDR)

District Curriculum Accommodation Plan (DCAP)
Special Education and English language learners
program self-evaluation.

o Parent/family surveys

Organizational Viability:

Annual financial audits

Charter School End of Year Financial
Reports

Budgets

Capital plans

Board minutes

Staff surveys

Policy documents

Board of trustees self evaluation or self
study

Evaluation of head of school and/or school
leadership

Handbooks- family, staff, student, board
Operation manuals, including fiscal policies
and procedures

Professional Development calendars /
agendas

Contract and/or MOU

Sources of evidence that will inform all three
categories:

Original charter application

Charter amendments

Annual reports

Site visits

Renewal inspection reports

Data derived from the Student Information
Management System (SIMS) and the Educator
Personnel Information Management System
(EPIMS)

e Summaries of review

10

PR/Award # U282A160013

Page e173




Appendix 5: Considerations for Charter School Renewal

Massachusetts Department of
Elementary and Secondary Education

75 Pleasant Street, Malden, Massachusetts 02148-4906 Telephone: (781) 338-3000
TTY: N.E.T. Relay 1-800-439-2370

Mitchell D. Chester, Ed.D.
Commissioner

To: Massachusetts Charter School Leaders and Board
From: Mitchell D. Chester, Ed.D., Commissioner
Date: October 7, 2013

Subject Considerations for Charter School Renewal

As the 2013-2014 charter school renewal decision season commences, and in response to
feedback from the field, this memorandum is intended to document key considerations related to
accountability decisions for charter schools, including decisions to not renew or to revoke
schools' charters. These considerations are not new; they have been developed and employed by
the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (Department) and the
Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (Board) for the past several years.

Introduction

Pursuant to the Massachusetts Charter School Statute, M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, the Board authorizes
and oversees all charter schools in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. The Department and
the Commissioner of Elementary and Secondary Education (Commissioner) serve as staff to the
Board to conduct oversight activities on behalf of, and to make recommendations to, the Board.
The Commissioner also takes certain actions on behalf of the Board, including the approval of
certain charter amendments and charter renewals, pursuant to delegated authority.

The Massachusetts Charter School Statute provides increased autonomy to the boards of trustees
of charter schools to operate charter schools in return for increased accountability. Charter
renewal is not automatic. Between March 1st of the third year and the August 1st following a
school's fourth year in its charter term, a charter school's board of trustees may submit an
application for renewal of the charter for an additional five year term. While the charter school
law and regulations provide specific grounds for the Board to suspend or revoke a school'’s
charter for cause at any time during the charter period, the renewal process enables the
Department to assess a school's record of academic program success and decide whether to
permit a school to continue to operate.

General Considerations

Every charter school undergoes a rigorous renewal process during the final year of its charter
term to determine whether or not the school can continue to operate. The renewal process
includes the submission of a renewal application, a renewal inspection visit, and an analysis of
all evidence related to the charter school's performance, including quantitative and qualitative
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evidence collected through the Department's charter school accountability process. This process
results in a recommendation regarding charter renewal.

The Charter School Performance Criteria (Criteria) provide the lens of inquiry for the charter
renewal process. There are ten criteria articulated in the three key areas of charter school
accountability: faithfulness to charter, academic program success, and organizational viability.

The Department comprehensively analyzes the evidence in all areas of school performance when
considering a charter school's application for renewal. Student academic achievement, however,
is of paramount importance. M.G.L. c. 71, 8 89(dd), states that "when deciding on charter
renewal, the board shall consider progress made in student academic achievement..."” In
particular, the Department and the Commissioner uses "increases in student academic
achievement for all groups of students described in Section 1111(b)(2)(C)(v) of the ESEA as the
most important factor when determining to renew or revoke a school's charter."? The measures
that reflect the priority given to student academic achievement are outlined in Criterion 5,
student performance.

The Department, in evaluating charter school performance, and the Commissioner and the
Board, in making renewal decisions, also carefully consider the following:

o Early warning whenever possible. Because renewal is a summative decision that
determines the future existence of a school, it must be based on affirmative evidence of
success. Because of the significance of this decision, the Department endeavors to clearly
communicate concerns or issues to schools prior to renewal. The Department provides
feedback to schools against the Criteria through the regular accountability process,
including the review of annual data and site visits. When concerns rise to a level
requiring stronger and more direct oversight, the Department, Commissioner, and the
Board consider imposing conditions on a charter to identify even more clearly those areas
in which a school must improve. If a school fails to address conditions adequately, or if
the imposition of a condition alone would be insufficient to remediate the problem, the
Commissioner may recommend that the Board place a school on probation, with
conditions to be met related to the areas of concern. Particularly serious or egregious
situations related to developments such as criminal violations, fraud, an unsafe
environment, or organizational instability, may lead to an immediate closure of a school
or revocation of a school's charter prior to the end of its charter term. Such closure or
revocation may occur on an emergency basis.

o Context and trends. Failure to meet every performance criteria will not necessarily
result in a non-renewal; the Criteria set a high standard for performance. Performance
relative to the Criteria is considered within the context of the school's performance trends
and stage of development. The Commissioner and the Board ultimately make these
accountability decisions based upon the totality of evidence presented by the charter
school. The Commissioner and the Board consider all qualitative and quantitative
evidence when making these decisions.

e Subsequent renewals. As previously stated, for all renewal decisions, the most important
factor when determining a renewal outcome is student academic performance. The Board
and Department understand, however, that the context of evaluation for a first renewal
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may be substantively different than for subsequent renewals. In subsequent renewal
reviews, the Board and Department place even greater emphasis on student performance,
consistent with the length of time that a school has been in operation and the
corresponding increase in the quantity and quality of student achievement data that the
school has generated.

Renewal Outcomes
In general, the renewal process results in one of the following outcomes:

e Unconditional Renewal (decision delegated to the Commissioner): A school's charter
may be renewed for another term of five years, without conditions. Generally, to receive
a renewal without conditions, the school must have a strong and compelling record of
meeting or exceeding the Criteria. This decision places particular emphasis on Criterion
5, student performance.

« Renewal with Conditions (decision delegated to the Commissioner): A school's
charter may be renewed for another term of five years and have conditions imposed on its
charter that requires the school to address specific areas of concern. In general, conditions
are linked to substandard performance relative to one or more areas of the Criteria.

o Renewal with Probationary Conditions (Board vote): The Board may renew a school's
charter for another term of five years, place the school on probation, and impose
conditions on the school's charter that require the school to address specific areas of
concern. A renewal with probation signals strong concern about a school's viability and
would permit the Board to summarily revoke a school's charter if the school fails to
remedy the causes of its probation.

o Non-Renewal (Board vote): The Board will not renew a school's charter if the school
does not apply for renewal or if the school lacks affirmative evidence regarding academic
program success, organizational viability, and faithfulness to the terms of its charter,
including the extent to which the school has followed its recruitment and retention plan.
In the case of non-renewal, a school's charter expires at the end of its term and the school
must comply with the Department's Closing Procedures to ensure an orderly closure.

If you have any questions or require additional information, please contact Cliff Chuang,
Associate Commissioner at_orh). Thank you.

! Through both regulation and motion, the Board has delegated authority to the Commissioner to impose conditions
on the charters of charter schools in accordance with M.G.L. c. 15, 8 1F, paragraph 3. On February 26, 2013, the
Board authorized the Commissioner, to act on behalf of the Board in: (a) granting charter renewals that do not
involve probation; (b) approving charter amendments that do not involve changes in grade span, maximum
enrollment, or districts served; and (c) removing or continuing conditions imposed on charters of charter schools.
See http://www.doe.mass.edu/boe/minutes/13/0226req.pdf, page 11.

2 This is a required program assurance of the Department's federal grant of $12 million for 2012-2015 under the
Charter Schools Program (PR/Award #U282A120006).
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Appendix 6: Commonwealth and Horace Mann Charter School Application

Massachusetts Department of

ELEMENTARY & SECONDARY

EDUCATION

Application for a Massachusetts Public Charter School:
Proposed Commonwealth or Horace Mann Charter School
By a New Operator

2016-2017

Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education
75 Pleasant Street, Malden, MA 02148-4906
Phone 781-338-3000 TTY: N.E.T. Relay 800-439-2370
www.doe.mass.edu
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EDUCATION

This document was prepared by the
Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.

The Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education, an affirmative action
employer, is committed to ensuring that all of its programs and facilities are accessible to all
members of the public. The Department does not discriminate on the basis of age, color, disability,
national origin, race, religion, sex, gender identity, or sexual orientation.

Copyright © 2016 Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education
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THE APPLICATION PROCESS AND REVIEW STAGES

Deadlines

The deadline for receipt of all materials is 5:00 PM as follows:

Letter of Intent...............ccvneenn. June 15, 2016

®  ProSpeCtUS.......ccevvvvrvveineenennnnn August 1, 2016
Proven Provider Request
(if applicable)...........ccoev i, August 1, 2016

e Final Application....................... November 1, 2016

Electronic Submission

The Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (Department)
has instituted electronic submission for all charter applicants via an online
tool. All eligible applicant groups will be required to submit a letter of
intent in order to access the dropbox function of the Department’s security
portal. Applicants will participate in training related to application
submission and the use of the online tool.

How to Submit

Note: All documents,
when submitted to the
Department, become
part of the public
record.

Applicant groups will be asked to submit the prospectus and final
application electronically via an assigned dropbox
as well as submit an unbound copy with original signatures to:

Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education
Office of Charter Schools and School Redesign
75 Pleasant Street, Malden, Massachusetts 02148-4906
(781) 338-3227

Letter of Intent and
Applicant Information
Sheet

Note: Letter of Intent
submissions are
submitted to the

Department via email:
charterschools@doe.mass.edu

Letter of Intent, and Applicant Information Sheet are due no later
than 5:00 p.m. on Wednesday, June 15, 2016

An applicant group’s letter of intent and applicant information sheet are
submitted via charterschools@doe.mass.edu. All interested charter school
applicants are required to notify the Department of their intention to
apply for a charter in order to receive access to an assigned dropbox.

After submission of a letter of intent, applicant groups will be contacted by
the Department to confirm participation in the required two hour applicant
training within two weeks of the letter of intent deadline.

Submitting the
Prospectus and
Proven Provider
request, if applicable

Submit:

A) One (1) unbound original
copy with original
signatures

B) Electronic submission via
dropbox

Prospectus and Proven Provider request, if applicable, are due
no later than 5:00 p.m. on Monday, August 1, 2016

Incomplete applications will not be accepted.

District Review

Applicants for a Commonwealth charter must file a copy of the prospectus
with the school committee(s) in the school district(s) from which the
charter school expects to enroll students by Friday, August 5, 2016 and
must provide evidence to the Office of Charter Schools and School
Redesign that this has been completed by Monday, August 8, 2016.
Submission to the office(s) of the superintendent(s) is considered
sufficient to meet this requirement.

2015-2016 Application for a Massachusetts Charter Public School: New Operators
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Submitting the
Prospectus (Horace
Mann Charter Schools)

All Horace Mann charter applicants will be permitted to submit
their signed Certification Statement up to 6 weeks after the
prospectus deadline to accommodate school committee meeting
schedules. For Horace Mann I and 11 applicants, the deadline for
signed Certification Statements is Monday, September 12, 2016 by
5:00 p.m. All other prospectus requirements for Horace Mann | and
111 applicants must be completed on or before the prospectus
deadline of August 1 by 5:00 p.m.

Prospectus Review

The prospectus is reviewed by the Department and external reviewers
against the criteria in the application.

Proven Provider
Request Review (as
applicable)

Proven Provider
Interview (as needed)

The Proven Provider request is reviewed by the Department.

Applicants for Proven Provider status may be contacted after the
submission of the request and prospectus to schedule a Department
phone interview as part of the review of Proven Provider qualifications.

Applicant Notification

During the month of September, applicant groups may be invited to
submit a final application.

The Commissioner of Elementary and Secondary Education will invite
those applicants whose prospectus demonstrates the greatest probability of
creating the highest quality charter schools to submit a final application.

For applicants who must qualify as Proven Providers, an invitation to
submit a final application is contingent on the Commissioner’s granting of
Proven Provider status. The Commissioner will make the Proven Provider
determination, if applicable, in September.

Submitting the Final
Application

Submit:

A) One (1) unbound original
copy with original
signatures.

B) Electronic submission via
online tool

Final Application is due no later than 5:00 p.m. on Monday,
November 1, 2016
Incomplete applications will not be accepted.

District Review (November to January)

Applicants for a Commonwealth charter must file a copy of the
application with the school committee(s) in the school district(s) from
which the charter school expects to enroll students by Friday, November
5, 2016. Submission to the office(s) of the superintendent(s) is considered
sufficient to meet this requirement. Applicant groups must submit
evidence the requirement has been met to the Department by Monday,
November 8, 2016. Superintendents from those districts and all
contiguous districts will be invited to submit written comments to the
Board of Elementary and Secondary Education regarding the application
and the impact of the proposed Commonwealth charter school on their
district.

Review of
Final Applications

The final application will be reviewed by the Department and external
reviewers against the criteria described throughout the application.
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Public Hearings Public Hearings (November and December)

The public hearing on a final application is held in the school district in
which the proposed charter school intends to locate and attended by
members of the public, Board of Elementary and Secondary Education
member(s), and Department staff. Public hearings take place on a single
weekday from 4:00 p.m. — 6:00 p.m.

Interviews Interview with Applicant Group/Board of Trustees (January)

Department staff conduct an interview with the applicant group and
current board of trustees. Comments and questions from the final
application review teams, the public hearings, and the proposed sending
districts will serve as a basis for the interview.

Commissioner’s Commissioner’s Recommendation (February)

Recommendation The Commissioner will review the results of this process and make
recommendations to the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education
regarding the award of charters.

Board of Elementary Board of Elementary and Secondary Education Votes on

and Secondary New Charter Schools (February)
Education Grants The Board of Elementary and Secondary Education will vote to award
Charters charters no later than the February Board meeting. The Board reserves the

right to grant a charter with the terms and conditions that it deems are
appropriate, including, but not limited to, the opening date, grade span,
and maximum enrollment of the school.
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COMMONWEALTH PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL

APPLICATION PROCESS AND TIMELINE

Applicant
Group

Letter of Intent Submitted to the Department
June

Prospectus Submitted to the Department
August

Prospectus Submitted to Superintendents
August

\

Evaluation of Prospectus and
Proven Provider Status (Interview)
August

Commissioner Invites Selected Applicants to Submit
Final Application and Notifies Applicants of
Proven Provider Status
September

Final Application submitted to the Department

November
Final Applications submitted to Superintendents
November
Panel Review of Final School District. Public Hearings on
Applications Review of Applications Final Applications
Nov. — Dec. Nov. — Dec. Nov. — Dec.

| I

v

Interview with Applicant
Groups/ Proposed Boards of Trustees
January

v

Commissioner Makes Recommendations
to Board of Elementary & Secondary Education

February

Board of Elementary & Secondary Education
Votes to Grant Charters

February
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HORACE MANN PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL

Applicant
Group

v

Letter of Intent Submitted to the Department
June

v

Prospectus Submitted to the Department

August

v

Evaluation of Prospectus

August

v

Commissioner Invites Selected Applicant Groups to
Submit Final Application

September

v

Final Application
Submitted to the Department

November
I
Panel Evaluations of Final Application Public Hearings on Final Application
Nov. — Dec. Nov. — Dec.

v

Interview with Applicant
Groups/ Proposed Boards of Trustees
January

v

Commissioner Makes Recommendations
to Board of Elementary & Secondary Education

February

Board of Elementary & Secondary Education VVotes to Grant Charters

February
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HORACE MANN I1* PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL

APPLICATION PROCESS AND TIMELINE (NO DATES)

Applicant Horace Mann Il applicants

Group are encouraged to adhere to
the standard schedule, but

l may submit a prospectus at

Letter of Intent Submitted to the Department any time.

If the Horace Mann |1

l applicant group receives an
invitation from the
Prospectus Submitted to the Department Commissioner to submit a
. final application, the due
Submission Date date for the final
¢ application is based on the
Evaluation of Prospectus original submission date of

the prospectus.

Within One Month of Prospectus Submission

Applicants for Horace

l Mann Il charter schools that
choose not to adhere to the

standard schedule are

subject to the same review

Commissioner Invites Selected Applicant Groups to
Submit Final Application

Within Eight Weeks of Prospectus Submission process as all other Horace
l Mann and Commonwealth
_ _ applicants, with the same
Final Application length of time for review of
Submitted to the Department the prospectus and final
Three Months After Prospectus Submission application, and charter
I granting.
v v
Panel Evaluations of Final Applicatior Public Hearings on Final Application
Within Two Months of Within Two Months of
Final Application Submission Final Application Submission

v

Interview with Applicant
Groups/ Proposed Boards of Trustees
Within Three Months of
Final Application Submission

v

Commissioner Makes Recommendations
to Board of Elementary & Secondary Education

Within Four Months of
Final Application Submission

Board of Elementary & Secondary Education VVotes to Grant Charters

Within Four Months of Final Application Submission

LFora description of Horace Mann Il Charter Schools, see the Questions and Answers document at http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/new/.
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REQUIRED LETTER OF INTENT TEMPLATE

Applicant groups are required to submit a letter of intent to the Office of Charter Schools and School
Redesign via charterschools@doe.mass.edu by June 15, 2016. An applicant information sheet must
also be submitted with the letter of intent.

Letter of Intent Template
Date

Contact Person’s Name, Proposed Position/Role
Mailing Address

City, State Zip Code

Daytime Phone, Email Address

Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education
Office of Charter Schools and School Redesign

75 Pleasant Street

Malden, MA 02148-4906

Dear Office of Charter Schools and School Redesign,

Introductory sentence(s)

Provide a brief explanation of the mission and purposes of the proposed school and describe the type(s)
of students to be served by the proposed school (e.g., targeted population, at risk youth) and the general
approach to curriculum and teaching (e.g., Core Knowledge, Montessori, Coalition of Essential
Schools, college preparatory, or replication of an existing school). Statement should also discuss the
key design elements of the proposed charter school.

Provide information on the composition of the applicant group (e.g., parents, teachers, partner school
district, non-profit organization) and if applicable, if the applicant group is applying as a Proven
Provider or with what Proven Provider the applicant group proposes to contract.

Salutation,

Signature
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COMMONWEALTH AND HORACE MANN CHARTERAPPLICANT

INFORMATION SHEET

This information is included with all submissions. The application, including this form, are posted on
the Department website. Applicants are advised that the primary contact person may be contacted by
the public and/or media with questions about the proposed school.

Name of Proposed Charter School:
School Address (if known):
School Location (City/Town REQUIRED):

Primary Contact Person:

Role or relationship of contact person to proposal:

Address:

City: State: Zip:
Daytime Tel: ( ) Secondary Tel: ( )
Email:

1. The proposed school will open in the fall of school year: [ 2017-2018 [ 2018-2019

School Year Grade Levels Total Student
Enrollment

First Year
Second Year
Third Year
Fourth Year
Fifth Year
Add additional rows as needed to show planned growth
to reach full proposed grade span and maximum
enrollment.

2. Grade span at full enrollment:

3. Total student enrollment when fully expanded:

4. Age at entry for kindergarten, if applicable:

5. If applicable, the proposed Horace Mann charter school is: 0 New or [0 Conversion

2015-2016 Application for a Massachusetts Charter Public School: New Operators Page 11
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6. If applicable, the proposed type of Horace Mann? charter school is:
O Horace Mann I [ Horace Mann Il [0 Horace Mann I11

Questions #7-10 are for applications for a Commonwealth charter school ONLY.

7. If applicable, will this proposed Commonwealth school be a regional charter school? [1 Yes [
No

If yes, list the school districts (including regional school districts) in the proposed region. Please
only list districts that are included in District Information on Enroliment Projections for New
Applications and Expansion Amendments at http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/new/?section=app. (Use
additional sheets if necessary.)

If no, please specify the district’s population as reported in the most recent United States census
estimate for the community the school intends to serve:

The Board of Elementary and Secondary Education shall not approve a new Commonwealth charter
school in any community with a population of less than 30,000 as determined by the most recent United
States census estimate [available at http://www.census.gov/], unless it is a regional charter school. (MGL
c. 71 § 89(i)(1).

8. For all proposed Commonwealth charter schools, list the districts that are contiguous with the
proposed school’s district or region. Please only list districts that are included in District Information
on Enroliment Projections for New Applications and Expansion Amendments at
http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/new/?section=app. (Use additional sheets if necessary.)

9. Will the proposed Commonwealth charter school serve a district where overall student
performance on PARCC/MCAS is in the lowest 10 percent, as designated in District Information
on Enrollment Projections for New Applications and Expansion Amendments or in any updated
analysis performed by the Department? [0 Yes [1 No

10. Will the proposed Commonwealth charter school serve a district or districts in which the 9
percent net school spending cap is, or could be, exceeded by 2016-2017 applications? (1 Yes [1 No

2 The revision of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89 in 2010 created three types of Horace Mann charter schools, each with a
particular set of requirements.
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11. Have members of the applicant group previously submitted a prospectus or final application
that did not result in a charter? O Yes [ No

If yes, is the present submission related in content to the previous application? [0 Yes [ No

If yes, please indicate the name of the previous proposal and the year submitted.

12. Is the applicant group currently the board of trustees of an existing charter school?
O Yes ONo

If answered YES, please explain why the group is not using the charter application designed for use
by a current board of trustees.

13. Do members of the applicant group currently operate or are they employed by a private or
parochial school? (0 Yes [ No

14. Are any members of the applicant group present or past members of a charter school board of
trustees, school committee, or other type of public governing body? [0 Yes [ No

If yes, please indicate the person’s name; the charter school name and school location, or school
committee district; and dates of membership.

2015-2016 Application for a Massachusetts Charter Public School: New Operators Page 13
PRI/Award # U282A160013

Page e191



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Executive Summary is a required submission with the prospectus and the final application.

The Executive Summary should provide a broad overview of the proposed school, including its mission
and school design, how this potential school will enhance options for students, the community’s
demonstration of support for this school, and the proposed board of trustees’ (board) capacity to make
the school a success. The Executive Summary is limited to a maximum of three pages and should
include the following information:

Mission and School Design: Provide the proposed school’s mission and vision. Describe the proposed
board’s core beliefs and values about education. Describe the key design elements of the proposed
educational program, including curriculum and instruction. Be explicit about the key design elements
of the proposed school’s educational program that distinguishes it from other public schools. Indicate if
the proposal is a replication of an existing model or the rationale behind the new model proposed.
Explain how the key design elements will support the goal of improved student outcomes.

Community(ies) to Be Served: Explain the rationale for the selection of the community(ies). Describe
the educational needs of the targeted community(ies) and how the proposed school aims to address
those needs. Describe any relationships that have been established in the targeted community to support
the success of the proposed school. Describe the strategies used to assess demand and/or establish
support for the proposed school and the progress of your efforts thus far. Indicate the details of the
proposed school growth, including proposed date of school opening, projected maximum enrollment,
and the grades to be served.

2015-2016 Application for a Massachusetts Charter Public School: New Operators Page 14
PRI/Award # U282A160013

Page €192



COMMONWEALTH CHARTER SCHOOL CERTIFICATION STATEMENT

Note: Applicant group submits an updated certification statement with the final application, if invited
to submit.

Proposed Charter School Name:

Proposed School Location (City/Town):

I hereby certify that the information submitted in this prospectus/final application is true to the best of
my knowledge and belief and that this prospectus/application has been or is being sent to the
superintendent of each of the districts from which we expect to draw students. Further, | understand
that, if awarded a charter, the proposed school shall be open to all students on a space available basis,
and shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, creed, sex, gender identity, ethnicity,
sexual orientation, mental or physical disability, age, ancestry, athletic performance, special need,
proficiency in the English language or a foreign language, or academic achievement. | further understand
that the information submitted in this prospectus/application serves as an initial application for start-up
assistance funding under the federal Charter Schools Program grant. This is a true statement, made under
the penalties of perjury.

Signature of
Authorized Person Date

Print/Type Name

Address
Daytime Phone Fax
2015-2016 Application for a Massachusetts Charter Public School: New Operators Page 15
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HORACE MANN | CHARTER SCHOOL CERTIFICATION STATEMENT

Note: Applicant group submits an updated certification statement with the final application, if invited
to submit.

Proposed Charter School Name

School’s Current Name
(If different from above)

I hereby certify that this prospectus/final application has received approval from a majority of the
school committee and from the local teacher’s union in the district in which this Horace Mann | Charter
School would be located. The information submitted in this prospectus/final application is true to the
best of my knowledge and belief; and further, I understand that, if awarded a charter, the proposed
charter school shall be open to all students, on a space available basis, and shall not discriminate on the
basis of race, color, national origin, creed, sex, gender identity, ethnicity, sexual orientation, mental or
physical disability, age, ancestry, athletic performance, special need, proficiency in the English language
or a foreign language, or academic achievement. | understand that the final application for the proposed
school shall include a signed final draft memorandum of understanding that describes the intended
relationship between the proposed charter school and the school district. | also understand that any
memorandum of understanding, modifying provisions of a collective bargaining agreement must be
signed by the proposed charter school, the school committee, and the local collective bargaining unit
and submitted with the final application. | further understand that the information submitted in this
prospectus/final application serves as an initial application for start-up assistance funding under the
federal Charter Schools Program grant. This is a true statement, made under the penalties of perjury.

I. School Committee

Signature Date
Chairperson, School Committee

Print/Type Name

Address

City State Zip

Daytime Telephone Fax

I1. Local Collective Bargaining Unit

Signature Date
President, Local Teacher’s Union

Print/Type Name

Address
City State Zip
Daytime Telephone Fax
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HORACE MANN Il CHARTER SCHOOL CERTIFICATION STATEMENT

Note: Applicant group submits an updated certification statement with the final application, if invited
to submit.

Proposed Charter School Name

School’s Current Name
(If different from above)

I hereby certify that this prospectus/final application has received approval from a majority of the
school committee. The information submitted in this prospectus/final application is true to the best of
my knowledge and belief; and further, I understand that, if awarded a charter, the proposed charter
school shall be open to all students, on a space available basis, and shall not discriminate on the basis of
race, color, national origin, creed, sex, gender identity, ethnicity, sexual orientation, mental or physical
disability, age, ancestry, athletic performance, special need, proficiency in the English language or a
foreign language, or academic achievement. | understand that the final application for the proposed
school shall include a signed final draft memorandum of understanding that describes the intended
relationship between the proposed charter school and the school district. I also understand that any
memorandum of understanding, modifying provisions of a collective bargaining agreement must be
approved by a majority of faculty at the school, with the vote to be held within 30 days of submission
of application. | further understand that the information submitted in this prospectus/application serves as
an initial application for start-up assistance funding under the federal Charter Schools Program grant.
This is a true statement, made under the penalties of perjury.

I. School Committee

Signature Date
Chairperson, School Committee

Print/Type Name

Address
City State Zip
Daytime Telephone Fax
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HORACE MANN |1l CHARTER SCHOOL CERTIFICATION STATEMENT

Note: Applicant group submits an updated certification statement with the final application, if invited
to submit.

Proposed Charter School Name

School’s Current Name
(If different from above)

I hereby certify that this prospectus/final application has received approval from a majority of the
school committee. The information submitted in this prospectus/final application is true to the best of
my knowledge and belief; and further, I understand that, if awarded a charter, the proposed charter
school shall be open to all students, on a space available basis, and shall not discriminate on the basis of
race, color, national origin, creed, sex, gender identity, ethnicity, sexual orientation, mental or physical
disability, age, ancestry, athletic performance, special need, proficiency in the English language or a
foreign language, or academic achievement. | understand that the final application for the proposed
school shall include a signed final draft memorandum of understanding that describes the intended
relationship between the proposed charter school and the school district. | also understand that an
agreement with the collective bargaining unit is not required prior to Board approval of a charter,
however the charter school’s board of trustees must negotiate with the collective bargaining unit and
the school committee in good faith regarding any modifications to collective bargaining agreements
following the award of a charter. If an agreement is not reached at least 30 days before scheduled
opening, charter school operates under the terms of its charter until an agreement is reached. | further
understand that the information submitted in this prospectus/application serves as an initial application for
start-up assistance funding under the federal Charter Schools Program grant. This is a true statement,
made under the penalties of perjury.

I. School Committee

Signature Date
Chairperson, School Committee

Print/Type Name

Address
City State Zip
Daytime Telephone Fax
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GENERAL STATEMENT OF ASSURANCES

This form must be signed by a duly authorized representative of the applicant group and submitted with
the final application. An application will be considered incomplete and will not be accepted if it does
not include the Statement of Assurances.

As the authorized representative of the applicant group, | hereby certify under the penalties of perjury
that the information submitted in this application for a charter for
(name of school) to be located at is true to the best of my knowledge
and belief; and further, | certify that, if awarded a charter, the school:

1. Will not charge tuition, fees, or other mandatory payments for attendance at the charter school,
for participation in required or elective courses, or for mandated services or programs (Mass.
Gen. Laws c. 71, § 89(m), and 603 CMR 1.03(3)).

2. Will not charge any public school for the use or replication of any part of their curriculum
subject to the prescriptions of any contract between the charter school and any third party
provider (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71, 8 89(1)).

3. Will permit parents to enroll their children only voluntarily and not because they must send
their children to this school (The Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, as
amended, Title V, Part B, Subpart 1 — Public Charter Schools Section 5210(1)(h)).

4. Will enroll any eligible student who submits a timely and complete application, unless the
school receives a greater number of applications than there are spaces for students. If the
number of application exceeds the spaces available, the school will hold a lottery in accordance
with Massachusetts charter laws and regulations (Mass. Gen. Laws c¢. 71 § 89(n), and 603
CMR 1.05).

5. Will be open to all students, on a space available basis, and shall not discriminate on the basis
of race, color, national origin, creed, sex, gender identity, ethnicity, sexual orientation, mental
or physical disability, age, ancestry, athletic performance, special need, proficiency in the
English language or a foreign language, or academic achievement (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71, §
89(m)).

6. Will be secular in its curriculum, programs, admissions, policies, governance, employment
practices, and operation in accordance with the federal and state constitutions and any other
relevant provisions of federal and state law.

7. Will comply with the federal Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and Title 1X of the Education
Amendments of 1972.
8. Will adhere to all applicable provisions of federal and state law relating to students with

disabilities including, but not limited to, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act,
section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1974, and Title Il of the Americans with Disabilities
Act of 1990 and chapter 71B of the Massachusetts General Laws.

9. Will adhere to all applicable provisions of federal and state law relating to students who are
English language learners including, but not limited to, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, the Equal Educational Opportunities Act of 1974, and chapter 71A of the Massachusetts
General Laws.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

Will comply with all other applicable federal and state law including, but not limited to, the
requirement to offer a school nutrition program (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 69, § 1 (c)).

Will meet the performance standards and assessment requirements set by the Board of
Elementary and Secondary Education for all students in public schools including, but not
limited to, administering the Massachusetts Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS)
(Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71, § 89(v), and 603 CMR 1.04(3)(k)).

Will submit an annual report to the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education on or
before the required deadline (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71 8§ 89(jj)).

Will submit an accountability plan no later than the end of the first year of the school’s charter,
establishing specific five year performance objectives as specified in the state regulations (603
CMR 1.04 (3)(I)) and guidelines.

Will submit an annual independent audit to the Department of Elementary and Secondary
Education and the Office of the State Auditor no later than November 1st of every year, as
required by the charter school statute (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71, 8 89(jj), or at such other time as
designated in 603 CMR 1.08 (3)).

Will submit required enrollment data each March to the Department of Elementary and
Secondary Education by the required deadline (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71, § 89(0), and 603 CMR
1.08(5)).

Will meet enrollment projections through demonstration of support for the proposed charter
school in the communities from which students would be likely to enroll (603 CMR
1.04(3)(c)).

Will operate in compliance with generally accepted government accounting principles (Mass.
Gen. Laws c. 71, 8§ 89(jj)).

Will maintain financial records to meet the requirements of Mass. Gen. Laws c¢. 71, § 89 and
603 CMR 1.00.

Will participate in the Massachusetts State Teachers’ Retirement System (Mass. Gen. Laws c.

Will employ individuals who either hold an appropriate license to teach in a public school in
Massachusetts or who will take and pass the Massachusetts Tests for Educator Licensure
(MTEL) within their first year of employment and meet all applicable staff requirements of the
federal No Child Left Behind Act (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71 § 89(ii), and 603 CMR 1.06(4)).

Will provide the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education with written assurance
that a criminal background check has been performed, prior to their employment, on all
employees of the school who will have unsupervised contact with children (Mass. Gen. Laws
c. 71, § 38R, and 603 CMR 1.04(7)(d)).

Will obtain and keep current all necessary permits, licenses, and certifications related to fire,
health, and safety within the building(s) and on school property (603 CMR 1.04(7)(e),
1.04(7)(f), 1.05(7)(g), and 1.05(7)(h)).

Will maintain uninterrupted necessary and appropriate insurance coverage (603 CMR
1.04(7)(h)).
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24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

Will submit to the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education the names, home
addresses, and employment and educational histories of proposed new members of the school’s
board of trustees for approval prior to their service (603 CMR 1.06(1)(b)).

Will ensure that every member of the school’s board of trustees shall meet all training as
required by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education and any other
requirements by other state agencies, including the requirements under the Commonwealth’s
open meeting law and conflict of interest law (603 CMR 1.06).

Will ensure that all members of the school’s board of trustees file with the Department of
Elementary and Secondary Education, the State Ethics Commission, and the city or town clerk
where the charter school is located completed financial disclosure forms for the preceding
calendar year according to the schedule required by the Office of Charter Schools and School
Redesign (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71, § 89(u)). The disclosure is in addition to the requirements of
said chapter 268A and a member of a board of trustees must also comply with the disclosure
and other requirements of said chapter 268A.

Will recognize, if applicable, an employee organization designated by the authorization cards
of 50 percent of its employees in the appropriate bargaining unit as the exclusive representative
of all the employees in such unit for the purpose of collective bargaining (Mass. Gen. Laws c.
71, 8 89(y)).

Will provide the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education with a federal taxpayer
identification number issued solely to the charter school and all required information regarding
a bank account held solely in the name of the charter school (603 CMR 1.04(8)).

Will, in the event the board of trustees intends to procure substantially all educational services
for the charter school through a contract with another person or entity, submit such contract for
approval by the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education to provide for any necessary
revisions and approval prior to the beginning of the contract period (Mass. Gen. Laws c. 71, §

89(K)(5))-

Will notify the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education immediately in writing of
any change in circumstances that may have a significant impact on the school’s ability to fulfill
its goals or missions as stated in its charter (603 CMR 1.08(11)).

Will submit in writing to the Commissioner of Elementary and Secondary Education a request
to amend its charter if the school plans to make a change to its operations as defined in 603
CMR 1.10.

Signature Date

Affiliation
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STATEMENT OF ASSURANCES FOR THE

FEDERAL CHARTER SCHOOL PROGRAM GRANT

This form must be signed by a duly authorized representative of the applicant group and submitted with
the final application. An application will be considered incomplete and will not be accepted if it does
not include the Statement of Assurances for the federal Charter School Program Grant.

These additional assurances are required to ensure compliance with requirements for the federal
Charter Schools Program grant:

1. Will annually provide the U.S. Secretary of Education and the Department of Elementary and
Secondary Education such information as may be required to determine if the charter school is
making satisfactory progress toward achieving objectives described in this application (The
Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, as amended, Title V, Part B, Subpart 1 —
Public Charter Schools Section 5203(b)(3)).

2. Will cooperate with the U.S. Secretary of Education and the Department of Elementary and
Secondary Education in evaluating the program described in the application (The Elementary
and Secondary Education Act of 1965, as amended, Title V, Part B, Subpart 1 — Public
Charter Schools Section 5203(b)(3)).

3. Will provide other information and assurances as the U.S. Secretary of Education and the
Department of Elementary and Secondary Education may require (The Elementary and
Secondary Education Act of 1965, as amended, Title V, Part B, Subpart 1 — Public Charter
Schools Section 5203(b)(3)).

Signature Date
Affiliation
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COMMONWEALTH AND HORACE MANN CHARTER PROSPECTUS

OUTLINE
FOR NEW OPERATORS

The prospectus is limited to no more than 55 pages of text, excluding the Cover Page, the Table of
Contents, the Applicant Information Sheet, the Certification Statement, Executive Summary, and the
required attachments: the curriculum for grade levels beyond the four grade levels that is required in
the text of the application; individual questionnaires and resumes from each applicant group member;
budget; and, if applicable, the Proven Provider request containing the proposed Proven Provider’s
qualifications as defined and explained in 603 CMR 1.00.

O Cover Page
Table of Contents
Applicant Information Sheet
Certification Statement

Executive Summary — no more than three pages

o o o o o4O

I. How will the school demonstrate faithfulness to charter?
O A. Mission
O B. Key Design Elements
O C. Description of the Community(ies) to be Served

O 1. How will the school demonstrate academic success?
O A. Overview of Program Delivery
O B. Curriculum and Instruction
O C. Student Performance, Assessment, and Program Evaluation
O D. Supports for Diverse Learners
O E. Culture and Family Engagement
O 1. How will the school demonstrate organizational viability?
O A. Capacity
O B. Governance and Management
O C. School Finances

O V. Required Attachments (do not count towards 50 pages)
O Individual questionnaires and resumes from each applicant group member, indicating if
a member is a proposed board member, proposed school leader, or proposed for any
other position(s).

O Description of curriculum scope and sequence for grade levels beyond those required in
the text of the application, including the content and skills to be taught in the core
content areas.

O Draft organizational chart

O Draft Operating Budget: Projected Revenues and Expenditures

O Proven Provider request, if applicable.

O School Improvement Plan, for Horace Mann Il conversion schools, as applicable.
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COMMONWEALTH AND HORACE MANN CHARTER PROSPECTUS

FOR NEW OPERATORS

I. HOW WILL THE SCHOOL DEMONSTRATE FAITHFULNESS TO CHARTER?

A. MISSION

B.

The mission communicates the essence of the proposed charter school and defines the core purpose and
key values of the school to its stakeholders and the public. It should be succinct, meaningful, and
consistent with high academic standards. A school’s mission provides the foundation for the entire
charter application and for the five year term of the school’s charter. The mission should be reflected
throughout all sections of the prospectus.

Provide the proposed mission. The mission and application should address the following criteria:

The mission defines the purpose and specialized focus of the school to its stakeholders and the
public.

The mission speaks to the value of the school, based on its own merit, and communicates the
applicant group’s core beliefs and values about education.

The mission indicates the key design elements proposed to achieve outcomes.

The mission is consistent with high academic standards and student success.

The mission is succinct and comprehensible.

The mission is reflected throughout all sections of the application.

\

DN NI NN

Additional criterion for Horace Mann Il (conversion) applicants:
The application indicates whether the proposed mission is different from the existing school’s
mission and how it differs.

<

KEY DESIGN ELEMENTS

The application must contain a clear description of the key design elements of the proposed school that
make the school unique and distinct from other public school options, and provide readers with an
image of the future the applicant group wishes to create. The key design elements must align with the
mission and be reflected throughout the application. This section of the application should further
articulate what the school will achieve for the school community—students, parents, teachers, board
members, and beyond.

When describing the key design elements, the application should address the following criteria:

v’ The application briefly describes the educational philosophy of the applicant group and their
core beliefs and values about education which aligns with the school’s mission and key design
elements.

v’ The application describes the key design elements of the proposed school, such as length of
school year and day, and aspects of school design, that make the school unigue and distinct
from other public school options. The key design elements align with the mission statement,
and are reflected throughout all sections of the application.

v The application describes the key academic and nonacademic goals for students that are
consistent with the stated mission, key design elements of the academic program, and
educational philosophy of the school. Goals should be specific; measurable; action oriented,;
rigorous, realistic, and results focused objectives that are time-bound and tracked.

v The application describes how this school will enhance or expand the educational options
available to the targeted student population, including whether the innovative methods to be
used by the proposed school differ from the district or districts from which the charter school is
expected to enroll students.
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v The application illustrates a compelling image of the school’s future and what the school will
look like in five years if it is achieving its mission. Explicitly reference key pieces of evidence
to demonstrate how the school’s success will be measured, including the ways in which the
school will positively impact all stakeholders in the school.

C. DESCRIPTION OF THE COMMUNITY(IES) TO BE SERVED

State law asserts that charter schools are to be established to 1) stimulate the development of innovative
programs within public education; 2) provide opportunities for innovative learning and assessments; 3)
provide parents and students with greater options in choosing schools within and outside of their school
districts; 4) provide teachers with a vehicle for establishing schools with alternative, innovative
methods of educational instruction, and school structure and management; 5) encourage performance-
based educational programs; 6) hold teachers and school administrators accountable for students’
educational outcomes; and 7) provide models for replication in other public schools.

The prospectus should describe the community(ies) to be served by the school and how the school will
offer educational opportunity to students, including the needs of students and their families. These are
essential factors that inform the design of a successful charter school, ultimately driving support for and
enrollment in the school. Data on district performance on the MCAS is available on the Department of
Elementary and Secondary Education’s (Department) website and does not need to be reiterated here.

When describing the community(ies) the school plans to serve, the application should address the
following criteria:

v The application describes the student population that the proposed charter school would serve
and the needs of that population.

v The application discusses the reason for the selection of the community(ies) and the applicant’s
ability to serve this particular area and current connections to the community.

v The application describes how the educational option provided by the charter school will
address the needs of the student population, including the proposed mission, curriculum,
instruction, and services.

v" The application describes how the applicant group has assessed parental support within the
proposed sending district(s)/region for the proposed school.

v In the case of a Horace Mann charter school, the application provides a description of how
the founding group has assessed parental, district, teacher, and other staff support within the
proposed sending district for the proposed school.

v The application describes supporting evidence for the projected student enrollment at the
proposed Commonwealth charter school, such as an analysis of eligible potential students in
the community(ies) to be served, analysis of documented demand from families with eligible
potential students, and/or an analysis of enroliment at schools currently operating in the
community(ies) to be served. Applicants should not submit copies of petitions or interest forms
in the charter application.

v’ The application describes how the school will publicize and market its program to a broad
cross-section of prospective students throughout the district(s) that the school plans to serve,
including families that may be less informed about options. The application discusses specific
strategies of how the proposed school will ensure adequate enrollment and full access to the
school and its proposed educational program for all eligible students.

v The application describes the school’s plan to provide families and community members
opportunities to support the success of the school.

v’ The application explains why a Commonwealth or Horace Mann charter is necessary in
order for this school to exist or succeed.

v' The application discusses specific ways in which the Commonwealth charter school will
collaborate with school districts from which it draws students to provide educational models;
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including programs, curriculum, and teaching methods that can be replicated by other public
schools.

v The application discusses specific ways in which the Horace Mann charter school will
collaborate with schools within the district to provide educational models; including programs,
curriculum, and teaching methods that can be replicated by other public schools.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann 11 (conversion) applicants:

v The application summarizes the School Improvement Plan currently in use including: data
used, problem(s) identified, implementation status, and description of what has worked,
what has not worked, and why. School Improvement Plan is submitted with prospectus.

v The application describes what the applicant group perceives as roadblocks to the
successful implementation or inadequacies of the current School Improvement Plan.

v" The application provides an analysis of the external and internal factors, strengths, and/or
needs that moved the applicant group to propose a Horace Mann charter school.

v The application explains how this information has informed what the applicant group is
proposing and how becoming a Horace Mann charter school will lead to greater academic
success for students.

2015-2016 Application for a Massachusetts Charter Public School: New Operators Page 26
PRI/Award # U282A160013

Page e204



Il. HOwW WILL THE SCHOOL DEMONSTRATE ACADEMIC SUCCESS?

A. OVERVIEW OF PROGRAM DELIVERY

All Massachusetts charter schools are expected to deliver academic programs that provide improved
academic outcomes and educational success for all students. The proposed educational program should
address the diverse needs of the student population and should be founded on an understanding of
effective, research-based educational practices and high standards for student learning. The proposed
school should incorporate a pedagogical approach, curriculum, assessment, culture, and other elements,
based on the applicant group’s educational philosophy, that create a comprehensive educational
program. The overview of program delivery describes how the educational program will be delivered,
and provides evidence that the proposed educational program and its associated educational practices
may result in high academic achievement and the attainment of the knowledge, skills, and experiences
that ensures college and career readiness for the anticipated student population.

When describing the school’s program delivery, the application should address the following criteria:

v The application demonstrates that the proposed educational program will serve the diverse
needs of individual students by providing evidence, including explicit research citations, that
demonstrates their educational program and its associated educational practices may result in
high academic achievement and the attainment of the knowledge, skills, and experiences that
ensures college and career readiness for the anticipated student population. Evidence should
include the specific subgroups of students listed in the recruitment and retention plan consistent
with requirements of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, such as students with disabilities, English language
learners, and students participating in the federal free/reduced lunch nutrition program.

v The application describes the school calendar including the number of days school will be in
session; and the daily hours of operation, including the length of the school day with start and
dismissal times. Please be specific in describing these items and pay attention to the state
requirements on minimum number of school days and instructional hours as described in 603
CMR 27.00, which is available online at http://www.doe.mass.edu/lawsregs/603cmr27.html. If
the school would not meet the minimum number of school days and instructional hours based
on the program proposed, provide justification for a waiver of the requirement. All public
schools may request from the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education a waiver of
student learning time for good cause to support innovative programs or schedules to improve
student learning.

v The application provides a description of the mechanics of the educational program in terms of
the daily or weekly organization of students and faculty (e.g., multi-grade, tracking, team-
teaching, etc.) to explain the sample schedule.

v" The application indicates if mandatory or optional programming will be offered to students
during summer months, and the goals of such programming if offered.

v The application describes the extra or co-curricular activities or programming that the school
will offer, how often they will occur, and the goals of such programming if offered.

v In the case of a Horace Mann charter school, the application describes the proposed school’s
ability, if any, to access programs offered by the district, including arts or sports programs.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann Il (conversion) applicants:
v The application indicates whether the proposed educational program delivery is different from
the existing school’s educational program delivery and how it differs.
v The application describes any proposed changes in expectations for staff related to program
delivery, such as length of school year and day.
v The application describes the process the applicant group and proposed board of trustees will
use to make these changes and support successful implementation.
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B. CURRICULUM AND INSTRUCTION

Charter schools have the freedom to choose and/or develop curriculum models that best reflect the
mission and educational philosophy of the school and that best serve the needs of the expected student
population. Regardless of whether the curriculum is purchased or internally developed, it is important
that it aligns with the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks (MCF) since the state assessment test is
based on the learning standards outlined in the MCF. Additional information about the MCF can be
found at http://www.doe.mass.edu/frameworks/. Charter schools also have the freedom to determine
the instructional methods that will be used to deliver the chosen curriculum maodel(s).

When describing the school’s curriculum and instruction, the application should address the following
criteria:

v" If intending to use developed curriculum, the application identifies the

curriculum, explains the process utilized to identify the curriculum that will

be used by the school, and provide reasons why the curriculum was chosen.

Also indicate which individual(s) in the school’s organizational chart will be

responsible for identifying and selecting curriculum.

The application describes the process that is used to ensure alignment of the

curriculum to the MCF and identifies the individual(s) who will be

responsible for curriculum alignment to the MCF.

v" If modifications to the curriculum will be required, the application explains
the process utilized to identify areas for revision and to make adjustments.
Indicate the individual(s) that will be responsible for the process.

Use of
Commercial v
Curriculum

v" If intending to develop curriculum, the application explains the process that
will be used by the school to develop curriculum. Identify which
individual(s) on the school’s organizational chart will be responsible for
developing curriculum and who will participate in the process.

The application describes the process that is used to ensure alignment of the
curriculum to the MCF and identify the individual(s) on the school’s
organizational chart who will be responsible for curriculum alignment to the
MCEF.

New
Curriculum v
Required

v" The application contains the curriculum scope and sequence that will be used by the school,
including the content and skills to be taught in the core content areas at each grade level.® Four
grade levels should be included in the text of the application. All additional grade levels must be
included in the attachments, but will not be counted toward the page limit. For proposed schools
that plan to have fewer than four grade levels, please include all of the intended grades in the
application narrative. The curriculum scope and sequence should be clearly aligned with MCF as
well as aligned across the grades proposed for implementation.

v The application describes the processes for the ongoing development, improvement, and
refinement of the curriculum. The description should include incorporation of the curricular
structures that will be used by the school, e.g. scope and sequence, unit and lesson plans, etc.

¥ Content is what students should know; skills are what students should be able to do; and the core content areas
include English, reading/language arts, mathematics, science, foreign languages, civics and government, economics,
arts, history, and geography.
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Identify which individual(s) on the school’s organizational chart will be responsible for, and
participate in the development, improvement, and refinement of the curriculum.

v The application describes the process and procedures that will be used to evaluate whether the
curriculum is effective and successfully implemented. Identify which individual(s) on the school’s
organizational chart will be responsible for curriculum evaluation.

v" The application describes the learning environment(s) that will be used to deliver the proposed
curriculum model, including the use of technology, and class size and structure.

v" The application describes the pedagogy or instructional methods that will be used to deliver the
curriculum model(s).

v The application contains a detailed plan for a responsive general education classroom that would
support the needs of all students. The plan should include how the proposed curriculum and
instructional methods will support high standards of achievement for students with a wide range of
needs, and be accessible and appropriate for all students at all levels, including students with
diverse learning styles; English language learners; students with disabilities; students who enter
below grade level, or students identified as at risk; and advanced students who perform
significantly above grade level. The plan should also describe the strategies the school will
implement to ensure academic success for all students, including students struggling to meet
performance standards.

v The application demonstrates that the proposed curriculum and instruction will serve the diverse
needs of individual students by providing evidence or relevant experience, including explicit
research citations, that demonstrates the proposed curriculum and instruction may result in high
academic achievement and the attainment of the knowledge, skills, and experiences that ensures
college and career readiness for the anticipated student population. Evidence should include the
specific subgroups of students listed in the recruitment and retention plan consistent with
requirements of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, such as students with disabilities, English language learners,
and students participating in the federal free/reduced lunch nutrition program.

v The application describes the proposed structures for regular, frequent collaboration and
professional development to improve implementation of the curriculum and instructional practice.
Include a description of how the school plans to train and support teachers to address the unique
needs of all students, including students with disabilities and English language learners.

v" The application describes how the school will determine the professional development needs of the
staff, including administrators and teachers, on an on-going basis and how these opportunities will
be delivered during and outside of the scheduled school year.

v The application explains the process and frequency of teacher performance evaluations, including
the key elements of the evaluation and who will conduct the evaluations. For more information
about educator evaluation in Massachusetts see: http://www.doe.mass.edu/edeval/.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann 11 (conversion) applicants:

v" The application indicates whether the proposed curriculum and instruction is different from the
existing school’s curriculum and instruction and how it differs.

v The application describes the process the applicant group and proposed board of trustees will use to
make these changes and support successful implementation.

C. STUDENT PERFORMANCE, ASSESSMENT, AND PROGRAM EVALUATION

Charter schools must ensure that students will meet the same performance standards and assessment
requirements set by the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education for students in other public
schools. Performance, promotion, and graduation standards should be based on high expectations that
are aligned with the school’s mission, educational program, assessment system, and the MCF. An
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integrated assessment system, which includes the MCAS/PARCC test,* serves as a structure for how
teachers and administrators will measure what students know and are able to do as a result of the
delivery of curriculum and instruction.

Information from assessments serves to help determine what areas of instruction need additional time,
the needs of individual students, the quality of instruction, decisions on improvement strategies, and the
school’s overall progress in meeting Accountability Plan goals. Ultimately, the assessment system
provides information to all stakeholders on whether the school is an academic success. The proposed
system should reflect how the school would link curriculum and instruction to assessment by
measuring the academic progress of individual students, cohorts of students over time, and the school
as a whole, with the goal of continual school improvement.

When describing student performance, assessment, and program evaluation, the application should
address the following criteria:

v The application describes the proposed school’s policies and standards for promoting students
to the next grade, achievement level, or grouping level in alignment with the educational
program.

v" The application describes the graduation requirements or “exit standards” for the school’s
grade groupings as applicable (e.g., elementary, middle, high school, or primary, upper
elementary, etc.). These exit standards should be aligned with the school’s mission and provide
a clear sense of expected student achievement at the end of the last grade of each school level
and/or upon graduation. If the proposed educational program includes a high school, explain
how your graduation requirements will ensure student readiness for college and career
opportunities.

v The application describes a thorough, clear, measurable, externally credible, and conceptually
sound design for measuring and reporting the performance and progress of the school as a
whole, student cohorts over time, and the academic and social development of each student to
all relevant stakeholders. Selected assessments are both research based and consistent with the
school’s mission, broad academic and nonacademic student goals, educational program, and
high expectations of students. Descriptions should include, but are not limited to, the following
information:

0 The types of internal/school-developed assessments that will be administered to measure
and report student progress. Explain why these particular assessments were selected for
the targeted student population and how the data will be used to support the goal of
student learning and outcomes.

o0 Describe the school’s philosophy and plans for student homework.

o A meaningful and practical approach for measuring and supporting student progress
toward attaining non-academic goals in alignment with the proposed school’s mission and
vision as well as students’ needs.

o Evidence of multiple measures of student performance outcomes that may include reports
of absolute scores, within-year student gains/losses, and year-to-year student gains/losses.

0 A plan to use student data, including MCAS/PARCC performance, to facilitate decision-
making about necessary adjustments to the educational program and the staff development
plan that will support the goal of improved student learning and outcomes.

o Indicate if any additional standardized assessment tools will be used to determine and
report student progress. If so, explain why those tools were selected for the targeted
population and how the data will be used.

* The Board of Elementary and Secondary Education will decide in fall 2015 whether to adopt PARCC and transition
away from MCAS English language arts and math tests.
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o Indicate the roles of school leadership and faculty in the collection, analysis, and use of
student data, and the individual responsible for oversight of the system.

o Indicate the system for reporting the performance and progress of the school, grades,
individual classes, and students, including the frequency of the different forms of
assessment, the types of stakeholders who will receive assessment information, and the
types of metrics reported.

v" The application describes the processes that will ensure the assessment system is linked to
curriculum and instruction, and is used to facilitate timely adjustments that will support the
goal of improved student learning and outcomes.

v The application describes how each of the following stakeholder groups will participate in the
review and response to student achievement data:

0 The school’s board of trustees

School administrators

Teachers

Students

Parents

©o0oo0o

Additional criterion for Horace Mann Il (conversion) applicants:

v The application indicates whether the proposed standards for student performance, promotion,
and graduation and the proposed assessment system is different from the existing school’s
standards and assessment system and how it differs.

v The application describes the process the applicant group and proposed board of trustees will
use to make these changes and support successful implementation.

D. SUPPORTS FOR DIVERSE LEARNERS

All charter schools in Massachusetts are public schools that enroll students through a lottery process.
Therefore, all charter schools must be prepared to enroll students with diverse learning needs including
English language learners and students with disabilities, all of whom must be provided with full and
meaningful access to the general educational curriculum.

The general education classroom needs to be responsive to the educational needs of all children, and
accommodates their needs. A full continuum of services must be available within the school so that all
students can receive needed services in an appropriate setting and participate fully in the educational
goals and mission of the school. This section of the application should describe the school’s programs
and services, and how they will be implemented within the context of your proposed school.

For information on special education, please see the Massachusetts Primer on Special Education and
Charter Schools and related documents found at http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/sped/default.html.
For information on special education laws and regulations see
http://www.doe.mass.edu/sped/laws.html. Please review the required elements of the special education
policies and procedures found at http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/new/. Special education policies and
procedures are submitted to the Department during opening procedures of the proposed charter school.
Consider the required elements when crafting your response to the application criteria related to the
processes and procedures used to identify, assess, and serve students with disabilities.

For information on the laws and regulations relating to English language learners, see
http://www.doe.mass.edu/lawsregs/603cmrl4.html. For guidance on English language learners, please
see the Department’s website at http://www.doe.mass.edu/ell/guidance_laws.html. Please review the
required elements of the English language education policies and procedures found at
http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/new/. English language education policies and procedures are
submitted to the Department during opening procedures of the proposed charter school. Consider the
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required elements when crafting your response to the application criteria related to the processes and
procedures used to identify, assess, and serve English language learners.

When describing the school’s plan for special student populations and student services, the application
should address the following criteria:

v The application describes the processes and procedures that the proposed school will employ to
identify, assess, and serve students who are English language learners. In the case of a
Horace Mann charter school, indicate what role, if any, the district will have in the
assessment and delivery of services. Descriptions will be considered incomplete if they do not
include:

= adescription of the English language development program and support
services to be offered including the curriculum and strategies that will be used;

= how student identification and assessment will be conducted;

= the settings in which required services will be implemented;

= how services will be delivered within the school’s daily schedule;

= the plan to support core academic teachers in obtaining SEI endorsement;

= the titles, salaries, and qualifications of the individuals delivering the services;
and

= how the program will be evaluated.

v The application describes the processes and procedures that the proposed school will employ to
identify, assess, and provide specialized instruction to each student in need of special
education services. In the case of a Horace Mann charter school, indicate what role, if any,
the district will have in the assessment and delivery of services. Descriptions will be
considered incomplete if they do not include:

= adescription of support services to be offered and some of the methods that
will be used to provide a continuum of services;

= how student identification and assessment will be conducted,

= the development of individualized education programs;

= the settings in which required services will be delivered;

= how services for students in need of special education services will be
delivered within the school’s daily schedule;

= the qualifications of individuals who will be recruited to deliver services;

= the titles, salaries, and qualifications of each position proposed; and

= how the program will be evaluated.

v In the case of a Horace Mann charter school, the application indicates clearly the
expectations surrounding district involvement in the provision of services for students with
disabilities and English language learners.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann Il (conversion) applicants:

v" The application indicates whether the proposed plans for special education programming and
English language development programming is different from the existing school’s programs
and how it differs.

v' The application provides an analysis of the existing school’s current efforts serving students
receiving special education services and English language learners and how the proposed
programming addresses identified areas for improvement.

v The application describes the process the applicant group and proposed board of trustees will
use to make these changes and support successful implementation.
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E. CULTURE AND FAMILY ENGAGEMENT

Massachusetts charter schools support students’ social and emotional health in safe and respectful
learning environments that engages families. The application must describe how the proposed school
will create a safe school environment and address the physical, social, emotional, and health needs of
its anticipated student population. The application must also describe how the proposed school will
develop strong working relationships with families/guardians in order to support students’ academic
progress and social and emotional well-being.

When describing the school’s plan for school culture and parent engagement, the application should
address the following criteria:

v

The application describes the culture of the school, and a clear plan for establishing a school
culture and norms consistent with the school’s mission, educational philosophy, and
educational program from the first day of the school’s operation. The plan should include
specific strategies the school will implement to develop and maintain a safe school
environment conducive to learning and consistent with the school’s mission and educational
philosophy. Describe how school culture and climate will be fostered for and by school
leadership, teachers, students, and parents.

The application describes the school’s programs or strategies to address the physical, social,
emotional, and health needs of the anticipated student population.

The application describes the school’s philosophy and plans regarding student behavior and
discipline for the general student population and students with special needs. Student discipline
should be consistent with requirements and the school’s mission and educational philosophy.
The application describes how the school plans to involve parents/guardians as partners in the
education of their children and to build and maintain family-school partnerships that support
students’ academic progress and social-emotional well-being. Describe any commitments or
volunteer activities the school will offer to parents.

The application describes the relationships the applicant group has established or intends to
establish with community agencies and organizations that will support the school’s educational
program and serve the youth who attend the school. Explain the nature of the proposed
partnership/relationship(s) and how it will support the school’s mission and vision.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann Il (conversion) applicants:

The application indicates whether the proposed school characteristics and culture are different
from the existing school’s school characteristics and culture and how it differs.

The application describes any proposed changes in expectations for staff related to
implementation of school culture or parent engagement.

The application describes the process the applicant group and proposed board of trustees will
use to make these changes and support successful implementation.
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I11. HOW WILL THE SCHOOL DEMONSTRATE ORGANIZATIONAL VIABILITY?

A. CAPACITY

A public school charter is granted to a board of trustees. Members of the board of trustees are public
agents authorized by the state and are responsible for governing charter schools. In general, it is
important that these individuals possess a wide variety of skills and qualifications that will enable them
to found and sustain an excellent school. Members of a founding group may be proposed for the
school’s board of trustees or may assume other roles in the school. Each founding group should be able
to clearly define who is proposed to be a member of the board of trustees and what other roles will be
assumed. The proposed board of trustees must be of a number sufficient to provide effective oversight
of the school and to participate in the considerable amount of work required to open a charter school.

When describing the capacity of the founding group and/or proposed board of trustees the application

should address the following criteria:

v The application describes how the applicant group came together to form this proposed school
and why the group is united to establish the proposed charter school.

v The application explains how often the group meets, how the planning and writing process is
completed, and identifies the primary author of the application.

v" The application summarizes briefly within the text of the document each founder’s and/or
proposed board member’s experience and qualifications. The experience and qualifications
should demonstrate that the founders and/or proposed board members:

0 have the experience and qualifications necessary to implement the proposal;
demonstrate the capacity to found and sustain an excellent charter school;

can manage public funds effectively and responsibly;

include members who possess skills and experience in areas such as education,

management, finance, development, and law; and

0 have tangible ties to, and broad and diverse representation from the communities the
school will serve.

v The application explains how the proposed board of trustees is reflective of or consistent with
the school’s mission and program.

v Each member of the applicant must submit a resume as an attachment to the application. The
application must indicate if a founder is a proposed board member, proposed school leader, or
other school employee. Resumes should indicate the founder’s prior experience as it relates to
the charter application. Additionally, proposed board members and proposed school employees
must complete individual questionnaires to further establish their understanding of their roles
and responsibilities.

© oo

B. GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

As entities of the state, public charter schools must meet a number of legal requirements set forth by
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Many of these requirements are outlined in the Charter School
Administrative and Governance Guide: An Overview of the Laws and Regulations that Boards of
Trustees and School Leaders Need to Know, this document can be found online at
http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/governance/adminguide.doc. The guide begins by explaining that a
strong board of trustees defines the mission of the school, develops school policies and changes them
when appropriate, hires qualified personnel to manage the school’s day-to-day operations and holds
them accountable for meeting established goals, and formulates a long-range plan and charter school
accountability plan that will ensure the school’s continued stability. In addition to its many other
responsibilities, the board must ensure that the school is complying with all of the state and federal
laws that apply to the school and that the board itself is operating in accordance with the rules set out

2015-2016 Application for a Massachusetts Charter Public School: New Operators Page 34
PRI/Award # U282A160013

Page e212



by all applicable Massachusetts laws and regulations. Finally, the board is responsible for operating the
school in accordance with its charter and with any approved amendments to its charter.

A school’s ability to carry out its purpose and objectives is largely determined by the governance
structure of the school and by developing an effective board of trustees.

(1) Governance and Management Structure

v

v

The application explains the proposed reporting structure and relationship between the board of
trustees and the individual(s) reporting directly to the board regarding the governance and
management of the proposed charter school.

The application includes an organizational chart that encompasses employees of the school and
the board of trustees. The application briefly explains the reporting structure and relationship
between the school’s leader and administration regarding teachers, specialists, and other staff
members.

The application indicates if there are any ex-officio members of the board of trustees, denoting
seats that are earmarked based on a person’s position or status, such as school principal,
teacher, parent, or student representative, and explains the rationale for the proposed
governance model as applicable.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann Il (conversion) applicants:

The application describes how the applicant group and potential board of trustees will ensure
the successful transition to the new governance structure required for a Horace Mann charter
school.

(2) Roles and Responsibilities

v

The application describes the roles and responsibilities of the board of trustees. The application
clearly articulates the role distinctions amongst the board, the school district (in the case of
Horace Mann charter schools), and the school administration as they relate to curriculum,
personnel decisions, budget allocation, and vendor selection.

The application provides examples of the proposed board’s future actions in governing the
proposed school that accurately reflect an understanding of the roles and responsibilities of the
board of trustees, consistent with public accountability, such as open meeting law, state ethics
law, and charter school law.

If the applicant group includes the proposed school leader (or any other position at the school),
the application describes the process and criteria used to determine that the individual is the
best candidate for the position. Identify the skills and experience of the selected individual(s)
and describe how their professional background supports their capacity to be successful in
founding a high quality charter school and achieving the school’s mission as the school leader
or a member of the leadership team. If the proposed school leader has never led a school,
describe any training programs that she/he has completed or is currently participating in.

If the applicant group does not include the proposed school leader, the application describes the
desired skills and experience of the ideal individual and the plans for the recruitment and
selection of the school leader.

The application briefly describes processes related to the board’s oversight of the school,
including setting priorities and goals; monitoring progress towards priorities and goals;
supporting, monitoring, and evaluating the school leader(s); developing the annual budget;
monitoring the school’s finances; and conducting long-term financial and strategic planning.
The application describes the annual process the board uses to evaluate its own performance,
and describe the steps taken to guide its development as an effective governing board.

The application describes the plan for how the school will make key organizational decisions
about curriculum and instruction, student achievement, professional development, culture,
staffing, fiscal planning, and operations.
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v

If the founding group intends to enter into a contract with another entity to provide
substantially all the school’s educational or management services, such as an educational
management organization (EMO), (whether or not the entity meets the requirements of Proven
Provider), the applicant should:

0 Identify the entity and describe how and why the entity was selected, including its
relevance to the proposed school’s mission and key design elements.

0 Include a summary of the entity’s history, a description of how it implements its
program, past results (including student academic achievement and financial status) of
its school management efforts, and its educational philosophy. There should be
evidence that the entity has demonstrated positive academic results and responsible
fiscal management.

o Define the school’s board of trustees’ relationship with the entity and how the board of
trustees will provide effective oversight to the entity.

If you are submitting the prospectus with a college, university, museum, educational
institution, another not-for-profit entity, or any other partner, please provide the information
below:

0 Identify the partner organization.

0 Indicate the name of the contact person at the partner organization with the mailing
address, phone number, facsimile number, and email address.

0 Describe the nature and purpose of the school’s partnerships with the organization.

0 Briefly explain how the relationship enhances, complements, and/or supports the
mission and educational philosophy of the proposed charter school.

0 Explain if the partner organization will be involved in the governance of the school.

(3) Board Sustainability

v
v

The application describes the recruitment, and selection processes for new board members.
The application describes specific plans for the recruitment of additional board members with
the skills and expertise that will ensure the sustainability of the proposed charter school, and
the targeted qualifications sought in additional board members, if applicable.

C. SCHOOL FINANCES

Having the capability to manage school finances is essential for accountability and organizational
viability. Comprehensive financial planning is an indispensable tool for successful charter school
planning, program implementation, and the monitoring and evaluation of resource allocations. In this
section, we ask applicants to complete a draft five year operating budget; and provide a descriptive
budget narrative. The school finances narrative and budget should demonstrate knowledge of the
practical matters relevant to the operation of a school. The applicant group does not submit a cash
flow projection of its first year of operation at the prospectus stage.

4

v

The application explains how the budget was developed and the process used by the applicant
group to ensure the accuracy and realistic nature of their final projections.

Applicants must submit a multi-year budget from the school’s start-up phase through its fifth
year of operation. Download the electronic budget template, including instructions, from
http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/new/?section=app.

The application summarizes financial forecasts from the school’s start-up phase through its
fifth year of operation. Financial forecasts must include total expected realistic sources of
revenue—including tuition and other grants (federal, state, and private), and fundraising—as
well as all expenditures, the timeframe for a positive cash balance, and the anticipated growth
of the school. Define and give support for the assumptions behind projections.
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v The budget needs to be realistic and reflect the expenses related to all commitments proposed
in the application, through the proposed school’s fifth year of operation, including the
school’s educational program, expected student population of students with disabilities and
English language learners, human resources needs, and the acquiring and repayment of
potential debt.

v The budget narrative should discuss and explain the projected revenue and expense amounts
in the budget, including generalized descriptions of administrative and instructional staff and
other operating expenses. Provide clear and detailed explanations for each of the five years of
the draft budget. Define and give support for the assumptions behind projections.

v The application explains how the school will ensure it has sufficient funds to cover all
anticipated expenses, including but not limited to start-up costs, and school operation.

v The application describes whether the applicant group expects the school to raise additional
funds and why. The application briefly describes any planned fundraising efforts and who will
lead and coordinate these efforts. The application briefly describes any financing, short-term
or long-term, that the school anticipates securing during the period covered by this budget,
including the planning and first year implementation period.
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IV. REQUIRED ATTACHMENTS - PROSPECTUS

The following attachments are required and should be sequentially numbered and clearly referred to in
the text. Attachments do not count toward the 55-page prospectus text limit.

A. APPLICANT GROUP MEMBERS

Individual questionnaires and resumes from each applicant group member, indicating if a member is a
proposed board member, proposed school leader, or proposed for any other position(s). Resumes
indicates the individual’s prior experience as it relates to the charter application.

B. CURRICULUM

Description of the curriculum scope and sequence for grade levels beyond those required in the text of
the application, including the content and skills to be taught in the core content areas.

C. DRAFT ORGANIZATIONAL CHART
D. DRAFT OPERATING BUDGET: PROJECTED REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
E. PROVEN PROVIDER REQUEST (IF APPLICABLE)

F. CURRENT SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (IF HORACE MANN Il - CONVERSION)
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COMMONWEALTH AND HORACE MANN

CHARTER FINAL APPLICATION OUTLINE
FOR NEW OPERATORS

A final application is limited to 75 pages of text and 40 pages of specifically required and optional
attachments

O Cover Page

O Table of Contents

O Applicant Information Sheet
O Certification Statement
O

General Statement of Assurances — Application for a Massachusetts Commonwealth Public Charter
School

O

Statement of Assurances — Federal Charter School Program Grant
O Executive Summary — no more than three pages

O 1. How will the school demonstrate faithfulness to charter?
O A. Mission
O B. Key Design Elements
O C. Description of the Community(ies) to be Served
O D. Enrollment and Recruitment

O 1. How will the school demonstrate academic success?
O A. Overview of Program Delivery
O B. Curriculum and Instruction
O C. Student Performance, Assessment, and Program Evaluation
O D. Supports for Diverse Learners
O E. Culture and Family Engagement

O 11. How will the school demonstrate organizational viability?
O A. Capacity
O B. Governance
O C. Management
O D. Facilities and Student Transportation
O E. School Finances
F. Action Plan

O

O V. Required Attachments counted toward 40 page maximum:

Draft Bylaws (use Bylaws Checklist).

Draft Recruitment and Retention Plan (use Recruitment and Retention Plan Template).
Draft Enrollment Policy and Admission Application (use Enrollment Policy Checklist).
Draft School Calendar.

Draft Organizational Charts — first year of operation and at full student enrollment.

oooono
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O Operating Budget: Projected Revenues and Expenditures; and Cash Flow Projection. (use
electronic budget template, available on the Department website at
http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/new/?section=app.)

O V. Required Attachments not counted toward 40 page maximum:

O Individual resumes from each applicant group member, indicating if an individual is a
proposed board member, proposed school leader, or proposed for any other position(s).

O Individual completed questionnaires of each applicant group member. There are two
different versions of the questionnaire: one for proposed board members, and one for
proposed school employees and/or founding group members who are playing an advisory
role.

O Description of curriculum scope and sequence for grade levels beyond those required in
the text of the application, including the content and skills to be taught in the core content
areas.

O Draft management or EMO contract, for Proven Provider and non-Proven Provider

applicants (if applicable).
School Improvement Plan for Horace Mann Il (conversion) schools only.
Memoranda of Understanding (if applicable).

oo

Optional:

The choice of non-required attachments is determined by the applicant group, although attachments
should only be used to provide additional evidence, support a particular aspect of the application, or
lend insight into the applicant group.
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COMMONWEALTH AND HORACE MANN CHARTER FINAL APPLICATION

I. HOW WILL THE SCHOOL DEMONSTRATE FAITHFULNESS TO CHARTER?

A. MISSION

The mission communicates the essence of the proposed charter school and defines the core purpose and
key values of the school to its stakeholders and the public. It should be succinct, meaningful, and
consistent with high academic standards. A school’s mission provides the foundation for the entire
charter application and for the five year term of the school’s charter. The mission should be reflected
throughout all sections of the final application.

Provide the proposed mission. The mission and application should address the following criteria:
The mission defines the purpose and specialized focus of the school to its stakeholders and the
public.

The mission speaks to the value of the school, based on its own merit, and communicates the
applicant group’s core beliefs and values about education.

The mission indicates the key design elements proposed to achieve outcomes.

The mission is consistent with high academic standards and student success.

The mission is succinct and comprehensible.

The mission is reflected throughout all sections of the application.

<
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Additional criterion for Horace Mann Il (conversion) applicants:
The application indicates whether the proposed mission is different from the existing school’s
mission and how it differs.

AN

B. KEY DESIGN ELEMENTS

The application must contain a clear description of the key design elements of the proposed school that
make the school unique and distinct from other public school options, and provide readers with an
image of the future the applicant group wishes to create. The key design elements must align with the
mission and be reflected throughout the application. This section of the application should further
articulate what the school will achieve for the school community—students, parents, teachers, board
members, and beyond.

When describing the key design elements, the application should address the following criteria:

v' The application briefly describes the educational philosophy of the applicant group and their
core beliefs and values about education which aligns with the school’s mission and key design
elements.

v' The application describes the key design elements of the proposed school, such as length of
school year and day, and aspects of school design, that make the school unique and distinct
from other public school options. The key design elements align with the mission statement,
and are reflected throughout all sections of the application.

v" The application describes the key academic and nonacademic goals for students that are
consistent with the stated mission, key design elements of the academic program, and
educational philosophy of the school. Goals should be specific; measurable; action oriented,;
rigorous, realistic, and results focused objectives that are time-bound and tracked.

v The application describes how this school will enhance or expand the educational options
available to the targeted student population, including whether the innovative methods to be
used by the proposed school differ from the district or districts from which the charter school is
expected to enroll students.
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v The application illustrates a compelling image of the school’s future and what the school will
look like in five years if it is achieving its mission. Explicitly reference key pieces of evidence
to demonstrate how the school’s success will be measured, including the ways in which the
school will positively impact all stakeholders in the school.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann 11 (conversion) applicants:
v The application describes the process the applicant group and proposed board of trustees will use to
make these changes and support successful implementation.

C. DESCRIPTION OF THE COMMUNITY(IES) TO BE SERVED

State law asserts that charter schools are to be established to 1) stimulate the development of innovative
programs within public education; 2) provide opportunities for innovative learning and assessments; 3)
provide parents and students with greater options in choosing schools within and outside of their school
districts; 4) provide teachers with a vehicle for establishing schools with alternative, innovative
methods of educational instruction, and school structure and management; 5) encourage performance-
based educational programs; 6) hold teachers and school administrators accountable for students’
educational outcomes; and 7) provide models for replication in other public schools.

The final application should describe the community(ies) to be served by the school and how the school
will offer educational opportunity to students, including the needs of students and their families. These
are essential factors that inform the design of a successful charter school, ultimately driving support for
and enrollment in the school. Data on district performance on the MCAS is available on the
Department of Elementary and Secondary Education’s (Department) website and does not need to be
reiterated here.

When describing the community(ies) the school plans to serve, the application should address the
following criteria:

v The application describes the student population that the proposed charter school would serve
and the needs of that population.

v The application discusses the reason for the selection of the community(ies) and the applicant’s
ability to serve this particular area and current connections to the community.

v The application describes how the educational option provided by the charter school will
address the needs of the student population, including the proposed mission, curriculum,
instruction, and services.

v The application describes how the applicant group has assessed parental support within the
proposed sending district(s)/region for the proposed school.

v In the case of a Horace Mann charter school, the application provides a description of how
the founding group has assessed parental, district, teacher, and other staff support within the
proposed sending district for the proposed school.

v The application describes supporting evidence for the projected student enrollment at the
proposed Commonwealth charter school, such as an analysis of eligible potential students in
the community(ies) to be served, analysis of documented demand from families with eligible
potential students, and/or an analysis of enroliment at schools currently operating in the
community(ies) to be served. Applicants should not submit copies of petitions or interest forms
in the charter application.

v The application describes how the school will publicize and market its program to a broad
cross-section of prospective students throughout the district(s) that the school plans to serve,
including families that may be less informed about options. The application discusses specific
strategies of how the proposed school will ensure adequate enrollment and full access to the
school and its proposed educational program for all eligible students.
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v The application describes the school’s plan to provide families and community members
opportunities to support the success of the school.

v The application explains why a Commonwealth or Horace Mann charter is necessary in
order for this school to exist or succeed.

v The application discusses specific ways in which the Commonwealth charter school will
collaborate with school districts from which it draws students to provide educational models,
including programs, curriculum, and teaching methods that can be replicated by other public
schools.

v The application discusses specific ways in which the Horace Mann charter school will
collaborate with schools within the district to provide educational models; including programs,
curriculum, and teaching methods that can be replicated by other public schools.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann 11 (conversion) applicants:

v" The application summarizes the School Improvement Plan currently in use including: data
used, problem(s) identified, implementation status, and description of what has worked, what
has not worked, and why. School Improvement Plan is submitted with the application.

v The application describes what the applicant group perceives as roadblocks to the successful
implementation or inadequacies of the current School Improvement Plan.

v The application provides an analysis of the external and internal factors, strengths, and/or
needs that moved the applicant group to propose a Horace Mann charter school.

v’ The application explains how this information has informed what the applicant group is
proposing and how becoming a Horace Mann charter school will lead to greater academic
success for students.

D. ENROLLMENT AND RECRUITMENT

Charter schools are public schools and are therefore open to all students. This means that a charter
school may not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, creed, sex, gender identity,
ethnicity, sexual orientation, mental or physical disability, ancestry, athletic performance, special need,
proficiency in the English language or in a foreign language, or prior academic achievement when
recruiting or admitting students. Moreover, a charter school may not set admissions criteria that are
intended to discriminate or that have the effect of discriminating based upon any of these
characteristics.

All Massachusetts charter schools are required to have a student recruitment and retention plan that
includes deliberate, specific strategies the school will use to attract, enroll, and retain a student
population that, when compared to students in similar grades in schools from which the charter school
enrolls students, contains a comparable demographic and academic profile. The plan must include
strategies for recruiting and retaining students including, limited English-proficient, special education,
free lunch, and reduced price lunch students, as well as those who are sub-proficient on the MCAS, at
risk of dropping out of school, have dropped out of school, or other at risk students who should be
targeted to eliminate achievement gaps.

When preparing the enrollment and recruitment section of the application, the application should
address the following criteria:

v The application indicates in a table the projected number of students to be enrolled by grade
each year over the five year term of the charter, as well as up to the year of operation when the
overall maximum enrollment requested will be reached. Explain in detail your rationale for
selecting the particular enrollment size for your school as well as the growth strategy you have
developed. In your projection, indicate clearly the potential for variation in enrollment year-to-
year that reflects an understanding of potential student retention and attrition within your
growth plan. Inclusion of projected maximum and minimum annual levels of student
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enrollment will safeguard against the need for a future minor amendment to your growth plan,
if chartered.

v The application includes a draft of the proposed recruitment and retention plan as an
attachment. The plan should clearly incorporate strategies that will attract, enroll, and retain a
student population that has a comparable academic and demographic profile when compared to
students in similar grades in schools from which the charter school is expected to enroll
students.

v" The application describes the grade levels at which students will be admitted to the school and
the required age for kindergarten admission, if applicable.

v The application contains a complete draft enroliment policy and application for admission as
an attachment. Indicate dates for the application period, including application and lottery
deadlines. Pay close attention to March reporting requirements when setting application
deadlines and lottery dates in draft enroliment policy and application for admission.

v" The application describes how the school will be ready for the required submission of
enrollment data to the Department by mid-March prior to opening.
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1. HOw WILL THE SCHOOL DEMONSTRATE ACADEMIC SUCCESS?

A. OVERVIEW OF PROGRAM DELIVERY

All Massachusetts charter schools are expected to deliver academic programs that provide improved
academic outcomes and educational success for all students. The proposed educational program should
address the diverse needs of the student population and should be founded on an understanding of
effective, research-based educational practices and high standards for student learning. The proposed
school should incorporate a pedagogical approach, curriculum, assessment, culture, and other elements,
based on the applicant group’s educational philosophy, that create a comprehensive educational
program. The overview of program delivery describes how the educational program will be delivered,
and provides evidence that the proposed educational program and its associated educational practices
may result in high academic achievement and the attainment of the knowledge, skills, and experiences
that ensures college and career readiness for the anticipated student population.

When describing the school’s program delivery, the application should address the following criteria:

v The application demonstrates that the proposed educational program will serve the diverse
needs of individual students by providing evidence, including explicit research citations, that
demonstrates their educational program and its associated educational practices may result in
high academic achievement and the attainment of the knowledge, skills, and experiences that
ensures college and career readiness for the anticipated student population. Evidence should
include the specific subgroups of students listed in the recruitment and retention plan consistent
with requirements of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, such as students with disabilities, English language
learners, and students participating in the federal free/reduced lunch nutrition program.

v The application describes the school calendar including the number of days school will be in
session; and the daily hours of operation, including the length of the school day with start and
dismissal times. Please be specific in describing these items and pay attention to the state
requirements on minimum number of school days and instructional hours as described in 603
CMR 27.00, which is available online at http://www.doe.mass.edu/lawsregs/603cmr27.html. If
the school would not meet the minimum number of school days and instructional hours based
on the program proposed, provide justification for a waiver of the requirement. All public
schools may request from the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education a waiver of
student learning time for good cause to support innovative programs or schedules to improve
student learning.

v" The application provides an annual calendar for the first year of operation as an attachment to
your application. Draft calendar should reflect the required inclusion of five days within the
school year for unanticipated school closures pursuant to 603 CMR 27.03.

v The application provides a sample weekly schedule for one grade in each grade level grouping
at which the school intends to serve (e.g., elementary, middle, high school, or early, primary,
upper elementary, etc.). The schedules should clearly describe any variation across the grades
proposed that are related to the educational programming and school design.

v" The application provides a description of the mechanics of the educational program in terms of
the daily or weekly organization of students and faculty (e.g., multi-grade, tracking, team-
teaching, etc.) to explain the sample schedule.

v The application indicates if mandatory or optional programming will be offered to students
during summer months, and the goals of such programming if offered.

v The application describes the extra or co-curricular activities or programming that the school
will offer, how often they will occur, and the goals of such programming if offered.

v In the case of a Horace Mann charter school, the application describes the proposed school’s
ability, if any, to access programs offered by the district, including arts or sports programs.

v" The application illustrates a typical day from the perspective of a student in a grade level of
your choice.
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v’ The application illustrates a typical day from the perspective of a teacher of any subject or
grade of your choice.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann Il (conversion) applicants:
v The application indicates whether the proposed educational program delivery is different from
the existing school’s educational program delivery and how it differs.
v The application describes any proposed changes in expectations for staff related to program
delivery, such as length of school year and day.
v The application describes the process the applicant group and proposed board of trustees will
use to make these changes and support successful implementation.

B. CURRICULUM AND INSTRUCTION

Charter schools have the freedom to choose and/or develop curriculum models that best reflect the
mission and educational philosophy of the school and that best serve the needs of the expected student
population. Regardless of whether the curriculum is purchased or internally developed, it is important
that it aligns with the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks (MCF) since the Massachusetts
Comprehensive Assessment System (MCAS) is based on the learning standards outlined in the MCF.
Additional information about the MCF can be found at http://www.doe.mass.edu/frameworks/. Charter
schools also have the freedom to determine the instructional methods that will be used to deliver the
chosen curriculum model(s).

When describing the school’s curriculum and instruction, the application should address the following
criteria as applicable:

v" If intending to use developed curriculum, the application identifies the
curriculum, explains the process utilized to identify the curriculum that will
be used by the school and provide reasons why the curriculum was chosen
for the school. Identify which individual(s) in the school’s organizational

Use of chart will be responsible for identifying and selecting curriculum.

Commercial v" The application describes the process that is used to ensure alignment of the

Curriculum curriculum to the MCF and identifies the individual(s) who will be
responsible for curriculum alignment to the MCF.

v" If modifications to the curriculum will be required, the application explains
the process utilized to identify areas for revision and to make adjustments.
Indicate the individual(s) that will be responsible for the process.

v" If intending to develop curriculum, the application explains the process that
will be used by the school to develop curriculum. Identify which

New individual(s) on the school’s organizational chart will be responsible for

Curriculum developing curriculum and who will participate in the process.

Required v" The application describes the process that is used to ensure alignment of the

curriculum to the MCF and identifies the individual(s) who will be

responsible for curriculum alignment to the MCF.
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v The application contains the curriculum scope and sequence that will be used by the school,
including the content and skills to be taught in the core content areas at each grade level.” Four
grade levels should be included in the text of the application. All additional grade levels must be
included in the attachments, but will not be counted toward the page limit. For proposed schools
that plan to have fewer than four grade levels, please include all of the intended grades in the
application narrative. The curriculum scope and sequence should be clearly aligned with MCF as
well as aligned across the grades proposed for implementation.

v The application describes the processes for the ongoing development, improvement, and
refinement of the curriculum. The description should include incorporation of the curricular
structures that will be used by the school, e.g. scope and sequence, unit and lesson plans, etc.
Identify which individual(s) on the school’s organizational chart will be responsible for, and
participate in the development, improvement, and refinement of the curriculum.

v The application describes the process and procedures that will be used to evaluate whether the
curriculum is effective and successfully implemented. Identify which individual(s) on the school’s
organizational chart will be responsible for curriculum evaluation.

v The application describes the learning environment(s) that will be used to deliver the proposed
curriculum model, including the use of technology, and class size and structure.

v" The application describes the pedagogy or instructional methods that will be used to deliver the
curriculum model(s).

v The application contains a detailed plan for a responsive general education classroom that would
support the needs of all students. The plan should include how the proposed curriculum and
instructional methods will support high standards of achievement for students with a wide range of
needs, and be accessible and appropriate for all students at all levels, including students with
diverse learning styles; English language learners; students with disabilities; students who enter
below grade level, or students identified as at risk; and advanced students who perform
significantly above grade level. The plan should also describe the strategies the school will
implement to ensure academic success for all students, including students struggling to meet
performance standards.

v The application demonstrates that the proposed curriculum and instruction will serve the diverse
needs of individual students by providing evidence or relevant experience, including explicit
research citations, that demonstrates the proposed curriculum and instruction may result in high
academic achievement and the attainment of the knowledge, skills, and experiences that ensures
college and career readiness for the anticipated student population. Evidence should include the
specific subgroups of students listed in the recruitment and retention plan consistent with
requirements of M.G.L. c. 71, § 89, such as students with disabilities, English language learners,
and students participating in the federal free/reduced lunch nutrition program.

v The application describes the proposed structures for regular, frequent collaboration and
professional development to improve implementation of the curriculum and instructional practice.
Include a description of how the school plans to train and support teachers to address the unique
needs of all students, including students with disabilities and English language learners.

v The application describes how the school will determine the professional development needs of the
staff, including administrators and teachers, on an on-going basis and how these opportunities will
be delivered during and outside of the scheduled school year.

v The application explains the process and frequency of teacher performance evaluations, including
the key elements of the evaluation and who will conduct the evaluations. For more information
about educator evaluation in Massachusetts see: http://www.doe.mass.edu/edeval/.

> Content is what students should know; skills are what students should be able to do; and the core content areas
include English, reading/language arts, mathematics, science, foreign languages, civics and government, economics,
arts, history, and geography.
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Additional criterion for Horace Mann 11 (conversion) applicants:
v The application indicates whether the proposed curriculum and instruction is different from the
existing school’s curriculum and instruction and how it differs.
v The application describes the process the applicant group and proposed board of trustees will use to
make these changes and support successful implementation.

C. STUDENT PERFORMANCE, ASSESSMENT, AND PROGRAM EVALUATION

Charter schools must assure that students will meet the same performance standards and assessment
requirements set by the Board of Elementary and Secondary Education for students in other public schools.
Performance, promotion, and graduation standards should be based on high expectations that are aligned
with the school’s mission, educational program, assessment system, and the MCF. An integrated
assessment system, which includes the MCAS test, serves as a structure for how teachers and
administrators will measure what students know and are able to do as a result of the delivery of curriculum
and instruction.

Information from assessments serves to help determine what areas of instruction need additional time, the
needs of individual students, the quality of instruction, decisions on improvement strategies, and the
school’s overall progress in meeting Accountability Plan goals. Ultimately, the assessment system provides
information to all stakeholders on whether the school is an academic success. The proposed system should
reflect how the school would link curriculum and instruction to assessment by measuring the academic
progress of individual students, cohorts of students over time, and the school as a whole, with the goal of
continual school improvement.

When describing student performance, assessment, and program evaluation, the application should address
the following criteria:

v The application describes the proposed school’s policies and standards for promoting students to
the next grade, achievement level, or grouping level in alignment with the educational program.

v The application describes the graduation requirements or “exit standards” for the school’s grade
groupings as applicable (e.g., elementary, middle, high school, or primary, upper elementary, etc.).
These exit standards should be aligned with the school’s mission and provide a clear sense of
expected student achievement at the end of the last grade of each school level and/or upon
graduation. If the proposed educational program includes a high school, explain how your
graduation requirements will ensure student readiness for college and career opportunities.

v The application describes a thorough, clear, measurable, externally credible, and conceptually
sound design for measuring and reporting the performance and progress of the school as a whole,
student cohorts over time, and the academic and social development of each student to all relevant
stakeholders. Selected assessments are both research based and consistent with the school’s
mission, broad academic and nonacademic student goals, educational program, and high
expectations of students. Descriptions should include, but are not limited to, the following
information:

0 The types of internal/school-developed assessments that will be administered to measure
and report student progress. Explain why these particular assessments were selected for the
targeted student population and how the data will be used to support the goal of improved
student learning and outcomes.

0 Describe the school’s philosophy and plans for student homework.

0 A meaningful and practical approach for measuring and supporting student progress
toward attaining non-academic goals in alignment with the proposed school’s mission and
vision as well as students’ needs.
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o0 Evidence of multiple measures of student performance outcomes that may include reports
of absolute scores, within-year student gains/losses, and year-to-year student gains/losses.

0 A plan to use student data, including MCAS performance, to facilitate decision-making
about necessary adjustments to the educational program and the staff development plan
that will support the goal of improved student learning and outcomes.

o0 Indicate if any additional standardized assessment tools will be used to determine and
report student progress. If so, explain why those tools were selected for the targeted
population and how the data will be used.

o0 Indicate the roles of school leadership and faculty in the collection, analysis, and use of
student data, and the individual responsible for oversight of the system.

0 Indicate the system for reporting the performance and progress of the school, grades,
individual classes, and students, including the frequency of the different forms of
assessment, the types of stakeholders who will receive assessment information, and the
types of metrics reported.

The application describes the processes that will ensure the assessment system is linked to
curriculum and instruction, and is used to facilitate timely adjustments that will support the goal of
improved student learning and outcomes.

The application describes how each of the following stakeholder groups will participate in the
review and response to student achievement data:

0 The school’s board of trustees

0 School administrators

o0 Teachers

0 Students

o Parents

The application briefly describes the process to create an effective accountability plan® during the
first year of operation. The application identifies who will be primarily responsible for defining and
overseeing this process, as well as for collecting and analyzing the data to evaluate the school’s
progress towards accountability plan objectives and measures.

The application contains draft objectives and measures related to mission and key design elements.
Review the Guidelines for Writing Charter School Accountability Plans at
http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/acct.html?section=guidelines for additional information.

Additional criterion for Horace Mann Il (conversion) applicants:

The application indicates whether the proposed standards for student performance, promotion, and
graduation and the proposed assessment system are different from the existing school’s standards
and assessment system and how it differs.

The application describes the process the applicant group and proposed board of trustees will use to
make these changes and support successful implementation.

D. SUPPORTS FOR DIVERSE LEARNERS

All charter schools in Massachusetts are public schools that enroll students through a lottery process.
Therefore, all charter schools must be prepared to enroll students with diverse learning needs including
English language learners and students with disabilities, all of whom must be provided with full and
meaningful access to the general educational curriculum.

® The Guidelines for Writing Charter School Accountability Plans may be found online at
http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/guides/acctplan_guidelines.pdf.

2015-2016 Application for a Massachusetts Charter Public School: New Operators Page 49

PR/Award # U282A160013
Page e227



The general education classroom needs to be responsive to the educational needs of all children, and
accommodates their needs. A full continuum of services must be available within the school so that all
students can receive needed services in an appropriate setting and participate fully in the educational goals
and mission of the school. This section of the application should describe the school’s programs and
services, and how they will be implemented within the context of your proposed school.

For information on special education, please see the Massachusetts Primer on Special Education and
Charter Schools and related documents found at http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/sped/default.ntml. For
information on special education laws and regulations see http://www.doe.mass.edu/sped/laws.html. Please
review the required elements of the special education policies and procedures found at
http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/new/. Special education policies and procedures are submitted to the
Department during opening procedures of the proposed charter school. Consider the required elements
when crafting your response to the application criteria related to the processes and procedures used to
identify, assess, and serve students with disabilities.

For information on the laws and regulations relating to English language learners, see
http://www.doe.mass.edu/lawsregs/603cmrl4.html. For guidance on English language learners, please see
the Department’s website at http://www.doe.mass.edu/ell/guidance_laws.html. Please review the required
elements of the English language education policies and procedures found at
http://www.doe.mass.edu/charter/new/. English language education policies and procedures are submitted
to the Department during opening procedures of the proposed charter school. Consider the required
elements when crafting your response to the application criteria related to the processes and procedures
used to identify, assess, and serve English language learners.
